
Jose R. Oliva 
Speaker 

Ways and Means Committee 

Monday, February 3, 2020 

12:00 p.m. - 2:30 p.m. 

Morris Hall 

MEETING PACKET 

Bryan Avila 
Chair 



The Florida House of Representatives 
Ways and Means Committee 

Jose R. Oliva 
Speaker 

I. Call to Order/Roll Call 

11. Chair's Opening Remarks 

Ill. Consideration of the following bill(s): 

AGENDA 

February 3, 2020 
12:00 p.m. -2:30 p.m. 

Morris Hall 

Bryan Avila 
Chair 

CS/HB 637 Impact Fees by Local, Federal & Veterans Affairs Subcommittee, DiCeglie 
HB 1257 Community Associations by Tomkow 
HB 1303 Brevard and Volusia Counties by Plasencia 
HB 1369 Sports Franchises and Facilities by Pigman 
HB 1463 Dunnellon Airport Authority, Marion County by Stone 

IV. Closing Remarks and Adjournment 

221 Capitol Building, 402 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1300 
(850)717-4812 Fax: (850) 413-0356 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: CS/HB 637 Impact Fees 
SPONSOR(S): Local, Federal & Veterans Affairs Subcommittee, DiCeglie 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 1066 

REFERENCE 

1) Local, Federal & Veterans Affairs Subcommittee 

ACTION 

13 Y, 1 N, As 
cs 

ANALYST 

Moehrle 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Miller 

2) Ways & Means Committee Aldridge ~ Langston 

3) State Affairs Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

Impact fees are amounts imposed by local governments to fund local infrastructure needed to expand local 
services to meet the demands of population growth caused by development. The impact fee ordinances 
enacted by a county, municipality, or special district must meet certain minimum statutory criteria. The 
calculation of the amount due must have a rational nexus both to the need for additional capital facilities and to 
the expenditures of funds collected and the benefits accruing to the new construction. The timing of collecting 
these fees must occur after issuance of the building permit. However, imposing various types of impact fees for 
different infrastructure needs currently is at the discretion of each local government. 

The bill requires counties and municipalities that adopt, collect, or administer an impact fee, and special 
districts that adopt an impact fee, to calculate the fee based on the most recent and localized data collected 
within the last 36 months and exclude any cost that does not meet the definition of "infrastructure." The local 
government must segregate the revenues and expenditures of any impact fee that addresses the entity's 
infrastructure needs in a separate impact fee trust fund. New or increased impact fees may not apply to 
current or pending permit applications submitted before the effective date of an ordinance imposing a new or 
increased impact fee. 

The bill makes impact fee credits assignable and transferable from one development or parcel to another 
within the same impact fee jurisdiction for the same type of public facility to which the fee applies. Local 
government must provide impact fee credits or other forms of compensation where a contribution is greater in 
value than the applicable impact fee. 

The bill requires each county or municipality assessing impact fees to establish an Impact Fee Review 
Committee composed of seven full-time members and three alternate members. The Committee shall: 

• Establish policy and methodology for determining impact fees on new developments; 
• Review proposed impact fees on each new development before the fee becomes final; 
• Submit recommendations to the county or city commission; 
• The recommendations must be presented at the meeting at which the impact fee on the new 

development will be discussed and voted; 
• Review all proposed expenditures of the impact fee after adoption by the local government to ensure 

that the fee is used for capital projects within the jurisdiction. 

The bill is not expected to have a fiscal impact on state and may have a fiscal impact on local governments. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2020. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0637b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Present Situation 

Impact Fees 

Impact fees are amounts imposed by local governments 1 to fund local infrastructure required to provide 
for increased local service needs caused by new growth.2 Impact fees must meet the following 
minimum criteria when adopted: 

• The fee must be calculated using the most recent and localized data. 
• The local government adopting the impact fee must account for and report fee collections and 

expenditures. If the fee is imposed for a specific infrastructure need, the local government 
must account for those revenues and expenditures in a separate accounting fund. 

• Charges imposed for the collection of impact fees must be limited to the actual costs. 
• All local governments must give notice of a new or increased impact fee at least 90 days 

before the new or increased fee takes effect. Counties and municipalities need not wait 90 
days before decreasing, suspending, or eliminating an impact fee. 3 

• The local government may not require payment of the impact fee before the date of issuance 
of the building permit for the property that is subject to the fee. 4 

• The impact fee must be reasonably connected to, or have a rational nexus with the 
expenditures of the revenues generated and the benefits accruing to the new residential or 
commercial construction.5 

• The impact fee must be reasonably connected to, or have a rational nexus with, the 
expenditures of the revenues generated and the benefits accruing to the new residential or 
commercial construction.6 

• The local government must specifically earmark revenues generated by the impact fee to 
acquire, construct, or improve capital facilities to benefit new users.7 

• The local government may not use revenues generated by the impact fee to pay existing debt 
or for the previously approved projects unless the expenditure is reasonably connected to, or 
has a rational nexus with the increased impact generated by the new residential or 
commercial construction.8 

The types of impact fees and timing of collection after issuance of the building permit are within the 
discretion of the local government authorities choosing to impose the fees. 9 The Courts have found the 
imposition of impact fees appropriate where the local government meets two fundamental requirements 

1 See, e.g., Crocker v. Di/and Corp., 593 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Pro-Art Dental Lab, Inc. v. V-Strategic Group, LLC, 986 
So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 2008) (approving Crocker, 593 So. 2d 1096, and addressing the interplay between the Florida Rules of Civil 
Procedure ands. 51.011, F.S.). 
2 S. 163.31801, the impact fee statute, uses "local government" inclusively to refer to counties, municipalities, and special districts. 
The statute distinguishes school districts from other local governments. Sees. 163.31801 (4), F.S. 
3 S. 163.31801(3), F.S. 
4 S. 163.31801(3)(e), F.S. 
5 S. 163.31801(3)(f), F.S. 
6 S. 163.31801(3)(g), F.S. 
7 S. 163.31801(3)(h), F.S. 
8 S. 163.31801(3)(i), F.S. 
9 Currently, in Florida there are 67 counties, 413 municipalities, 1,116 independent special districts, and 633 dependent special 
districts. See ch. 7, F.S.; The Local Government Formation Manual 2018-2020, Appx. B, 
https://www.myfloridahouse.gov/Sections/Documents/loaddoc.aspx?PublicationType=Committees&Committeeid=3025&Session=20 
20&DocumentType=General Publications&FileName=2018-2020 Local Government Formation Manual.pdf (last visited Dec. 9, 
2019); Florida Department of Economic Opportunity, Special District Accountability Program- Official List of Special Districts 
Online, specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/webreports/StateTotals.aspx (last visited Dec. 16, 2019) .. 
STORAGE NAME: h0637b.WMC PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/31/2020 



known as the dual rational nexus test, which requires impact fees to have a reasonable connection, or 
nexus, between the: 

• Need for additional capital facilities and the population growth generated by the project, and 
• Expenditures of the funds collected from the impact fees and the benefits accruing to the 

subdivision or project.10 Meeting this criterion requires the local government ordinance or 
resolution imposing the impact fee to earmark the funds collected to acquire the new capital 
facilities necessary to benefit the new residents. 

In 2019, the Legislature codified the dual rational nexus test. 11 The amount of the impact fee must have 
a rational nexus both to the need for additional capital facilities and to the expenditures of funds 
collected and the benefits accruing to the new construction. 12 

Some local governments impose impact fees specifically for local school facilities. 13 School districts 
have authority to impose ad valorem taxes within the district for school purposes14 but are not general 
purpose governments with home rule power15 and are not expressly authorized to impose impact 
fees. 16 Local governments imposing specific impact fees for education capital improvements typically 
collect the fees for deposit directly into an account segregated for funding those improvements.17 The 
ordinances creating the impact fee also require the funds be used only for education capital 
improvement projects.18 The credit imposed for impact fees imposed for public educational facilities 
must be based on the total impact fee assessed and not limited to the impact fee imposed for a 
particular type of school.19 

Local governments may not require payment of impact fees prior to the issuance of a development or 
building permit.20 In general, a building permit must be obtained before the construction, erection, 
modification, repair, or demolition of any building.21 A development permit pertains to any building 
permit, zoning permit, subdivision approval, rezoning, certification, special exception, variance, or any 
other official action of local government having the effect of permitting the development of land.22 

A local government applying the concurrency requirement to transportation facilities must comply with 
the statutory requirements in order to achieve and maintain the level of service standard adopted in the 
comprehensive plan.23 A local government that later repeals transportation concurrency is encouraged 
to apply statutory criteria to an alternative mobility funding system. A mobility fee-based funding system 
adopted by a local government must comply with the dual rational nexus test applicable to impact 
fees. 24 

10 St. Johns County v. Northeast Florida Builders Association, Inc., 583 So. 2d 635,637 (Fla. 1991) (citing Hollywood, Inc. v. 
Broward County, 431 So. 2d 606, 611-612 (Fla. 4th DCA (1983), rev. den. 440 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 1983)). 
11 See Ch. 2019-106, Laws ofFla, codified as ss. 163.3180l(f)-(g), F.S. 
i2 Id. 
13 See, e.g., Miami-Dade County Code of Ordinances ch. 33k, "Educational Facilities Impact Fee Ordinance," Orange County Code of 
Ordinances ch. 23, art. V, "School Impact Fees." 
14 Art. VII, s. 9(a), art. IX, s. 4(b), Fla. Const.; s. 1011.71, F.S. See also St. Johns County, supra at 583 So. 2d 642. 
15 See art. VIII, ss. I(f)-(g), (2), Fla. Const. 
16 S.163.31801(2), F.S. 
17 In Miami-Dade County, the education facility impact fee is paid to the County Planning & Zoning Director, who must then deposit 
that amount into a specific trust fund maintained by the county. Miami-Dade County Code of Ordinances, ss. 33K-7(a), 33K-l 0(1 ). In 
Orange County, the school impact fee is paid to the county or municipality (if the land being developed is within a municipality), 
which then transfers the funds collected at least quarterly to the Orange County School District. The District is responsible for 
maintaining the trust into which the impact fee revenues must be deposited. Orange County Code of Ordinances, ss. 23-142. 
18 See Miami-Dade County Code of Ordinances, s. 33K-l l(a); Orange County Code of Ordinances, s. 23-143(b). 
19 S. l 63.3180(6)(h)2.b., F.S. 
20 S. 163.31801(3)(e), F.S. 
21 S. 553.79, F.S. 
22 S. 163.3164(16), F.S. 
23 S. 163.3180(5), F.S. 
24 S. ! 63.3 I 80(5)(i), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0637b.WMC PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/31/2020 



Local governments may also apply concurrency to public education facilities.25 With certain exceptions, 
when establishing such concurrency requirements the local government must enter into an interlocal 
agreement with the school district.26 The interlocal agreement may authorize a contribution of land, 
construction, expansion, or payment for land acquisition, construction or expansion of a public school, 
or construction of a charter school, as proportionate-share mitigation. If so, the local government must 
credit such contribution towards any other impact fee or exaction on a dollar-for-dollar basis at fair 
market value.27 The credit for impact fees imposed for public educational facilities must be based on the 
total impact fee assessed and not limited to the impact fee imposed for a particular type of school.28 

Effect of the Bill 

Impact Fee Formula 

The bill requires counties and municipalities that adopt, collect, or administer an impact fee, and special 
districts that adopt and impact fee, to require the calculation of the impact fee be based on the most 
recent and localized data collected within the last 36 months and exclude any cost that does not meet 
the definition of "infrastructure." The term "infrastructure" as defined in the bill means any fixed capital 
expenditure or fixed capital outlay associated with the construction, reconstruction, or improvement of 
public facilities that have a life expectancy of 5 or more years; any related land acquisition, land 
improvement, design, engineering, and permitting costs; and all other professional and related costs 
required to bring the public facilities into service.29 The term "public facilities" has the same definition as 
provided in Florida Statutes.30 The cost per student station established in school impact fee calculations 
may not exceed the statutory total maximum cost per student established in statute.31 The entity must 
segregate the revenues and expenditures of any impact fee that addresses the local governmental 
entity's infrastructure needs in a separate impact fee trust fund. 

Collection of Impact Fees 

New or increased impact fees may not apply to current or pending permit applications submitted before 
the effective date of an ordinance or resolution imposing a new or increased impact fee. 

Financial Statement Audits 

Audits of financial statements required by statute32 and filed with the Auditor General must include an 
affidavit signed by the chief financial officer of the local government or school board stating that the 
reporting entity complied with the requirements of the impact fee statute. The bill requires this affidavit 
also to confirm the reporting entity complied with the spending period provision in the local ordinance. 

25 S. 163.3 I 80(6)(a), F.S. 
26 Ss. 163.31777(1) and 163.3180(6)(i), F.S. 
27 S. 163.3180(6)(h)2.b., F.S. 
28 S. I63.3I80(6)(h)2.b., F.S. 
29 The term "infrastructure" as defined in the bill appears to have the same definition as provided ins. 212.055(2)(d)(l), F.S. 
30 The term "public facilities" means facilities defined ins. 163.3164(39), F.S. (major capital improvements, including transportation, 
sanitary, sewer, solid waste, drainage, potable water, education, parks and recreational facilities), s. 163.3221(13), F.S. (major capital 
improvements, including, but not limited to, transportation, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, potable water, educational, parks 
and recreational, and health systems and facilities), ors. 189.012(5), F.S. (major capital improvements, including, but not limited to, 
transportation facilities, sanitary sewer facilities, solid waste facilities, water management and control facilities, potable water 
facilities, alternative water systems, educational facilities, parks and recreational facilities, health systems and facilities, and except for 
spoil disposal by those ports listed ins. 311.09(1 ), spoil disposal sites for maintenance dredging in waters of the state). 
31 Currently, the total maximum costs per student are: elementary schools: $17,952; middle schools: $19,386, high schools: $25,181. 
Sees. 1013.64(6), F.S. 

STORAGE NAME: h0637b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

PAGE: 4 



Impact Fee Credits 

The bill provides that impact fee credits are assignable and transferable at any time after establishment 
from one development or parcel to another within the same impact fee jurisdiction for the same type of 
public facility for which the impact fee is applicable. The bill requires local governments to provide 
impact fee credits or other forms of compensation where a contribution is greater in value than the 
applicable impact fee. Contributions relating to the transportation system shall be creditable against the 
combined total of all impact fees and exactions charged for mobility. 

Impact Fee Review Committee 

The bill requires each county or municipality assessing impact fees to establish an impact fee review 
committee. The committee is composed of the following members appointed by the county or city 
commission: 

• Two members employed by the local government; 
• Two members representing the business community; 
• Two members who are local residential contractors; 
• One at-large member. 

The county or city commission shall appoint three alternate members, consisting of one representative 
from each of the categories described above, who shall serve in the absence of their respective 
member. 

Committee members must adhere to the following requirements: 

• Be a qualified elector of the county for at least two years before their appointment; 
• Serve at the pleasure of the local government and shall serve until replaced; 
• The Committee meeting must be duly noticed; 
• A quorum must be present (alternate members count toward the quorum when a regular member 

is absent); 
• A member who fails to attend three consecutive meetings, or fails to attend two-thirds of the 

meetings within a calendar year, automatically forfeits the appointment and the county or city 
commissioners shall promptly fill the vacancy; and 

• Committee members serve without compensation. 

The Committee shall meet as needed to: 

• Establish policy and methodology for determining impact fees on new developments; 
• Review the proposed impact fee on each new development before the fee becomes final; 
• Submit their recommendations to the county commission or city commission, as applicable; 
• The recommendations must be presented at the meeting when the impact fee on the new 

development will be discussed and voted upon; and 
• After each impact fee is adopted by the local government, review all proposed expenditures of 

that impact fee to ensure the fee is used for capital projects within the jurisdiction. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 163.31801, F.S., revising conditions that must be satisfied before enacting impact 
fees, providing timeframes for the collection of impact fees, amending the requirements for reporting 
impact fees, amending the conditions under which impact fees are assignable and transferable, 
providing definitions, and requiring certain counties and municipalities to establish impact fee review 
committees. 

Section 2: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2020. 

STORAGE NAME: h0637b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

PAGE: 5 



II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

The Revenue Estimating Conference has not estimated the potential impacts of the bill on local 
government revenues. 

2. Expenditures: 

The bill may have an impact on local government expenditures for staffing the Impact Fee Review 
Committee. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

None. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to spend funds or take 
action requiring the expenditures of funds; reduce the authority that counties or municipalities have 
to raise revenues in the aggregate; or reduce the percentage of state tax shared with counties or 
municipalities. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The bill neither requires nor authorizes administrative rulemaking by executive agencies. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

On January 15, 2020, the Local, Federal & Veterans Affairs Subcommittee adopted an amendment and 
reported the bill favorably as a committee substitute. The committee substitute: 

STORAGE NAME: h0637b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

PAGE: 6 



• Revises the impact fee calculation to be based on localized data calculated within the last 36 
months; 

• Removes language relating to Capital Asset under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP); 

• Removes the requirement that local governments prepare and post an annual financial report for 
each impact fee trust fund; 

• Provides a definition of "infrastructure" for the purposes of impact fees; 
• Requires local governments to provide impact fee credits or other forms of compensation where a 

contribution is greater in value than the applicable impact fee; 
• Requires contributions relating to the transportation system be creditable against the combined total 

of all impact fees and exactions charged for mobility; 
• Removes the requirement that the impact fee review committee hire an impact fee consultant; and 
• Requires the committee rather than the impact fee consultant submit recommendations to the 

governing body of the local government. 

This analysis is drafted to the committee substitute as approved by the Local, Federal & Veterans Affairs 
Subcommittee. 

STORAGE NAME: h0637b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

PAGE: 7 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

CS/HB 637 

A bill to be entitled 

An act relating to impact fees; amending s. 163.31801, 

F.S.; revising the conditions that counties, 

municipalities, and special districts must satisfy 

before enacting an impact fee by ordinance or passing 

an impact fee by resolution; providing timeframes for 

the collection of impact fees by local governments; 

providing definitions; providing that impact fee 

credits are assignable and transferrable under certain 

conditions; requiring certain counties and 

municipalities to establish impact fee review 

committees; providing for membership; providing 

procedures for meetings and establishing quorums; 

providing committee duties; providing an effective 

date. 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

2020 

Section 1. Section 163.31801, Florida Statutes, is amended 

to read: 

163.31801 Impact fees; short title; intent; minimum 

requirements; audits; challenges.-

(1) This section may be cited as the "Florida Impact Fee 

Act." 

(2) The Legislature finds that impact fees are an 

Page 1 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

41 

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

CS/HB 637 2020 

important source of revenue for a local government to use in 

funding the infrastructure necessitated by new growth. The 

Legislature further finds that impact fees are an outgrowth of 

the home rule power of a local government to provide certain 

services within its jurisdiction. Due to the growth of impact 

fee collections and local governments' reliance on impact fees, 

it is the intent of the Legislature to ensure that, when a 

county or municipality adopts, collects, or administers an 

impact fee by ordinance or a special district adopts an impact 

fee by resolution, the governing authority complies with this 

section to ensure a consistent statewide process. 

(3) At a minimum, each county and municipality that 

adopts, collects, or administers an impact fee by ordinance and 

each special district that adopts an impact fee by resolution ftft 

impaet fee adopted by ordinance of a eounty or municipality or 

by resolution of a speeial district must satisfy all of the 

following eonditions: 

(a) Require that the calculation of the impact fee ffiU-3-t. be 

based on the most recent and localized data collected within the 

last 36 months, and exclude any cost that does not meet the 

definition of infrastructure as defined in this chapter. 

(b) Account for the revenues and expenditures of such 

impact fee in a separate impact fee trust fund, if the local 

governmental entity imposes an impact fee to address its 

infrastructure needs. The local government must provide for 

Page 2 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

65 

66 

67 

68 

69 

70 

71 

72 

73 

74 

75 

CS/HB 637 2020 

accounting and reporting of impact fee collections and 

ellpenditures. If a local governffiental entity imposes an impact 

fee to address its infrastructure needs, the entity must account 

for the revenues and eJlpenditures of such impact fee in a 

separate accounting fund. 

(c) Limit administrative charges for the collection of 

impact fees must be limited to actual costs. The cost per 

student station established in school impact fee calculations 

may not exceed that statutory total maximum cost per student 

station calculated under s. 1013.64(6). 

(d) The local government must Provide notice not less than 

90 days before the effective date of an ordinance or resolution 

imposing a new or increased impact fee. New or increased impact 

fees may not apply to current or pending permit applications 

submitted before the effective date of an ordinance or 

resolution imposing a new or increased impact fee. A county or 

municipality is not required to wait 90 days to decrease, 

suspend, or eliminate an impact fee. 

(e) Collection of the impact fee may not be required to 

occur earlier than the date of issuance of the building permit 

for the property that is subject to the fee. 

J..§1_-f-f+ Ensure that the impact fee is must be proportional 

and reasonably connected to, or have a rational nexus with, the 

need for additional capital facilities and the increased impact 

generated by the new residential or commercial construction. 

Page 3 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

76 

77 

78 

79 

80 

81 

82 

83 

84 

85 

86 

87 

88 

89 

90 

91 

92 

93 

94 

95 

96 

97 

98 

99 

100 

CS/HB 637 2020 

J.!l~ Ensure that the impact fee is must be proportional 

and reasonably connected to, or have a rational nexus with, the 

expenditures of the funds collected and the benefits accruing to 

the new residential or nonresidential construction. 

J..9:1-B=r+- The local government must Specifically earmark 

funds collected under the impact fee for use in acquiring, 

constructing, or improving capital facilities to benefit new 

users. 

For the purposes of impact fees, the term "infrastructure" 

means: any fixed capital expenditure or fixed capital outlay 

associated with the construction, reconstruction, or improvement 

of public facilities that have a life expectancy of 5 or more 

years; any related land acquisition, land improvement, design, 

engineering, and permitting costs; and all other professional 

and related costs required to bring the public facilities into 

service. For purposes of this subsection, the term "public 

facilities'' means facilities as defined ins. 163.3164(39), s. 

163.3221(13), ors. 189.012(5). 

(4) The local government may not require the collection of 

the impact fee to occur earlier than the date the building 

permit for the property that is subject to the fee is iss~ed. 

l2l_+i+ Revenues generated by the impact fee may not be 

used, in whole or in part, to pay existing debt or for 

previously approved projects unless the expenditure is 

Page 4 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

101 

102 

103 

104 

105 

106 

107 

108 

109 

110 

111 

112 

113 

114 

115 

116 

117 

118 

119 

120 

121 

122 

123 

124 

125 

CS/HB 637 

reasonably connected to, or has a rational nexus with, the 

increased impact generated by the new residential or 

nonresidential construction. 

2020 

J..§1+4+ The local government must credit against the 

collection of the impact fee any contribution, whether 

identified in a proportionate share agreement or other form of 

exaction, related to public education facilities, including land 

dedication, site planning and design, or construction. Any 

contribution must be applied to reduce any education-based 

impact fees on a dollar-for-dollar basis at fair market value. 

J..22..+&+- If a local government increases its impact fee 

rates, the holder of any impact fee credits, whether such 

credits are granted under s. 163.3180, s. 380.06, or otherwise, 

which were in existence before the increase, is entitled to the 

full benefit of the intensity or density prepaid by the credit 

balance as of the date it was first established. This subsection 

shall operate prospectively and not retrospectively. 

JJU_-f-6+ Audits of financial statements of local 

governmental entities and district school boards which are 

performed by a certified public accountant pursuant to s. 218.39 

and submitted to the Auditor General must include an affidavit 

signed by the chief financial officer of the local governmental 

entity or district school board stating that the local 

governmental entity or district school board has complied with 

this section and the spending period provision in the local 

Page 5 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

126 

127 

128 

129 

130 

131 

132 

133 

134 

135 

136 

137 

138 

139 

140 

141 

142 

143 

144 

145 

146 

147 

148 

149 

150 

CS/HB 637 2020 

ordinance. 

J.21+++ In any action challenging an impact fee or the 

government's failure to provide required dollar-for-dollar 

credits for the payment of impact fees or for contributions made 

as provided in this chapters. 163.3180(6) (h)2.b., the 

government has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the imposition or amount of the fee or credit 

meets the requirements of state legal precedent and this 

section. The court may not use a deferential standard for the 

benefit of the government. 

(10) Impact fee credits are assignable and transferable at 

any time after establishment from one development or parcel to 

another within the same impact fee jurisdiction for the same 

type of public facility for which the impact fee is applicable. 

(11)+&+- A county, municipality, or special district may 

provide an exception or waiver for an impact fee for the 

development or construction of housing that is affordable, as 

defined ins. 420.9071. If a county, municipality, or special 

district provides such an exception or waiver, it is not 

required to use any revenues to offset the impact. To ensure 

impact fees or equivalent contributions are only collected once, 

a local government shall provide impact fee credits or other 

forms of compensation where a contribution is greater in value 

than the applicable impact fee. Contributions relating to the 

transportation system shall be creditable against the combined 

Page 6 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

151 

152 

153 

154 

155 

156 

157 

158 

159 

160 

161 

162 

163 

164 

165 

166 

167 

168 

169 

170 

171 

172 

173 

174 

175 

CS/HB 637 2020 

total of all impact fees and exactions charged for mobility. 

This subsection shall be complied with at the time any 

contribution is accepted, regardless of when those contributions 

were agreed upon or committed to. 

( 12) (a) Each county and municipality that assesses impact 

fees must establish an impact fee review committee. 

(b)l. The committee shall be composed of the following 

members appointed by the county commission or the governing body 

of the municipality, as applicable: 

a. Two members who are employed by the county or 

municipality. 

b. Two members who represent the business community. 

c. Two members who are local residential contractors. 

d. One at-large member. 

2. The county commission or the governing body of the 

municipality, as applicable, shall appoint three alternate 

members, consisting of one representative from each of the 

categories described in sub-subparagraphs 1.a., b., and c., who 

shall serve in the absence of their respective member. 

3. Members and alternate members must be qualified 

electors of the county or municipality, as applicable, for at 

least 2 years b~fore their appointment. 

4. Committee members shall serve at the pleasure of the 

local government and shall serve until they are replaced. 

(c)l. Each committee meeting must be duly noticed. 

Page 7 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

176 

177 

178 

179 

180 

181 

182 

183 

184 

185 

186 

187 

188 

189 

190 

191 

192 

193 

194 

195 

196 

197 

198 

199 

200 

CS/HB 637 2020 

2. A meeting may not be held unless a quorum is present. A 

quorum consists of a majority of members of the committee, but 

an alternate member shall count toward the quorum when a regular 

member is absent. 

3. A member who fails to attend three consecutive meetings 

or fails to attend two-thirds of the meetings within a calendar 

year automatically forfeits the appointment, and the county 

commissioners or members of the governing body of the 

municipality, as applicable, shall promptly fill the vacancy. 

4. Members of the committee shall serve without 

compensation. 

(d) The committee shall meet as needed to: 

1. Establish a policy and methodology for determining 

impact fees on new developments. 

2. Review the proposed impact fee on each new development 

before the fee becomes final. 

3. Submit recommendations made by the impact fee committee 

to the county commission or governing body of the municipality, 

as applicable. The recommendations must be presented at the 

meeting when the impact fee on the new development will be 

discussed and voted upon. 

4. After each impact fee is adopted by the local 

government, review all proposed expenditures of that impact fee 

to ensure the fee is used for capital projects within the 

jurisdiction. 

Page 8 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

CS/HB 637 2020 

201 J..lll+fH- This section does not apply to water and sewer 

202 connection fees. 

203 Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2020. 

Page 9 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0637-01-c1 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Amendment No. 1 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS/HB 637 (2020) 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE ACTION 

ADOPTED (Y/N) 

ADOPTED AS AMENDED 

ADOPTED W/0 OBJECTION 

FAILED TO ADOPT 

WITHDRAWN 

OTHER 

(Y/N) 

(Y/N) 

(Y/N) 

(Y/N) 

Committee/Subcommittee hearing bill: Ways & Means Committee 

Representative DiCeglie offered the following: 

Amendment 

Remove lines 34-175 and insert: 

impact fee by ordinance or a special district adopts, collects, 

or administers an impact fee by resolution, the governing 

authority complies with this section to ensure a consistent 

statewide process. 

(3) For purposes of this section: 

(a) The term "infrastructure" means any fixed capital 

expenditure or fixed capital outlay associated with the 

construction, reconstruction, or improvement of public 

facilities, excluding costs of repair or maintenance, that have 

a life expectancy of 5 or more years; any related land 

acquisition, land improvement, design, engineering, and 

169477 - CS-HB 637 Diceglie Al.docx 

Published On: 1/31/2020 5:42:58 PM 

Page 1 of 7 



17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

41 

Amendment No. 1 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS/HB 637 (2020) 

permitting costs; and all other related construction costs 

required to bring the public facilities into service. 

(b) The term "public facilities" means facilities as 

defined ins. 163.3164(39), and includes fire and law 

enforcement facilities. 

J..il -f-3+ At a minimum, each county and municipality that 

adopts, collects, or administers an impact fee by ordinance and 

each special district that adopts, collects, or administers an 

impact fee by resolution an impact fee adopted by ordinance of a 

county or municipality or by resolution of a special district 

must satisfy all of the following conditions: 

(a) Require that the calculation of the impact fee mu-o-t- be 

based on the most recent and localized data collected within the 

last 36 months, and exclude any cost that does not meet the 

definition of infrastructure. 

(b) Account for the revenues and expenditures of such 

impact fee in a separate impact fee account, if the local 

governmental entity imposes an impact fee to address its 

infrastructure needs. The local government must provide for 

accounting and reporting of impact fee collections and 

expenditures. If a local governmental entity imposes an impact 

fee to address its infrastructure needs, the entity must account 

for the revenues and expenditures of ouch impact fee in a 

separate accounting fund. 

(c) Limit administrative charges for the collection of 

169477 - CS-HB 637 Diceglie Al.docx 

Published On: 1/31/2020 5:42:58 PM 

Page 2 of 7 



42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

65 

66 

Amendment No. 1 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS/HB 637 (2020) 

impact fees muot be limited to actual costs. The cost per 

student station established in school impact fee calculations 

may not exceed that statutory total maximum cost per student 

station calculated under s. 1013.64(6). 

(d) The local government muot Provide notice not less than 

90 days before the effective date of an ordinance or resolution 

imposing a new or increased impact fee. New or increased impact 

fees may not apply to current or pending permit applications 

submitted before the effective date of an ordinance or 

resolution imposing a new or increased impact fee. A county or 

municipality is not required to wait 90 days to decrease, 

suspend, or eliminate an impact fee. 

(e) Collection of the impact fee may not be required to 

occur earlier than the date of ioouance of the building permit 

for the property that is subject to the fee. 

~+f-t Ensure that the impact fee is muot be proportional 

and reasonably connected to, or has fta-¥e a rational nexus with, 

the need for additional capital facilities infrastructure and 

the increased impact generated by the new residential or 

commercial construction. 

J..il+J+ Ensure that the impact fee is must be proportional 

and reasonably connected to, or has fta-¥e a rational nexus with, 

the expenditures of the funds collected and the benefits 

accruing to the new residential or nonresidential construction. 

J_gJ_-Btt The local government must Specifically earmark 

169477 - CS-HB 637 Diceglie Al.docx 

Published On: 1/31/2020 5:42:58 PM 

Page 3 of 7 



67 

68 

69 

70 

71 

72 

73 

74 

75 

76 

77 

78 

79 

80 

81 

82 

83 

84 

85 

86 

87 

88 

89 

90 

91 

Amendment No. 1 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS/HB 637 (2020) 

funds collected under the impact fee for use in acquiring, 

constructing, or improving capital facilities infrastructure to 

benefit new users. 

(5) Collection of the impact fee may not be required to 

occur earlier than the date of issuance of the building permit 

for the property that is subject to the fee. 

J_§_l_-f-i-t Revenues generated by the impact fee may not be 

used, in whole or in part, to pay existing debt or for 

previously approved projects unless the expenditure is 

reasonably connected to, or has a rational nexus with, the 

increased impact generated by the new residential or 

nonresidential construction. 

J2l-t4+ The local government must credit against the 

collection of the impact fee any contribution, whether 

identified in a proportionate share agreement or other form of 

exaction, related to public education facilities, including land 

dedication, site planning and design, or construction. Any 

contribution must be applied to reduce any education-based 

impact fees on a dollar-for-dollar basis at fair market value. 

__@J_+§+ If a local government increases its impact fee 

rates, the holder of any impact fee credits, whether such 

credits are granted under s. 163.3180, s. 380.06, or otherwise, 

which were in existence before the increase, is entitled to the 

full benefit of the intensity or density prepaid by the credit 

balance as of the date it was first established. This subsection 

169477 - CS-HB 637 Diceglie Al.docx 

Published On: 1/31/2020 5:42:58 PM 

Page 4 of 7 



92 

93 

94 

95 

96 

97 

98 

99 

100 

101 

102 

103 

104 

105 

106 

107 

108 

109 

110 

111 

112 

113 

114 

115 

116 

Amendment No. 1 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS/HB 637 (2020) 

shall operate prospectively and not retrospectively. 

J.21+6+ Audits of financial statements of local 

governmental entities and district school boards which are 

performed by a certified public accountant pursuant to s. 218.39 

and submitted to the Auditor General must include an affidavit 

signed by the chief financial officer of the local governmental 

entity or district school board stating that the local 

governmental entity or district school board has complied with 

this section and the spending period provision in the local 

ordinance or resolution. 

J.1..Ql-f-+-t- In any action challenging an impact fee or the 

government's failure to provide required dollar-for-dollar 

credits for the payment of impact fees or for contributions made 

as provided in this chapters. 163.3180(6) (h)2.b., the 

government has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the imposition or amount of the fee or credit 

meets the requirements of state legal precedent and this 

section. The court may not use a deferential standard for the 

benefit of the government. 

( 11) Impact fee credits are assignable and transferable at 

any time after establishment from one development or parcel to 

any other within the same impact fee jurisdiction for the same 

type of public facility for which the impact fee is applicable. 

J.111+8+ A county, municipality, or special district may 

provide an exception or waiver for an impact fee for the 

169477 - CS-HB 637 Diceglie Al.docx 

Published On: 1/31/2020 5:42:58 PM 

Page 5 of 7 



117 

118 

119 

120 

121 

122 

123 

124 

125 

12 6 

127 

128 

12 9 

130 

131 

132 

133 

134 

135 

136 

137 

138 

139 

140 

141 

Amendment No. 1 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS/HB 637 (2020) 

development or construction of housing that is affordable, as 

defined ins. 420.9071. If a county, municipality, or special 

district provides such an exception or waiver, it is not 

required to use any revenues to offset the impact. To ensure 

impact fees or equivalent contributions are only collected once, 

a local government shall provide impact fee credits or other 

forms of compensation where a contribution is greater in value 

than the applicable impact fee. Contributions relating to the 

transportation system shall be creditable against the combined 

total of all impact fees and exactions charged for mobility. 

This subsection shall be complied with at the time any 

contribution is accepted, regardless of when those contributions 

were agreed upon or committed to. 

( 13) (a) Each county and municipality that assesses impact 

fees must establish an impact fee review committee. 

(b)l. The committee shall be composed of the following 

members appointed by the county commission or the governing body 

of the municipality, as applicable: 

a. Two members who are employed by the county or 

municipality. 

b. Two members who represent the business community. 

c. Two members who are local licensed general or 

residential contractors. 

d. One at-large member. 

2. The county commission or the governing body of the 

169477 - CS-HB 637 Diceglie Al.docx 

Published On: 1/31/2020 5:42:58 PM 

Page 6 of 7 



142 

143 

144 

145 

146 

147 

148 

149 

150 

151 

152 

Amendment No. 1 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS/HB 637 (2020) 

municipality, as applicable, shall appoint three alternate 

members, consisting of one representative from each of the 

categories described in sub-subparagraphs 1.a., b., and c., who 

shall serve in the absence of their respective member. 

3. Members and alternate members must be qualified 

electors of the county or municipality, as applicable, for at 

least 2 years before their appointment. 

4. Committee members shall serve at the pleasure of the 

local government and shall serve until they are replaced. 

(c)l. Each committee meeting must be duly noticed and open 

to the public as required bys. 286.011. 

169477 - CS-HB 637 Diceglie Al.docx 

Published On: 1/31/2020 5:42:58 PM 

Page 7 of 7 



:c 
0:, 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL #: HB 1257 Community Associations 
SPONSOR(S): Tomkow 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Business & Professions Subcommittee 11 Y, 0 N Wright 

2) Ways & Means Committee Curry ·~u 
3) Judiciary Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY 
CHIEF 

Anstead 

Langston 

A condominium is a form of ownership of real property comprised of units which may be owned by one or more 
persons along with an undivided right of access to common elements. A cooperative is real property owned by 
the cooperative association, and individual units are leased to the residents, who own shares in the 
cooperative association. The Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes, within the 
Department of Business and Professional Regulation (DBPR), investigates complaints related to financial 
issues, elections, and unit owner access to official records for condominium and cooperative associations. 

A homeowners' association (HOA) is an association of residential property owners in which voting membership 
is made up of parcel owners, membership is a mandatory condition of parcel ownership, and is authorized to 
impose assessments. 

Related to condominium and cooperative association legal challenges to tax assessments before the value 
adjustment board, the bill amends current law to clarify that where an association has filed a single joint 
petition to challenge a tax assessment, an association may continue to represent and defend the unit owners 
through any related subsequent proceeding in any tribunal on appeal. The association must provide unit 
owners with notice of its intent to respond to a complaint, and advise the unit owners that they may opt out. 

Related to condominium association records, the bill provides that: 
• associations must maintain official records in a manner determined by DBPR, and 
• when a unit owner or renter requests to inspect the official records, the association must provide the 

owner or renter with a checklist of all the records that are and are not being made available for 
inspection. 

Related to DBPR regulations, the bill: 
• defines "financial issues," and allows DBPR to further define the term; and 
• allows DBPR to adopt rules to establish requirements for training programs provided by DBPR. 

Related to HOA swimming pools, the bill provides that pools for HOAs that have 32 parcels or less and are not 
being operated as public lodging establishments are exempt from Department of Health requirements for 
public pools, except for maintaining water quality standards. 

The Revenue Estimating Conference estimates that the bill will reduce local government revenues by $5.5 
million in FY 2020-21, but by-$1.7 million on a recurring or annualized basis. 

The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2020. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Community Associations 

The Florida Division of Condominiums, Timeshares and Mobile Homes (Division), within the 
Department of Business and Professional Regulation (DBPR), provides consumer protection for Florida 
residents living in regulated communities through education, complaint resolution, mediation and 
arbitration, and developer disclosure. The Division has regulatory authority over the following business 
entities and individuals: 

• Condominium Associations; 
• Cooperative Associations; 
• Florida Mobile Home Parks and related associations; 
• Vacation Units and Timeshares; 
• Yacht and Ship Brokers and related business entities; and 
• Homeowners' Associations (limited to arbitration of election and recall disputes). 

Condominiums 

A condominium is a form of ownership of real property created pursuant to ch. 718, F.S., also referred 
to as the Condominium Act, 1 comprised of units which may be owned by one or more persons along 
with an undivided right of access to common elements.2 A condominium is created by recording a 
declaration of condominium in the public records of the county where the condominium is located.3 A 
declaration governs the relationships among condominium unit owners and the condominium 
association. All unit owners are members of the condominium association, an entity responsible for the 
operation and maintenance of the common elements owned by the unit owners. The condominium 
association is overseen by an elected board of directors, commonly referred to as a "board of 
administration." The board enacts bylaws which govern the administration of the association. 

Cooperatives 

A cooperative is a form of property ownership created pursuant to ch. 719, F.S. The real property is 
owned by the cooperative association, and individual units are leased to the residents who own shares 
in the cooperative association.4 The lease payment amount is the pro-rata share of the operational 
expenses of the cooperative. Cooperatives operate similarly to condominiums and the laws regulating 
cooperatives are in many instances nearly identical to those regulating condominiums. 

The building and land of a cooperative association are owned by a corporation, not the individual unit 
owners. A person who purchases a cooperative unit does not receive title to the unit or any portion of 
the cooperative's building or land. Instead, the purchaser receives shares of the cooperative 
association and leases a unit from the association. An interest in a corporation or cooperative is 
represented by the ownership of stock in the corporation. 

An ownership interest in a corporation or cooperative is an interest in personal property, not real 
property.5 Generally, personal property is any object or right that is not real property, such as 
automobiles, clothing, or stocks.6 

1 S. 718.101, F.S. 
2 "Common elements" means the portions of the condominium property not included in the units. S. 718.103(11 ), F.S. 
3 S. 718.104(2), F.S. 
4 S. 719.103(2)(26), F.S. 
5 Downey v. Surf Club Apartments, Inc., 667 So.2d 414 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). 
6 Am. Jur. 2d Property§ 18. 
STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/31/2020 



Real property is anything that is permanent, fixed, and immovable, such as land or a building. At 
common law, a leasehold, even for as long as 99 years, was not considered an interest in real property. 
However, a long-term leasehold interest is taxed in the same manner as a fee interest, so courts 
generally regard long-term leaseholds to be an interest in real property for taxation purposes. 7 

In Florida, a cooperative is treated as real property for some homestead purposes. Even though the 
legal definition of homestead follows the common law and requires an interest in real property to qualify 
for the homestead exemption, the Florida Constitution specifically extends the exemption to a 
cooperative unit.8 Florida's homestead laws govern the cooperative for purposes of exemption from 
forced sale by creditors9 and for purposes of the exemption from ad valorem taxation. However, a 
cooperative is not subject to Florida's homestead protections and is not considered real property for 
purposes of devise and descent. Devise and descent is the transfer or conveyance of property by will or 
inheritance. 10 

In contrast, the Condominium Act specifically provides that "[a] condominium parcel created by the 
declaration is a separate parcel of real property, even though the condominium is created on a 
leasehold." Thus, an ownership interest in a condominium is expressly converted by statute into an 
interest in real property. There is no corresponding statute in the Cooperative Act. 11 Florida courts have 
recognized that there is some confusion in this area and that there is a need for clarification on whether 
a cooperative ownership interest is an interest in real property or personal property. 12 

Homeowners' Associations 

A homeowners' association (HOA) is an association of residential property owners in which voting 
membership is made up of parcel owners, membership is a mandatory condition of parcel ownership, 
and is authorized to impose assessments that, if unpaid, may become a lien on the parcel. 13 Only 
HOAs whose covenants and restrictions include mandatory assessments are regulated by ch. 720, F.S. 
Like a condominium or cooperative, an HOA is administered by an elected board of directors. The 
powers and duties of an HOA includes the powers and duties provided in ch. 720, F.S., and in the 
governing documents of the association, which include the recorded covenants and restrictions, 
together with the bylaws, articles of incorporation, and duly adopted amendments to those documents. 
No state agency has direct oversight of HOAs. Florida law provides procedures and minimum 
requirements for operating and provides for a mandatory binding arbitration program, administered by 
the Division, only for certain election disputes. 

Tax Assessments 

Background 

Condominium association unit owners and cooperative associations unit owners are assessed yearly 
ad valorem14 taxes by the county property appraiser. 15 For condominium unit owners, ad valorem taxes 

7 Williams v. Jones, 326 So.2d 425,433 (Fla. 1975); See generally, The Florida Bar, Practice Under Florida Probate Code 
Chapter 19 (9th ed. 2017). 
8 Art. VII, s. 6(a}, Fla. Const. ("The real estate may be held by legal or equitable title, by the entireties, jointly, in common, 
as a condominium, or indirectly by stock ownership or membership representing the owner's or member's proprietary 
interest in a corporation owning a fee or a leasehold initially in excess of ninety-eight years."). 
9 Ss. 222.01, and 222.05, F.S. 
10 Southern Walls, Inc. v. Stilwell Corp., 810 So. 2d 566, 572 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2002); Phillips v. Hirshon, 958 So. 2d 425, 
430 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2007); In re Estate of Wartels, 357 So.2d 708 (Fla. 1978); Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). 
11 S. 718.106(1), F.S; See generally Ch. 719, F.S. 
12 Phillips, 958 So.2d 425; Levine v. Hirshon, 980 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 2008). 
13 S. 720.301(9), F.S. 
14 "Ad valorem tax" means a tax based upon the assessed value of property." Section 192.001(1), F.S. 
15 S. 194.011, F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/31/2020 



for common elements are divided and levied proportionally among individual condominium parcel 
owners. 16 

Current law permits condominium and cooperative associations to file a single joint petition to the Value 
Adjustment Board ("VAB") contesting the tax assessment of all units within the condominium or 
cooperative.17 The association must provide each unit owner notice of the petition and their right to opt 
out of the appeal, if desired. 18 

A decision by the VAB may be appealed to the circuit court. 19 While current law is clear that an 
association is authorized to act on behalf of all unit owners when filing a petition to the VAB and when 
initiating an appeal of the VAB's decision, it is unclear whether the association may defend, on behalf of 
unit owners, an appeal of the VAB's decision by the property appraiser.20 

The court in Central Carillon Beach Condominium v. Garcia took up this issue in a case of first 
impression.21 Petitioners were two condominium associations who had represented their unit owners in 
a tax assessment challenge before a VAB (Associations). Respondent was the property appraiser for 
Miami-Dade County (Appraiser).22 

When the Associations initially challenged their tax assessment, the VAB substantially lowered their 
assessed property values.23 As a result, the Appraiser challenged the decision in an appeal to the 
Miami-Dade Circuit Court, and named the individual unit owners, instead of the Associations. 24 In 
response, the Associations submitted a motion to dismiss the appeal and a motion for certification of 
the unit owners as a defense class. Both motions were denied by the circuit court, and the Associations 
appealed the denial of the motion to the Third District Court of Appeal.25 

In response, the Appraiser argued that defense class certification should be denied, and the appeal 
should name individual unit owners, because statutes governing tax assessment challenge procedures 
require that individual unit owners be named on appeal.26 

Section 194.181 (2), F.S., states that in any case brought by the taxpayer or association contesting 
the assessment of any property, the county property appraiser shall be party. In any case brought by 
the property appraiser alleging specific legal violations in the VAB's decision or claiming a certain 
monetary variance between the assessed value of the property by the property appraiser and the VAB 
in the decision,27 the taxpayer shall be party defendant. "Taxpayer" is defined as the person or other 
legal entity in whose name property is assessed, including an agent of a timeshare period titleholder.28 

In Central Carillon, the individual unit owners were assessed the taxes, not the associations.29 

The Associations argued that this law conflicts with condominium association law which generally 
allows associations to represent unit owners through their rights of collective representation. 30 

16 S. 718.120(1 ), F .S.; Office of the Attorney General, Advisory Legal Opinion - AGO 99-12, Mar. 8, 1999. 
17 S. 194.011 (3)(e), F.S. 
18 S.194.171, F.S. 
19 S.194.011(3)(e), F.S. 
20 Id. 
21 Central Carillon Beach Condominium Association, Inc., et al., v. Garcia, etc, et al., 245 So. 3d 869 (Fla. 3d DCA 2018). 
22 Id. at 869. 
23 Id. at 870. 
24 Id. at 871. 
25 Id. at 869. 
26 Id. at 871. 
27 S. 194.036(1 )(a), {b), F.S. In cases where the property appraiser is claiming a systematic violation of legal 
requirements, the VAB is the defendant. 
28 S. 192.001(13), F.S. 
29 Central Carillon, supra note 20, at 871. 
30 Id. at 871, 872. 
STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC PAGE: 4 
DATE: 1/31/2020 



Section 718.111(3), F.S., in pertinent part, states that: 

the association may institute... or appeal actions or hearings in its name on 
behalf of all unit owners concerning matters of common interest to most or 
all unit owners, including, but not limited to, the common elements; the roof 
and structural components of a building or other improvements; mechanical, 
electrical, and plumbing elements serving an improvement or a building; 
representations of the developer pertaining to any existing or proposed 
commonly used facilities; and protesting ad valorem taxes on commonly 
used facilities and on units; and may defend actions in eminent domain or 
bring inverse condemnation actions. If the association has the authority to 
maintain a class action, the association may be joined in an action as 
representative of that class with reference to litigation and disputes involving the 
matters for which the association could bring a class action. (Emphasis added}. 

The court found that the Associations' argument was unsupported, stating that the provision only 
addresses ad valorem taxes in one phrase: "protesting ad valorem taxes on commonly used facilities 
and on units." The Associations protested the ad valorem taxes on behalf of all units, but the lawsuits 
brought by the Appraiser against the unit owners are not "protests." Rather, they are judicial review 
proceedings in which the unit owners are defendants. The specific cases in which an association may 
defend on behalf of all unit owners are "actions in eminent domain."31 

The Associations argued that because they could bring a class action if they were appealing a decision 
of the VAB, they "may be joined in an action as a representative of that class with reference to 
litigation .... " However, the court found thats. 718.111(3), F.S., was not as precisely applied to the 
Appraiser's lawsuits against the unit owners as the ad valorem litigation provision, s. 194.181(2), F.S., 
which states that when an appraiser is the plaintiff seeking circuit court review of the VAB decision, "the 
taxpayer shall be the party defendant ... . "32 

Based on this statutory interpretation, the court in Central Carillon found that current law does not allow 
such an association to act on behalf of unit owners on appeal where a VAB decision is appealed by the 
property appraiser.33 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill amends current law to clarify that where an association has filed a single joint petition to 
challenge a tax assessment, a condominium or cooperative association may continue to represent, 
prosecute, and defend the unit owners through any related subsequent proceeding in any tribunal and 
any appeals. This provision would apply to cases pending on July 1, 2020. 

The bill provides that in any case brought by the property appraiser concerning a value adjustment 
board decision on a single joint petition filed by a condominium or cooperative association, the 
association and all unit owners included in the single joint petition are the party defendants. 

In order to represent unit owners in such a proceeding, the condominium or cooperative association 
must provide unit owners with notice of its intent to respond to or answer the property appraiser's 
complaint, and advise the unit owners that they may elect to: 

31 Id. at 872. 
32 Id. at 872. 
33 Id. at 873. 

• retain their own counsel to defend the appeal; 
• choose not to defend the appeal; or 
• be represented together with other unit owners in the response or answer filed by the 

association. 

STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

PAGE: 5 



Such notice must be mailed, delivered, or electronically transmitted to unit owners and posted 
conspicuously on the condominium or cooperative property in the same manner for notice of board 
meetings. Any unit owner who does not respond to the association's notice will be represented in the 
response or answer filed by the association. 

Specific to the Condominium Act, the bill provides that a condominium association, in its own name or 
on behalf of some or all unit owners, may institute, file, protest, maintain, or defend any administrative 
challenge, lawsuit, appeal, or other challenge to ad valorem taxes assessed on units for commonly 
used facilities or common elements. The affected association members are not necessary or 
indispensable parties to such actions. This provision is intended to clarify existing law and would apply 
to cases pending on July 1, 2020. 

Condominium Association Financial Issues 

Background 

The Division is the agency charged with ensuring that condominium associations comply with the 
requirements of the Condominium Act (Act). The Division also handles complaints alleging violations of 
the Act and has complete jurisdiction to investigate complaints and enforce compliance with the 
Condominium Act for associations that are controlled by a developer, a bulk buyer, or a bulk 
assignee.34 However, once a developer turns control of the condominium over to the association, the 
Division only has jurisdiction to investigate complaints related to financial issues, elections, and unit 
owner access to official records. 35 

The term "financial issues" is not defined in the Condominium Act. According to DBPR, this can result 
in confusion for unit owners and associations for purposes of determining what types of complaints the 
Division can investigate. Defining "financial issues" will give unit owners and associations a better 
understanding of the types of financial issues that the Division may investigate.36 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill defines "financial issues" to mean an issue related to: 
• operating budgets; 
• reserve schedules; 
• accounting records; 
• notices of meetings; 
• minutes of meetings discussing budget or financial issues; 
• assessments for common expenses, fees, or fines; 
• the commingling of funds; and 
• any other record necessary to determine the revenues and expenses of the association. 

The bill also provides that the Division may adopt rules to further define "financial issues." 

34 A bulk assignee is a person who buys more than seven units in a single condominium and receives assignment of any 
of the developer's rights. A bulk buyer is a person who buys more than seven units in a single condominium but does not 
receive any of the developer's rights. S. 718. 703, F.S. 
35 Ss. 718.117, & 718.501, F.S. 
36 Email from Colton Madill, Deputy Legislative Affairs Director, Department of Business and Professional Regulation, RE: 
HB 1257 Community Associations (Jan. 22, 2020). 
STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC PAGE: 6 
DATE: 1/31/2020 



Condominium Association Records 

Background 

Condominium associations are required to maintain official records for at least 7 years. The official 
records must include:37 

• a copy of the articles of incorporation, declaration, bylaws, and rules of the association; 
• meeting minutes; 
• a roster of all owners or members, including the electronic mailing addresses and fax numbers 

of unit owners consenting to receive notice by electronic transmission; 
• a copy of any contracts to which the association is a party or under which the association or the 

unit owners or members have an obligation; 
• accounting records for the association; 
• all contracts for work to be performed, including bids for work, materials, and equipment; 

o cooperatives and HOAs are only required to maintain bids for one year; 
• all ballots, sign-in sheets, voting proxies, and all other papers relating to voting by unit owners; 
• a copy of the plans, permits, warranties, and other items provided by the developer; and 
• all other written records which are related to the operation of the association. 

An association must maintain the official records within the state of Florida and make them available for 
inspection within 45 miles of the association or within the county where the association is located.38 

Associations must maintain accounting records in sufficient detail to permit determination of the 
revenues and expenses or receipts and disbursements attributable to separate units and operating and 
reserve funds.39 

Unit owners and renters may request to inspect and make copies of an association's official records, 
and the association must make the records available for inspection within 10 business days of receiving 
a written inspection request.4° Failure to provide an owner or renter the requested official records within 
1 O business days of receiving a written request creates a rebuttable presumption that the association 
willfully failed to provide the requested records. A unit owner who is denied access to the official 
records is entitled to damages and costs.41 

An association may adopt reasonable rules regarding the frequency, time, location, notice, and manner 
of record inspections. An association also has the option to make the official records available 
electronically via the Internet or by allowing the records to be viewed in electronic format on a computer 
screen. Additionally, associations with 150 or more units must maintain a website with digital copies of 
certain official records such as meeting notices, a copy of the articles of incorporation, declaration, 
bylaws, and rules of the association.42 

Current law provides what records a condominium association must maintain, and where the 
condominium must maintain the records, but current law does not require associations to maintain the 
official records in a specific manner or format. 43 

According to DBPR, not having requirements for how associations must maintain official records can be 
frustrating and time consuming for unit owners. According to DBPR, this is because a unit owner may 
request to inspect the official records and an association may give them access to a room full of boxes 

37 S. 718.111(12)(a), F.S. 
3BS. 718.111(12}(b}, F.S. 
39 Rule 61 B-22.002, F .A.C. 
40 S. 718.111(12)(c}, F.S. 
41 Id. 
42 S. 718.111(12)(b),(g), F.S. 
43 See Ch. 718, F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

PAGE: 7 



or filing cabinets, and the unit owner may not understand the association's organization of the 
records. 44 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill provides that condominium associations must maintain the official records in a manner and 
format determined by the Division so that the records are easily accessible for inspection. The bill 
allows the Division to investigate complaints against condominiums that are related to the maintenance 
of the official records. 

The bill also provides that when a unit owner or renter requests to inspect the official records, the 
association must provide the owner or renter with a checklist of all the records that are being made 
available for inspection. The checklist must also include a list of the requested official records that are 
not being made available for inspection. The association must provide a sworn affidavit by the person 
responding to the unit owner or renter's request attesting to the accuracy of the checklist along with the 
checklist. The association must keep a copy of the checklist and the affidavit for at least seven years. 

The bill provides that delivery of the checklist and the sworn affidavit creates a rebuttable presumption 
that the association complied with the unit owner or renter's request to inspect the official records. 

According to DBPR, requiring a checklist ensures that unit owners and renters will receive better 
access to a condominium association's official records, and it will also provide insurance for 
associations to show they complied with a unit owner or renter's request to inspect the official 
records. 45 

Condominium Educational Material Published by DBPR 

Background 

The Division provides training and educational programs for condominium association board directors 
and unit owners such as publishing educational brochures and holding seminars for board directors 
and unit owners, and maintains a toll-free hotline to assist unit owners. The Division may also approve 
board director and unit owner education and training programs offered by third party providers. The 
Division must maintain a current list of all approved programs and third party providers, and make the 
list available to board directors and unit owners.46 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill provides that the Division may adopt rules to establish requirements for the training and 
educational programs provided by the Division. 

Homeowners' Association Swimming Pools 

Background 

The Department of Health (DOH) is responsible for the oversight and regulation of water quality and 
safety of public swimming pools in Florida under ch. 514, F.S. In order to operate or continue to operate 
a public swimming pool, a valid operating permit from DOH must be obtained. If DOH determines that 
the public swimming pool is, or may reasonably be expected to be, operated in compliance with state 
laws and rules, DOH will issue a permit. However, if it is determined that the pool is not in compliance 
with state laws and rules, the application for a permit will be denied. DOH is authorized to establish a 

44 DBPR, supra note 33. 
45 /d. 
46 S. 718.501(1)(j), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

PAGE: 8 



schedule of fees for plan approval and permitting.47 Operating permits must be renewed annually and 
may be transferred from one name or owner to another.48 

DOH may, at any reasonable time, enter any and all parts of a public swimming pool to examine and 
investigate the pool's sanitary and safety conditions. 49 County health departments are responsible for 
the routine surveillance of water quality in all public swimming pools.50 

Pools that are used by condominiums or cooperatives with 32 units or less and which are not being 
operated as public lodging establishments are exempt from DOH's requirements for public pools. HOA 
pools are not exempt from DOH regulation, even where the HOA has 32 homes or less.51 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill provides that pools for HOAs, like current law for condominium and cooperative associations, 
that have 32 parcels or less and are not being operated as public lodging establishments are exempt 
from DOH's requirements for public pools, except for maintaining water quality standards. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1 

Section 2 

Amends s. 194.011, F.S., allowing condominium and cooperative associations to 
represent unit owners in certain proceedings. 

Amends s. 194.181, F.S., allowing condominium and cooperative associations to 
represent unit owners in certain proceedings. 

Section 3 Amends s. 514.0115, F.S., relating to Department of Health regulations of homeowners' 
association swimming pools. 

Section 4 Amends s. 718.111, F.S., allowing condominium associations to represent unit owners in 
certain proceedings; relating to official records maintained by the condominium 
association. 

Section 5 Amends s. 718.501, F.S., defining "financial issues" related to condominium 
associations; allowing DBPR to establish requirements for certain educational material. 

Section 6 Provides an effective date. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

Indeterminate. DBPR may see a minor increase in expenditures due to adopting new rules to 
implement the bill. 

47 S. 514.033, F.S. 
48 Ss. 514.031 (2) and (3), F .S. 
49 S. 514.04, F.S. 
50 S. 514.025, F.S. 
51 S. 514.0115(2). F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

PAGE: 9 



B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

The Revenue Estimating Conference on January 31, 2020 estimated that the bill will reduce local 
government revenues by $5.5 million in FY 2020-21, but by -$1. 7 million on a recurring or 
annualized basis. 

2. Expenditures: 

None 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

Homeowners' associations may have less costs associated with maintaining swimming pools. 
Condominium unit owners may save money by being able to be represented through all phases of a tax 
assessment appeal. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to spend funds or take 
action requiring the expenditure of funds; reduce the authority that counties or municipalities have to 
raise revenues in the aggregate; or reduce the percentage of state tax shared with counties or 
municipalities. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

DBPR will need to adopt rules related to establishing requirements for education programs, setting 
standards and definitions for financial issues, and establishing procedures for the maintenance and 
sharing of condominium association records. The rulemaking authority provided in the bill is sufficient. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h1257b.WMC 
DATE: 1/31/2020 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

PAGE: 10 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1257 2020 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to community associations; amending s. 

3 194.011, F.S.; providing that certain associations may 

4 represent, prosecute, or defend owners in certain 

5 proceedings; providing applicability; amending s. 

6 194.181, F.S.; providing and revising the parties 

7 considered as the defendant in a tax suit; requiring 

8 certain notice to be provided to unit owners in a 

9 specified way; providing unit owners options for 

10 defending a tax suit; imposing certain actions for 

11 unit owners who fail to respond to a specified notice; 

12 amending s. 514.0115, F.S.; providing that certain 

13 property association pools are exempt from Department 

14 of Health regulations; amending s. 718.111, F.S.; 

15 providing that a condominium association may take 

16 certain actions relating to a challenge to ad valorem 

17 taxes in its own name or on behalf of unit owners; 

18 providing applicability; requiring an association to 

19 provide a checklist and affidavit relating to certain 

20 records to certain persons; providing a timeframe for 

21 maintaining such checklist and affidavit; creating a 

22 rebuttable presumption; amending s. 718.501, F.S.; 

23 defining the term "financial issue"; authorizing the 

24 Division of Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes 

25 to adopt rules; providing an effective date. 

Page 1 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1257 

26 

27 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

28 

29 Section 1. Paragraph (e) of subsection (3) of section 

30 194.011, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 

31 194.011 Assessment notice; objections to assessments.-

32 (3) A petition to the value adjustment board must be in 

33 substantially the form prescribed by the department. 

2020 

34 Notwithstanding s. 195.022, a county officer may not refuse to 

35 accept a form provided by the department for this purpose if the 

36 taxpayer chooses to use it. A petition to the value adjustment 

37 board must be signed by the taxpayer or be accompanied at the 

38 time of filing by the taxpayer's written authorization or power 

39 of attorney, unless the person filing the petition is listed in 

4 0 s . 1 9 4 . 0 3 4 ( 1 ) ( a ) . A person listed in s . 1 9 4 . 0 3 4 ( 1 ) ( a ) may file a 

41 petition with a value adjustment board without the taxpayer's 

42 signature or written authorization by certifying under penalty 

43 of perjury that he or she has authorization to file the petition 

44 on behalf of the taxpayer. If a taxpayer notifies the value 

45 adjustment board that a petition has been filed for the 

46 taxpayer's property without his or her consent, the value 

47 adjustment board may require the person filing the petition to 

48 provide written authorization from the taxpayer authorizing the 

49 person to proceed with the appeal before a hearing is held. If 

50 the value adjustment board finds that a person listed ins. 

Page 2 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

65 

66 

67 

68 

69 

70 

71 

72 

73 

74 

75 

HB 1257 2020 

194. 034 ( 1) (a) willfully and knowingly filed a petition that was 

not authorized by the taxpayer, the value adjustment board shall 

require such person to provide the taxpayer's written 

authorization for representation to the value adjustment board 

clerk before any petition filed by that person is heard, for 1 

year after imposition of such requirement by the value 

adjustment board. A power of attorney or written authorization 

is valid for 1 assessment year, and a new power of attorney or 

written authorization by the taxpayer is required for each 

subsequent assessment year. A petition shall also describe the 

property by parcel number and shall be filed as follows: 

(ell.:. A condominium association, as defined ins. 718.103, 

a cooperative association, as defined ins. 719.103, or any 

homeowners' associationL as defined ins. 723.075, with approval 

of its board of administration or directors, may file with the 

value adjustment board a single joint petition on behalf of any 

association members who own units or parcels of property which 

the property appraiser determines are substantially similar with 

respect to location, proximity to amenities, number of rooms, 

living area, and condition. The condominium association, 

cooperative association, or homeowners' association as defined 

in o. 723.07§ shall provide the unit or parcel owners with 

notice of its intent to petition the value adjustment board and 

shall provide at least 20 days for a unit or parcel owner to 

elect, in writing, that his or her unit or parcel not be 

Page 3 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

76 

77 

78 

79 

80 

81 

82 

83 

84 

85 

86 

87 

88 

HB 1257 2020 

included in the petition. 

2. A condominium association, as defined ins. 718.103, or 

a cooperative association, as defined ins. 719.103, that has 

filed a single joint petition under this subsection may continue 

to represent, prosecute, and defend the unit owners through any 

related subsequent proceeding in any tribunal, including 

judicial review under part II of this chapter and any appeals. 

This subparagraph is intended to clarify existing law and 

applies to cases pending on July 1, 2020. 

Section 2. Subsection (2) of section 194.181, Florida 

Statutes, is amended to read: 

194.181 Parties to a tax suit.-

(2)~ In any case brought by~ 4::-fte taxpayer or a 

89 condominium or cooperative association, as defined in ss. 

90 718.103 and 719.103 respectively, on behalf of some or all unit 

91 owners, contesting the assessment of any property, the county 

92 property appraiser is the shall be party defendant. 

93 J.£1 In any case brought by the property appraiser under 

94 pursuant to s. 194. 03 6 ( 1) (a) or (b) , the taxpayer is the shall 

95 ee party defendant. 

96 (c)l. In any case brought by the property appraiser under 

97 s. 194. 03 6 ( 1) (a) or (b) concerning a value adjustment board 

98 decision on a single joint petition filed by a condominium or 

99 cooperative association under s. 194.011(3), the association and 

100 all unit owners included in the single joint petition are the 

Page 4 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

101 

102 

103 

104 

105 

106 

107 

108 

109 

110 

111 

112 

113 

114 

115 

116 

117 

118 

119 

120 

121 

122 

123 

124 

125 

HB 1257 2020 

party defendants. 

2. The condominium or cooperative association must provide 

unit owners with notice of its intent to respond to or answer 

the property appraiser's complaint and advise the unit owners 

that they may elect to: 

a. Retain their own counsel to defend the appeal; 

b. Choose not to defend the appeal; or 

c. Be represented together with other unit owners in the 

response or answer filed by the association. 

3. The notice required in subparagraph 2. must be mailed, 

delivered, or electronically transmitted to unit owners and 

posted conspicuously on the condominium or cooperative property 

in the same manner for notice of board meetings under ss. 

718.112(2) and 719.106(1). Any unit owner who does not respond 

to the association's notice will be represented in the response 

or answer filed by the association. 

J..s!l In any case brought by the property appraiser under 

pursuant to s. 194.036(1) (c), the value adjustment board is the 

shall be party defendant. 

Section 3. Paragraph (a) of subsection (2) of section 

514.0115, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 

514. 0115 Exemptions from supervision or reg .. :lation; 

variances.-

(2) (a) Pools serving condominium, cooperative, and 

homeowners' associations, as well as other property 

Page 5 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

126 

127 

128 

129 

130 

131 

132 

133 

134 

135 

136 

137 

138 

139 

140 

141 

142 

143 

144 

145 

146 

147 

148 

149 

150 

HB 1257 2020 

associations, which have no more than 32 condominium or 

cooperative units or parcels and which are not operated as a 

public lodging establishments are establishment shall be exempt 

from supervision under this chapter, except for water quality. 

Section 4. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1), subsection 

(3), and paragraphs (a), (b), (c), and (f) of subsection (12) of 

section 718.111, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 

718.111 The association.-

(1) CORPORATE ENTITY.-

(a) The operation of the condominium shall be by the 

association, which must be a Florida corporation for profit or a 

Florida corporation not for profit. However, any association 

which was in existence on January 1, 1977, need not be 

incorporated. The owners of units shall be shareholders or 

members of the association. The officers and directors of the 

association have a fiduciary relationship to the unit owners. It 

is the intent of the Legislature that nothing in this paragraph 

shall be construed as providing for or removing a requirement of 

a fiduciary relationship between any manager employed by the 

association and the unit owners. An officer, director, or 

manager may not solicit, offer to accept, or accept any thing or 

service of value or kickback for which consideration has not 

been provided for his or her own benefit or that of his or her 

immediate family, from any person providing or proposing to 

provide goods or services to the association. Any such officer, 

Page 6 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

151 

152 

153 

154 

155 

156 

157 

158 

159 

160 

161 

162 

163 

164 

165 

166 

167 

168 

169 

170 

171 

172 

173 

174 

175 

HB 1257 2020 

director, or manager who knowingly so solicits, offers to 

accept, or accepts any thing or service of value or kickback is 

subject to a civil penalty under s. 718.501(2) (d) pursuant too. 

718.§01(1) (d) and, if applicable, a criminal penalty as provided 

in paragraph (d). However, this paragraph does not prohibit an 

officer, director, or manager from accepting services or items 

received in connection with trade fairs or education programs. 

An association may operate more than one condominium. 

(3) POWER TO MANAGE CONDOMINIUM PROPERTY AND TO CONTRACT, 

SUE, AND BE SUED; CONFLICT OF INTEREST.-

~ The association may contract, sue, or be sued with 

respect to the exercise or nonexercise of its powers. For these 

purposes, the powers of the association include, but are not 

limited to, the maintenance, management, and operation of the 

condominium property. 

JEl. After control of the association is obtained by unit 

owners 0th.er than the developer, the association may-=-

1. Institute, maintain, settle, or appeal actions or 

hearings in its name on behalf of all unit owners concerning 

matters of common interest to most or all unit owners, 

including, but not limited to, the common elements; the roof and 

structural components of a building or other improvements; 

mechanical, electrical, and plumbing elements serving an 

improvement or a building; representations of the developer 

pertaining to any existing or proposed commonly used facilities; 

Page 7 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

176 

177 

178 

179 

180 

181 

182 

183 

184 

185 

186 

187 

188 

189 

190 

191 

192 

193 

194 

195 

196 

197 

198 

199 

200 

HB 1257 

2. Protest and protesting ad valorem taxes on commonly 

used facilities and on units; and may 

3. Defend actions pertaining to ad valorem taxation of 

commonly used facilities or units or related to ±ft eminent 

domain; 

4. 

~ 

or 

Bring inverse condemnation actions. 

If the association has the authority to maintain a 

class action, the association may be joined in an action as 

representative of that class with reference to litigation and 

disputes involving the matters for which the association could 

bring a class action. 

2020 

(d) The association, in its own name or on behalf of some 

or all unit owners, may institute, file, protest, maintain, or 

defend any administrative challenge, lawsuit, appeal, or other 

challenge to ad valorem taxes assessed on units for commonly 

used facilities or common elements. The affected association 

members are not necessary or indispensable parties to such 

actions. This paragraph is intended to clarify existing law and 

applies to cases pending on July 1, 2020. 

l!:_l Nothing herein limits any statutory or common-law 

right of any individual .unit owner or class of unit owners to 

bring ar: 1 action without participation by the association which 

may otherwise be available. 

J..!j_ An association may not hire an attorney who represents 

the management company of the association. 

Page 8 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

201 

202 

203 

204 

205 

206 

207 

208 

209 

210 

211 

212 

213 

214 

215 

216 

217 

218 

219 

220 

221 

222 

223 

224 

225 

HB 1257 2020 

(12) OFFICIAL RECORDS.-

(a) From the inception of the association, the association 

shall maintain each of the following items, if applicable, which 

constitutes the official records of the association: 

1. A copy of the plans, permits, warranties, and other 

items provided by the developer under pursuant to s. 718.301(4). 

2. A photocopy of the recorded declaration of condominium 

of each condominium operated by the association and each 

amendment to each declaration. 

3. A photocopy of the recorded bylaws of the association 

and each amendment to the bylaws. 

4. A certified copy of the articles of incorporation of 

the association, or other documents creating the association, 

and each amendment thereto. 

5. A copy of the current rules of the association. 

6. A book or books that contain the minutes of all 

meetings of the association, the board of administration, and 

the unit owners. 

7. A current roster of all unit owners and their mailing 

addresses, unit identifications, voting certifications, and, if 

known, telephone numbers. The association shall also maintain 

the e-mail addresses and facsimile numbers of unit owners 

consenting to receive notice by electronic transmission. Thee

mail addresses and facsimile numbers are not accessible to unit 

owners if consent to receive notice by electronic transmission 

Page 9 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

226 

227 

228 

229 

230 

231 

232 

233 

234 

235 

236 

237 

238 

239 

240 

241 

242 

243 

244 

245 

246 

247 

248 

249 

250 

HB 1257 

is not provided in accordance with sub-subparagraph (c)3.e. 

However, the association is not liable for an inadvertent 

disclosure of the e-mail address or facsimile number for 

receiving electronic transmission of notices. 

8. All current insurance policies of the association and 

condominiums operated by the association. 

9. A current copy of any management agreement, lease, or 

other contract to which the association is a party or under 

which the association or the unit owners have an obligation or 

responsibility. 

10. Bills of sale or transfer for all property owned by 

the association. 

11. Accounting records for the association and separate 

accounting records for each condominium that the association 

operates. Any person who knowingly or intentionally defaces or 

destroys such records, or who knowingly or intentionally fails 

to create or maintain such records, with the intent of causing 

harm to the association or one or more of its members, is 

personally subject to a civil penalty under s. 718.501(2) (d) 

pursuant to o. 718. 501 ( 1) (d) . The accounting records must 

include, but are not limited to: 

a. Accurate, itemized, and detailed records of all 

receipts and expenditures. 

2020 

b. A current account and a monthly, bimonthly, or 

quarterly statement of the account for each unit designating the 

Page 10 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

251 

252 

253 

254 

255 

256 

257 

258 

259 

260 

261 

262 

263 

264 

265 

266 

267 

268 

269 

270 

271 

272 

273 

274 

275 

HB 1257 2020 

name of the unit owner, the due date and amount of each 

assessment, the amount paid on the account, and the balance due. 

c. All audits, reviews, accounting statements, and 

financial reports of the association or condominium. 

d. All contracts for work to be performed. Bids for work 

to be performed are also considered official records and must be 

maintained by the association. 

12. Ballots, sign-in sheets, voting proxies, and all other 

papers and electronic records relating to voting by unit owners, 

which must be maintained for 1 year from the date of the 

election, vote, or meeting to which the document relates, 

notwithstanding paragraph (b). 

13. All rental records if the association is acting as 

agent for the rental of condominium units. 

14. A copy of the current question and answer sheet as 

described ins. 718.504. 

15. All other written records of the association not 

specifically included in the foregoing which are related to the 

operation of the association. 

16. A copy of the inspection report as described ins. 

718.301 (4) (p). 

17. Bids for materials, equipment, or services. 

(b) The official records specified in subparagraphs (a)l.-

6. must be permanently maintained from the inception of the 

association. All other official records must be maintained 

Page 11 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

276 

277 

278 

279 

280 

281 

282 

283 

284 

285 

286 

287 

288 

289 

290 

291 

292 

293 

294 

295 

296 

297 

298 

299 

300 

HB 1257 2020 

within the state for at least 7 years, unless otherwise provided 

by general law. All official records must be maintained in a 

manner and format determined by the division so that the records 

are easily accessible for inspection. The records of the 

association shall be made available to a unit owner within 45 

miles of the condominium property or within the county in which 

the condominium property is located within 10 working days after 

receipt of a written request by the board or its designee. 

However, such distance requirement does not apply to an 

association governing a timeshare condominium. This paragraph 

may be complied with by having a copy of the official records of 

the association available for inspection or copying on the 

condominium property or association property, or the association 

may offer the option of making the records available to a unit 

owner electronically via the Internet or by allowing the records 

to be viewed in electronic format on a computer screen and 

printed upon request. The association is not responsible for the 

use or misuse of the information provided to an association 

member or his or her authorized representative pursuant to the 

compliance requirements of this chapter unless the association 

has an affirmative duty not to disclose such information 

pursuant to this chapter. 

(c)l. The official records of the association are open to 

inspection by any association member or the authorized 

representative of such member at all reasonable times. The right 

Page 12 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

301 

302 

303 

304 

305 

306 

307 

308 

309 

310 

311 

312 

313 

314 

315 

316 

317 

318 

319 

320 

321 

322 

323 

324 

325 

HB 1257 2020 

to inspect the records includes the right to make or obtain 

copies, at the reasonable expense, if any, of the member or 

authorized representative of such member. A renter of a unit has 

a right to inspect and copy the association's bylaws and rules. 

The association must provide a checklist to the member, 

authorized representative of such member, or renter of all 

records that are made available for inspection and copying in 

response to a written request. If any or all of the 

association's official records are not available, such records 

must be identified on the checklist provided to the person 

requesting the records. The association must also provide the 

person requesting the records a sworn affidavit attesting to the 

veracity of the checklist executed by the person responding to 

the written request on behalf of the association. The 

association must maintain a copy of the checklist and affidavit 

for at least 7 years. Delivery of the checklist and sworn 

affidavit to the person requesting the records creates a 

rebuttable presumption that the association complied with this 

paragraph. The association may adopt reasonable rules regarding 

the frequency, time, location, notice, and manner of record 

inspections and copying. The failure of an association to 

provide the records within 10 working days after receipt of a 

written request creates a rebuttable presumption that the 

association willfully failed to comply with this paragraph. A 

unit owner who is denied access to official records is entitled 

Page 13 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

326 

327 

328 

329 

330 

331 

332 

333 

334 

335 

336 

337 

338 

339 

340 

341 

342 

343 

344 

345 

346 

347 

348 

349 

350 

HS 1257 2020 

to the actual damages or minimum damages for the association's 

willful failure to comply. Minimum damages are $50 per calendar 

day for up to 10 days, beginning on the 11th working day after 

receipt of the written request. The failure to permit inspection 

entitles any person prevailing in an enforcement action to 

recover reasonable attorney fees from the person in control of 

the records who, directly or indirectly, knowingly denied access 

to the records. 

2. Any person who knowingly or intentionally defaces or 

destroys accounting records that are required by this chapter to 

be maintained during the period for which such records are 

required to be maintained, or who knowingly or intentionally 

fails to create or maintain accounting records that are required 

to be created or maintained, with the intent of causing harm to 

the association or one or more of its members, is personally 

subject to a civil penalty under s. 718.501(2) (d) pursuant to s. 

718.501 (1) (d). 

3. The association shall maintain an adequate number of 

copies of the declaration, articles of incorporation, bylaws, 

and rules, and all amendments to each of the foregoing, as well 

as the question and answer sheet as described ins. 718.504 and 

year-end financial information required under this section, on 

the condominium property to ensure their availability to unit 

owners and prospective purchasers, and may charge its actual 

costs for preparing and furnishing these documents to those 

Page 14 of 19 

CODING: Words strisken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

351 

352 

353 

354 

355 

356 

357 

358 

359 

360 

361 

362 

363 

364 

365 

366 

367 

368 

369 

370 

371 

372 

373 

374 

375 

HB 1257 2020 

requesting the documents. An association shall allow a member or 

his or her authorized representative to use a portable device, 

including a smartphone, tablet, portable scanner, or any other 

technology capable of scanning or taking photographs, to make an 

electronic copy of the official records in lieu of the 

association's providing the member or his or her authorized 

representative with a copy of such records. The association may 

not charge a member or his or her authorized representative for 

the use of a portable device. Notwithstanding this paragraph, 

the following records are not accessible to unit owners: 

a. Any record protected by the lawyer-client privilege as 

described ins. 90.502 and any record protected by the work

product privilege, including a record prepared by an association 

attorney or prepared at the attorney's express direction, which 

reflects a mental impression, conclusion, litigation strategy, 

or legal theory of the attorney or the association, and which 

was prepared exclusively for civil or criminal litigation or for 

adversarial administrative proceedings, or which was prepared in 

anticipation of such litigation or proceedings until the 

conclusion of the litigation or proceedings. 

b. Information obtained by an association in connection 

with the approval of the lease, sale, or c~her transfer of a 

unit. 

c. Personnel records of association or management company 

employees, including, but not limited to, disciplinary, payroll, 

Page 15 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

376 

377 

378 

379 

380 

381 

382 

383 

384 

385 

386 

387 

388 

389 

390 

391 

392 

393 

394 

395 

396 

397 

398 

399 

400 

HB 1257 

health, and insurance records. For purposes of this sub

subparagraph, the term "personnel records" does not include 

written employment agreements with an association employee or 

management company, or budgetary or financial records that 

indicate the compensation paid to an association employee. 

d. Medical records of unit owners. 

2020 

e. Social security numbers, driver license numbers, credit 

card numbers, e-mail addresses, telephone numbers, facsimile 

numbers, emergency contact information, addresses of a unit 

owner other than as provided to fulfill the association's notice 

requirements, and other personal identifying information of any 

person, excluding the person's name, unit designation, mailing 

address, property address, and any address, e-mail address, or 

facsimile number provided to the association to fulfill the 

association's notice requirements. Notwithstanding the 

restrictions in this sub-subparagraph, an association may print 

and distribute to unit parcel owners a directory containing the 

name, unit parcel address, and all telephone numbers of each 

unit parcel owner. However, an owner may exclude his or her 

telephone numbers from the directory by so requesting in writing 

to the association. An owner may consent in writing to the 

disclosure of other contact information described in this sub

subparagraph. The association is not liable for the inadvertent 

disclosure of information that is protected under this sub

subparagraph if the information is included in an official 

Page 16 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

401 

402 

403 

404 

405 

406 

407 

408 

409 

410 

411 

412 

413 

414 

415 

416 

417 

418 

419 

420 

421 

422 

423 

424 

425 

HB 1257 

record of the association and is voluntarily provided by an 

owner and not requested by the association. 

f. Electronic security measures that are used by the 

association to safeguard data, including passwords. 

2020 

g. The software and operating system used by the 

association which allow the manipulation of data, even if the 

owner owns a copy of the same software used by the association. 

The data is part of the official records of the association. 

(f) An outgoing board or committee member must relinquish 

all official records and property of the association in his or 

her possession or under his or her control to the incoming board 

within 5 days after the election. The division shall impose a 

civil penalty as set forth ins. 718.501(2) (d)6. -s.-

718.501 (1) (d) 6. against an outgoing board or committee member 

who willfully and knowingly fails to relinquish such records and 

property. 

Section 5. Subsections (1) and (2) of section 718.501, 

Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (2) and (3), 

respectively, paragraphs (h) and (j) of present subsection (1) 

of that section are amended, and a new subsection (1) is added 

to that section, to read: 

718.501 Authority, responsibility, and duties of Division 

of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes.-

(1) As used in this section, the term "financial issue" 

means an issue related to operating budgets; reserve schedules; 

Page 17 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

426 

427 

428 

429 

430 

431 

432 

433 

434 

435 

436 

437 

438 

439 

440 

441 

442 

443 

444 

445 

446 

447 

448 

449 

450 

HB 1257 

accounting records under s. 718.111(12) (a)ll.; notices of 

meetings; minutes of meetings discussing budget or financial 

issues; assessments for common expenses, fees, or fines; the 

commingling of funds; and any other record necessary to 

determine the revenues and expenses of the association. The 

division may adopt rules to further define what a financial 

issue is under this section. 

2020 

Jll+±+ The division may enforce and ensure compliance with 

the provisions of this chapter and rules relating to the 

development, construction, sale, lease, ownership, operation, 

and management of residential condominium units. In performing 

its duties, the division has complete jurisdiction to 

investigate complaints and enforce compliance with respect to 

associations that are still under developer control or the 

control of a bulk assignee or bulk buyer pursuant to part VII of 

this chapter and complaints against developers, bulk assignees, 

or bulk buyers involving improper turnover or failure to 

turnover, pursuant to s. 718.301. However, after turnover has 

occurred, the division has jurisdiction to investigate 

complaints related only to financial issues, elections, and the 

maintenance of and unit owner access to association records 

~nder pursuant to s. 718.111(12). 

(h) The division shall furnish each association that pays 

the fees required by paragraph (3) (a) paragraph (2) (a) a copy of 

this chapter, as amended, and the rules adopted thereto on an 

Page 18 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

451 

452 

453 

454 

455 

456 

457 

458 

459 

460 

461 

462 

4 63 

464 

HB 1257 2020 

annual basis. 

(j) The division shall provide training and educational 

programs for condominium association board members and unit 

owners. The training may, in the division's discretion, include 

web-based electronic media, and live training and seminars in 

various locations throughout the state. The division may review 

and approve education and training programs for board members 

and unit owners offered by providers and shall maintain a 

current list of approved programs and providers and make such 

list available to board members and unit owners in a reasonable 

and cost-effective manner. The division may adopt rules to 

establish requirements for the training and educational programs 

required in this paragraph. 

Section 6. This act shall take effect July 1, 2020. 

Page 19 of 19 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1257-00 



...:.. 
w 
0 
w 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES LOCAL BILL STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL #: HB 1303 Brevard and Volusia Counties 
SPONSOR(S}: Plasencia 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION 

1) Local Administration Subcommittee 9Y, 0 N 

2) Ways & Means Committee 

3) State Affairs Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Miller 

Langston 

Special districts are units of local government created for a particular purpose, with jurisdiction to operate 
within a limited geographical boundary. A special district has only those powers expressly provided by, or 
reasonably implied from, the authority provided in the district's charter. Special districts provide specific 
municipal services in addition to, or in place of, those provided by a municipality or county. 

The bill would create the Deering Park Stewardship District in in Brevard and Volusia Counties and the City of 
Edgewater. The District's purpose is to install, operate, and maintain community infrastructure. 

The Economic Impact Statement projects expenditures of $0 in FY 2020-21 and $0 in FY 2021-22. The District 
is authorized to levy special assessments, fees, and non-ad valorem assessments. The District also is 
authorized to levy ad valorem taxes upon approval at referendum after the entire board is elected by qualified 
electors of the District. The amount of revenues that would be generated by these assessments, fees, and 
taxes is indeterminate. The District is authorized to perform numerous functions and undertake a wide range of 
projects within the District; therefore, expenditures are expected but the amount of expenditures is 
indeterminate. 

The bill takes effects upon becoming a law, except that provisions authorizing the levy of ad valorem taxes 
take effect only upon approval by a majority vote of qualified electors in a referendum to be held after such 
time when all members of the board are qualified electors of the District. 

Pursuant to House Rule 5.S(b}, a local bill providing an exemption from general law may not be placed 
on the Special Order Calendar for expedited consideration. The provisions of House Rule 5.S(b} appear 
to apply to this bill. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Present Situation 

Independent Special Districts 

A "special district" is a unit of local government created for a particular purpose, with jurisdiction to 
operate within a limited geographic boundary. Special districts are created by general law, 1 special act,2 

local ordinance,3 or by rule of the Governor and Cabinet.4 A special district has only those powers 
expressly provided by, or reasonably implied from, the authority provided in the district's charter. 
Special districts provide specific municipal services in addition to, or in place of, those provided by a 
municipality or county.5 

A "dependent special district" is a special district where the membership of the governing body is 
identical to the governing body of a single county or municipality, all members of the governing body 
are appointed by the governing body of a single county or municipality, members of the district's 
governing body are removable at will by the governing body of a single county or municipality, or the 
district's budget is subject to the approval of governing body of a single county or municipality.6 An 
"independent special district" is any district that is not a dependent special district.7 

Formation and Charter of an Independent Special District 

With the exception of community development districts,8 the charter for any new independent special 
district must include the minimum elements required by ch. 189, F.S.9 Any special laws or general laws 
of local application relating to any special district may not: 

• Create a special district with a district charter that does not conform to the minimum requirements in 
s. 189.031(3), F.S.;10 

• Exempt district elections from the requirements of s. 189.04, F.S.; 11 

• Exempt a district from the requirements for bond referenda ins. 189.042, F.S.;12 

• Exempt a district from certain requirements relating to13 issuing bonds if no referendum is 
required, 14 requiring special district reports on public facilities, 15 notice and reports of special district 
public meetings, 16 or required reports, budgets, and audits; 17 or 

1 S. 189.031(3), F.S. 
2 Jd. 
3 S. 189.02(1), F.S. 
4 S. 190.005(1), F.S. See, generally, s. 189.oI2(6), F.S. 
5 2018 - 2020 Local Gov 't Formation Manual at p. 64, available at 
https://www.myfloridahouse.gov/Sections/Committees/committeesdetail.aspx?Committee1d=3074 (last visited Jan. 2, 2020). 
6 S. 189.012(2), F.S. 
7 S. 189.012(3), F.S. 
8 S. 189.0311, F.S. Sees. 190.004, F.S. (providing that ch. 190, F.S., governs the functions and powers of independent community 
development districts). 
9 Ss. 189.031(1), (3), F.S. 
10 S. 189.031(2)(a), F.S. 
II S. 189.031(2)(b), F.S. 
12 S. 189.031(2)(c), F.S. 
13 S. 189.031(2)(d), F.S. 
14 S. 189.051, F.S. 
15 S. 189.08, F.S. 
16 S. 189.015, F.S. 
17 S. 189.016, F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



• Create a district for which a statement documenting specific required matters is not submitted to the 
Legislature. The statement must include: 

o The purpose of the proposed district; 
o The authority of the proposed district; 
o An explanation of why the district is the best alternative; and 
o A resolution or official statement from the local general-government jurisdiction where 

the proposed district will be located stating that the proposed district is consistent with 
approved local government plans and the local government does not object to creation 
of the district. 18 

These prohibitions were passed by a three-fifths majority in the House and Senate when ch. 189, F.S., 
originally was adopted. 19 They may be amended or repealed only "by like vote."20 

The charter of a newly-created district must state whether it is dependent or independent.21 Charters of 
independent special districts must address and include a list of required provisions, including the 
purpose of the district, its geographical boundaries, taxing authority, bond authority, and selection 
procedures for the members of its governing body.22 

Special districts do not possess "home rule" powers and may impose only those taxes, assessments, 
or fees authorized by special or general law. The special act creating an independent special district 
may provide for funding from a variety of sources while prohibiting others. For example, ad valorem tax 
authority is not mandatory for a special district.23 

Election of Special District Boards 

Members of a special district board are generally elected by the qualified electors of the district.24 Some 
district boards, however, are elected according to a one-acre/one-vote methodology.25 

Section 189.041, F.S., provides a process for transitioning a special district governing board elected on 
a one-acre/one-vote basis to election by the qualified electors of the district. A referendum may be 
called at any time once the district has at least 500 qualified electors.26 A petition signed by 10 percent 
of the qualified electors must be filed with the governing body of the district requesting a referendum.27 

Upon verification of the petition, the governing board of the district must call for a referendum at the 
earlier of the next regularly scheduled election of governing body members occurring at least 30 days 
after the verification of the petition or within six months of verification.28 

If the qualified electors approve of the transition, the size of the board is increased to five members and 
elections for the board are held at the earlier of the next regularly scheduled general election or a 
special election held within six months following the referendum approving transition and the finalization 

18 S. 189.031(2)(e), F.S. 
19 Ch. 89-169, s. 67, Laws of Fla. 
20 Art. III, s. 1 l(a)(21), Fla. Const. ("SECTION I I. Prohibited special laws.- (a) There shall be no special law or general law of 
local application pertaining to: ... (21) any subject when prohibited by general law passed by a three-fifths vote of the membership of 
each house. Such law may be amended or repealed by like vote."). 
21 S. 189.031(5), F.S. 
22 S. 189.031(3), F.S. 
23 Art. VII, s. 9(a), Fla. Const. 
24 See e.g. ch. 2015-202, s. 4(4)(2)(a), Laws of Fla. (election provisions for Lehigh Acres Municipal Services Improvement District). 
25 Sees. 189.04(4), F.S. (providing an exception for special district governing board elected on a one-acre/one-vote basis); also see 
e.g. ch. 2007-306, s. 5, Laws of Fla. (election provisions for the Babcock Ranch Community Independent Special District). 
26 S. 189.041(2)(a)l.a., F.S. 
27 S. 189.041(2)(a)l.b., F.S. 
28 S. 189.041(2)(a)2., F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



of the district urban area map.29 If the qualified electors do not approve of the transition, a new 
referendum may not be held for at least two years.30 

Within 30 days after the transition referendum, the governing body of the district must direct the 
district's staff to prepare and present maps describing all urban areas contained in the district.31 For the 
purposes of this determination, an "urban area" is a contiguous, developed, and inhabited urban area 
within a district with a minimum density of at least: 

• 1.5 persons per acre, as defined the latest census or other official population count; 
• 1 single-family home per 2.5 acres, with access to improved roads; or 
• 1 single-family home per 5 acres within a recorded plat subdivision.32 

The maps describing the urban areas must be presented to the governing body of the district within 60 
days after the referendum.33 The determination of urban areas is made with the assistance of local 
general-purpose governments and district landowners or electors may contest the accuracy of the 
map.34 If a landowner or elector raises an objection to the map, the map is submitted to the county 
engineer for review.35 After all objections to the map have been addressed, the governing body of the 
district must adopt either its initial map or the map as amended by the county engineer as the official 
map at a regular scheduled meeting of the governing body held within 60 days of the presentation of all 
such maps.36 A landowner or elector may contest the accuracy of the map by filing a petition in circuit 
court within 30 days. 37 

After the adoption of the official map or a certification by the circuit court, the district urban area map 
must determine the extent of urban area within the district and the composition of the board pursuant to 
s. 189.041(3)(a), F.S.38 The maps must be readopted every five years, but may be readopted sooner at 
the discretion of the governing body of the district.39 

The composition of the board is determined by the percentage of the district that is urban area, as 
follows: 40 

Less than 25% 
26%-50% 
51%-70% 
70%-90% 
More than 91 % 

29 S. 189.041(2)(a)3., F.S. 
30 S. 189.041(2)(a)4., F.S. 
31 S. 189.041(2)(b)l. F.S. 
32 S. 189.04l(l)(b), F.S. 
33 S. 189.041(2)(b)2., F.S. 
34 Ss. 189.04l(l)(b), (2)(b)3., F.S. 
35 S. 189.041(2)(b)3., F.S. 
36 S. 189.041(2)(b)4., F.S. 
37 S. 189.041(2)(b)5., F.S. 
38 S. 189.041(2)(b)6., F.S. 
39 S. 189.041(2)(b)8., F.S. 
40 S. 189.041(3)(a), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

4 
3 
2 
1 
0 

PAGE: 4 



Governing board members elected by qualified electors serve four year terms, except for those elected 
at the first election and the first landowner's meeting following the referendum, who serve the following 
terms:41 

.. Urhal\Ar~a •s ." .. ·m . .. 
T•rms of Board . 1'1Tlims of:Board 

f~ ' Percentape f· Qjstt;~ct Merhber• Elected· by rr:M•.mbers Efected by 
umdowners IJL 

'" QQ.alifjed.,Electors " 
..• , 

Less than 25% 1 member serving each 1 member serving a 4 
a 1, 2, 3, and 4 year year term 
term 

26%-50% 1 member serving each 2 member serving a 4 
a 1, 2, and 3 year term year term 

51%-70% 1 member serving each 2 members serving a 4 
a 1 and 2 year term year term, 1 member 

serving a 2 year term 
70%-90% 1 member serving a 1 2 members serving a 4 

year term year term, 2 members 
serving a 2 year term 

More than 91 % n/a 3 members serving a 4 
year term, 2 members 
serving a 2 year term 

Annual landowners meetings continue to be held as long as at least one member of the board is 
elected on a one-acre/one-vote basis.42 There is no requirement for a majority of the acreage of the 
district to be represented by either owner or an owner's proxy at the landowners meeting.43 Landowner 
meetings must be held in the month preceding the month of the election of governing body members by 
electors.44 

Community Development Districts 

Chapter 190, F.S., the "Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980,"45 sets forth the 
exclusive and uniform procedures for establishing and operating a community development district 
(CDD).46 This type of independent special district is an alternative method to manage and finance basic 
services for community development.47 There are currently 622 active CDDs in Florida.48 

A COD must act within the constraints of applicable comprehensive plans, ordinances, and regulations 
of the local general purpose government.49 CDDs have certain general powers, including the authority 
to assess and impose ad valorem taxes upon lands in the COD, sue and be sued, participate in the 
state retirement system, contract for services, borrow money, accept gifts, adopt rules and orders 
pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act,50 maintain an office, lease property, issue bonds, raise 
money by user charges or fees, and levy and enforce special assessments.51 

41 S. 189.041(3)(b), F.S. 
42 S. 189.041(3)(c)l., F.S. 
43 S. 189.041(3)(c)2., F.S. 
44 S. 189.041(3)(c)3., F.S. 
45 S. 190.001, F.S. 
46 Ss. 190.004, 190.005, F.S. 
47 S. 190.003(6), F.S. 
48 Department of Economic Opportunity, Official List of Special Districts Online - Directory, available at 
http:/ /specialdistrictreports.floridajobs.org/webreports/mainindex.aspx/ (last visited Jan. 2, 2020). 
49 S. 190.004(3), F.S. 
5° Ch. 120, F.S. 
51 S. 190.011, F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 5 



The statute also authorizes additional special powers to provide, construct, and maintain public 
improvements and facilities, such as systems for water management, water supply, sewer, and 
wastewater management, as well as roads, bridges, culverts, street lights, buses, trolleys, transit 
shelters, ridesharing facilities and services, parking improvements, signage, environmental 
contamination, conservation areas, mitigation areas, and wildlife habitat.52 With the consent of the 
applicable local general-purpose government with jurisdiction over the affected area, a CDD may plan, 
establish, acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain additional 
systems and facilities for improvements such as parks and recreational areas, fire prevention and 
control, school buildings and related structures; security; control and elimination of mosquitoes and 
other arthropods of public health importance; waste collection and disposal.53 

The method for establishing a CDD depends upon its size. CDDs of more than 2,500 acres are 
established by petitioning the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission (FLWAC)54 to adopt an 
administrative rule creating the district, while CDDs of less than 2,500 acres are established by 
ordinance of the county having jurisdiction over the majority of land in the area in which the CDD is to 
be located. 55 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill creates the Deering Park Steward District (District), an independent special district in Brevard 
and Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater and provides a charter for the District. The District's 
purpose is to install, operate, and maintain community infrastructure in Brevard and Volusia Counties 
and the City of Edgewater. Section 1 of the bill provides the short title for the act. 

Legislative Findings, Legislative Intent and Policy (Charter Section 2) 

The bill provides legislative findings and intent, providing that the District will facilitate a comprehensive 
community development approach which integrates regional transportation, land use, and urban design 
elements to provide for a mix of housing, employment, and economic development opportunities. 

The bill states that a CDD created under ch. 190, F.S., would not serve the public interest due to the 
size of the proposed district, that the creation of multiple CDDs would result in inefficient and 
duplicative layers of local special-purpose government, and a separate independent special district is 
better able to integrate the management of state resources and allow for coordinated stewardship of 
natural resources. 

The bill states that the District does not have the power to engage in comprehensive planning, zoning, 
or development permitting and that the creation of the District is consistent with the Brevard County, 
Volusia County, and the City of Edgewater Comprehensive Plans. The bill states that creation of the 
District will not affect any existing conservation easements that have been recorded on portions of the 
property. The bill states that it is the intent and purpose of the District that no debt or obligation will be 
placed on Brevard County, Volusia Counties, or the City of Edgewater without the consent of the 
counties or the City. 

The bill requires the District to receive approval by resolution or official statement from the respective 
Boards of County Commissioners for Brevard County and Volusia County and the City of Edgewater 

52 S. 190.012(1), F.S. The rule or ordinance establishing the CDD may restrict the special powers authorized in this subsection. S. 
190.005(l)(t), (2)(d), F.S. 
53 S. 190.012(2), F.S. 
54 Created bys. 380.07, F.S., the FL WAC is comprised of the Administration Commission, which in turn is created bys. 14.202, F.S., 
and is composed of the Governor and Cabinet. This distinction affects the requirements for an affirmative vote by the FL WAC. Unless 
otherwise provided in law, the statutory voting requirements for the Administration Commission apply and affirmation by the 
FL WAC requires approval by the Governor and at least two Cabinet members. 
55 Ss. 190.005(1), (2), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC PAGE: 6 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



City Council before requesting any amendment to its charter, in a similar manner as is required for the 
creation of a special district pursuant to s. 189.031 (2)(e)4., F.S. 

Charter Requirements, Creation, Establishment, Jurisdiction, and Charter (Charter Section 3) 

The bill provides a list of sections of the bill that fulfill the requirements for the creation of a special 
district under s. 189.031(3), F.S. 

The bill states that the District is a "public body corporate and politic," an independent special district, 
and that any additional power granted to a COD under ch. 190, F.S., after January 1, 2020, also 
constitutes a power of the District to the extent such changes are not inconsistent with the provisions of 
the bill. The bill provides that the District may exercise its power within the boundaries of the District, or 
extraterritorially with the consent of Brevard County, Volusia County, and the City of Edgewater as 
evidenced by an interlocal agreement or a development order. 

District Boundaries (Charter Section 4) 

The bill provides the legal description of the boundaries of the District. 

Membership, Powers, and Duties of the Board of Supervisors (Charter Section 5) 

The bill provides for a five-member board (Board), with each member serving a four-year term. 
Members of the Board must be both Florida residents and United States citizens. 

A meeting of the landowners of the district must be held within 90 days after the effective date of the 
act. Notice of the meeting must be provided once a week for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the area of the District. The landowners present at the meeting will elect a chair 
from among attendees to conduct the meeting. The chair may nominate candidates and make motions 
if that person is a landowner or holds the proxy of a landowner. The landowners present constitute a 
quorum, even if they represent less than 50 percent of the total acreage of the district, and may elect 
members of the governing board. The three candidates for the Board receiving the first, second, and 
third highest number of votes are elected to terms expiring November 17, 2024, while the two 
candidates receiving the fourth and fifth highest number of votes are elected to terms expiring 
November 20, 2022. 

Each landowner is entitled to one vote for each acre owned. Any fractional acre is treated as one acre 
for the purposes of the landowner vote. Landowners who are unable to attend may cast their votes by 
proxy. Subsequent landowners elections must be announced at a public meeting at least 90 days 
before the landowners meeting and noticed in the same manner as the initial landowners meeting. 
Subsequent elections to the Board occur on the first Tuesday after the first Monday of November in 
every two years. 

The bill provides for a transition of the Board from being elected by landowners to the qualified electors 
residing in the district on the following schedule: 

Number of QU,alified. Ettctors 11~ 
.. ' .· . 01 111 

'.~ ,, .. '. .. '.{' > ',. • .. 

0-15,021 
15,022-30,043 
30,044-45,065 
45,066-60,087 
60,088-75, 109 
75,110 or more 

STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

Number of18tj1rd1Mimbers ' .. Number of Board M.enfl>ers .. 
: Elected ;by landowners !~ ~1ected by QualifiedJ;LElttctors . 

5 0 
4 1 
3 2 
2 3 
1 4 
0 5 

PAGE: 7 



The bill states that the transition to a Board seat elected by the qualified electors of the District does not 
require an election to occur prior to the expiration of the existing Board member's term. 

On or before June 1 of each election year, the Board must determine the number of qualified electors in 
the District as of April 15 of that year. The Board must consult the records of the Brevard and Volusia 
County Supervisor of Elections, Property Appraiser, and Tax Collector when making this determination. 

Members of the Board elected by qualified electors are selected at-large in non-partisan elections. 
Board members must be qualified electors of the District. Candidates to be elected by the qualified 
electors are required to abide by provisions of the Florida Election Code. 

The bill provides that the Governor may remove a Board member for malfeasance, misfeasance, 
dishonesty, incompetency, or failure to perform the duties imposed upon him or her by the act. In the 
event of a vacancy, the remaining members of the Board may make an appointment to serve the 
remainder of the unexpired term, unless the vacancy was created by the Governor removing the Board 
member, in which case the Governor makes an appointment to fill the vacancy. 

The Board is required to elect a chair and a secretary, as well as other officers the Board deems 
necessary. The secretary does not have to be a member of the board. 

The Board is required to keep a record of its proceedings containing all meeting, resolutions, bonds, 
and any corporate acts. The record book and other district records must be open to inspection by the 
public as required by ch. 119, F.S. 

Members of the Board may receive compensation up to the amount authorized for the supervisors of a 
community development district and are entitled to travel and per diem expenses as provided in s. 
112.061, F.S.56 

Members of the Board must meet ethics and conflict of interest provisions under general law for local 
public officials.57 

The bill prohibits the district from levying ad valorem taxes until such time all members of the Board are 
elected by qualified electors of the District.58 

General Duties of the Board (Charter Section 6) 

District Manager and Treasurer 

The Board is required to employ a district manager to oversee any improvements or facilities 
constructed by the District. The bill specifies that employing a Board member, district manager, or other 
employee of a landowner as the district manager for the District does not constitute a conflict of interest 
under ch. 112, F.S. The district manager is permitted to hire additional employees as necessary and 
authorized by the board. 

The Board is also required to hire a treasurer, who must be a resident of the state. The treasurer 
manages the finances of the district and may be granted other powers as the Board finds appropriate. 
The compensation of the treasurer is set by the Board and the Board may require the treasurer to post 
a surety bond. The bill requires that the financial records of the Board be audited by an independent 

56 S. 190.006(8) provides that supervisors of a community development district may receive compensation of no greater than $200 per 
meeting and no more than $4,800 per year, unless a higher amount is approved by electors in a referendum. 
57 See Ch. 112, Part III, F.S. (code of ethics for public officers and employees), 
58 The Board must also receive voter approval before levying ad valorem taxes. See art. VII, s. 9, Fla. Const. (special districts may 
levy ad valorem taxes at a "millage authorized by law approved by vote of the electors.") 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC PAGE: 8 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



certified public accountant in accordance with general law requirements.59 The Board, in conjunction 
with the treasurer, is required to select a qualified public depository for the funds of the District. 

Budget and Reporting 

The district manager is required to prepare a proposed budget on or before July 15 of each year for 
consideration by the Board. The budget must contain all expenditures of the District and estimates of 
projected revenues. The Board may make amendments to the proposed budget before approval. The 
Board is required to provide adequate notice of the budget hearing. The Board must adopt a final 
budget before October 1, the beginning of its fiscal year. The Board must submit a copy of the budget 
to the respective Boards of County Commissioners for Brevard County and Volusia County and the City 
of Edgewater City Council for informational purpose at least 60 days prior to its adoption. 

The Board must provide both the respective Boards of County Commissioners for Brevard County and 
Volusia County and the City of Edgewater City Council with a copy of the District's public facilities 
report as required bys. 189.08, F.S. 

The District will provide full disclosure of its public financing and maintenance of improvements to real 
property to all existing and prospective residents of the District. The District must provide each 
developer of a residential development within the district with sufficient copies of the information to 
provide to each prospective purchaser. The District must also file the disclosure documents in the 
property records of the county. 

The bill provides that the District must maintain an official website by the end of its first full fiscal year, 
as required bys. 189.069, F.S. 

General Powers 

The bill grants the District the following general powers to: 

• Conduct business on behalf of the district, including suing or being sued, adopting a seal, and 
acquiring and disposing of property; 

• Apply for Florida Retirement System coverage for its employees; 
• Contract for professional services; 
• Conduct financial transactions for district purposes; 
• Adopt and enforce rules; 
• Maintain an office; 
• Hold, control, purchase, or dispose of public easements; 
• Lease as lessor or lessee any type of project the District is authorized to undertake; 
• Borrow money and issue bonds as authorized in the act and to levy taxes and assessments; 
• Charge user fees as necessary to conduct District activities; 
• Exercise eminent domain;60 

• Cooperate with other government entities; 
• Assess and impose ad valorem taxes, as provided in the act; 
• Levy and impose maintenance taxes, if authorized by general law; 
• Levy and impose special assessments; 

59 As an independent special district, the District will be required to maintain a public website on which it must post its annual budget 
and any amendments, all financial reports and audits of the District's finances required by law, and a link to the Department of 
Financial Services' website. Ss 189.016, 189.069, F.S. The District must file a separate annual financial statement with the 
Department of Financial Services, under s. 218.32, F.S., and periodic audited financial statements with the Florida Auditor General, 
under s. 218.39, F.S. 
60 The Board may exercise eminent domain within the boundaries of the District without additional approval. The Board may only 
exercise eminent domain outside the boundaries of the district with approval from a general purpose local government (the 
municipality, for lands in an incorporated area; the county, for lands in unincorporated areas). 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC PAGE: 9 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



• Exercise special powers; and 
• Exercise powers necessary and proper for fulfilling the special and limited purpose of the district 

as authorized by this act. 

Special Powers 

The bill also grants the District special powers to implement its lawful and special purpose and to 
provide the following systems and infrastructure for those special and limited purposes: 

• Water management and control, including irrigation systems and facilities, for the lands within 
the District and to connect some or any of such facilities with roads and bridges; 

• Water supply, sewer, wastewater, and reclaimed water management, reclamation, and reuse, 
provided it does not impair or alter the City of Edgewater's utility service areas; 

• Bridges, culverts, wildlife corridors, or road crossings that may be needed across any drain, 
ditch, canal, floodway, holding basin, or other body of water; 

• District roads equal to or exceeding specifications of the county in which the roads are located, 
and street lighting; 

• Buses, trolleys, rail access, mass transit facilities, transit shelters, ridesharing facilities and 
services, parking improvements, and related signage; 

• Investigation and remediation costs associated with the cleanup of actual or perceived 
environmental contamination within the District; 

• Observation, mitigation, wetland creation, and wildlife habitat areas; 
• Parks and facilities for indoor and outdoor recreational, cultural, and educational uses; 
• School buildings and related structures, which may be leased, sold, or donated to the school 

district; 
• Security;61 

• Control and elimination of mosquitoes and other arthropods of public health importance; 
• Enter into impact fee, mobility fee, or other similar credit agreements with Brevard County, 

Volusia County, City of Edgewater, other governmental bodies, or a landowner developer and to 
see or assign such credits, on terms the District deems appropriate; 

• Buildings and structures for District offices, maintenance facilities, meeting facilities, town 
centers, or other authorized projects; 

• Establish and create, at noticed meetings, such governmental departments of the governing 
board. 

• Sustainable or green infrastructure improvements, facilities, and services;62 

• Any facilities or improvements that may otherwise be provided by a county or municipality, 
including, but not limited to, libraries, annexes, substations, and other buildings to house public 
officials, staff, and employees; 

• Waste collection and disposal, provided that it does not impair or alter the City of Edgewater's 
provision of solid waste management services within the city limits; 

• Construction and operation of communications systems and related infrastructure;63 

• Health care facilities, including the ability to enter public-private partnerships and agreements as 
necessary to accomplish this task; 

• Enter into interlocal agreements with any public or private entity for the provision of an institution 
or institutions of higher education; and 

• Any other project within or without the boundaries of the district when the project is subject to an 
agreement between the District and the Brevard and Volusia County Boards of County 

61 The District may contract with the appropriate local general purpose government agencies for an increased level of services within 
the district boundaries. 
62 The bill provides that this provision does not authorize the District to provide electric services or otherwise impair electric utility 
franchise agreements. 
63 The bill provides that this provision does not authorize the District to provide communication services to retail customers or 
otherwise impair existing service provider franchise agreement. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC PAGE: 10 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



Commissioners or with any other applicable public or private entity, and is not inconsistent with 
effective local comprehensive plans or the general of special powers contained in the bill. 

Financing and Bonds 

The Board has the power to issue bond anticipation notes that will bear interest not to exceed the 
maximum rate allowed by law and that will mature no later than five years from issuance. The Board 
may also obtain loans and issue negotiable notes, warrants, or other evidence of debt. payable at such 
times and bearing such interest as the Board determines, but not to exceed the maximum rate allowed 
by general law and to be sold or discounted at such price or prices not less than 95 percent of par 
value. Bonds may be sold in blocks or installment at different times, at public or private sale after 
advertisement, at not less than 90 percent of the par value, together with accrued interest. The Board 
also has the authority to issue refunding bonds, revenue bonds, and general obligation bonds.64 

The bill authorizes the Board to levy ad valorem taxes on all taxable property in the District, but only 
after the Board is elected by and consists of qualified electors of the district and the levy has been 
approved at a referendum as required by Art. VII, s. 9 of the Florida Constitution. This levy may not 
exceed 3.0 mills. 

The Board annually must determine, order, and levy the annual installment of the total benefit special 
assessments for bonds issued and related expenses to finance assessable improvements. These 
assessments are collected annually in the same manner as county taxes. The board may determine a 
formula for the determination of an amount, which when paid by a taxpayer with respect to any tax 
parcel, constitutes a prepayment of all future annual installments of the benefit special assessment. 

The Board is authorized to levy a non-ad valorem maintenance tax, if such tax is ever authorized by 
general law, to maintain and preserve physical facilities and services in the District and to defray 
current expenses. Upon the completion of the facilities and services, the District would be able to levy 
annually a non-ad valorem and non-millage tax upon each tract or parcel of land within the district, 
based on the net assessment of benefits accruing from the original construction of the improvements. 
This tax would be paid and enforceable in the same manner as county ad valorem taxes. 

The Board may levy a maintenance special assessment to preserve the facilities and projects of the 
District. The amount of the assessment is determined by the Board upon a report of the District's 
engineer and assessed by the Board upon the land within the District benefited by the maintenance, or 
apportioned between the benefited lands in proportion to the benefits received by each tract of land. 
The assessment is a lien on the assessed property until paid and enforceable in the same manner as 
county taxes. However, this does not prohibit the District from using the method prescribed in ss. 
197.363, 197.3631, or 197.3632, F.S., for enforcing and collecting these assessments. 

The District may establish and collect rates, fees, rentals, or other charges, referred to as "revenues", 
for the system and facilities furnished by the District such as recreational facilities, water management 
and control facilities, and water, sewer, and reuse systems. The District must hold a public hearing 
concerning the proposed rates, fees, rentals, or other charges, which may not apply to District leases, 
prior to adoption under the administrative rulemaking authority of the District. 

Any rates, fees, rentals, charges, or delinquent penalties not paid within 60 days, will be in default and 
the unpaid balance together with reasonable attorney fees and costs may be recovered by the District 
in a civil action. In addition, in the event fees, rentals, or other charges for water and sewer, or either of 
them, are not paid when due, the District may, under rules and regulations of the Board, discontinue 
and shut off both water and sewer services until such fees, rentals, or other charges, including interest, 
penalties, and charges for the shutting off and restoration of service are fully paid. 

64 The charter specifies that a default on a bond or obligation of the district does not constitute a debt or obligation on behalf of the 
state or any general-purpose local government. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC PAGE: 11 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



Enforcement of Taxes and Assessments 

The collection and enforcement of all taxes levied by the District is in the same manner as county 
taxes, and the provisions of general law relating to the sale of lands for unpaid and delinquent county 
taxes pertain to the collection of such taxes. Benefit special assessments, maintenance special 
assessments, and special assessments are non-ad valorem assessments as defined bys. 197.3632, 
F.S. Maintenance taxes are non-ad valorem taxes and not special assessments. 

Any property of a governmental entity subject to a ground lease a described ins. 190.003(13), F.S., is 
not subject to lien or encumbrance on the underlying fee interest for a levy of ad valorem taxes or non
ad valorem assessments under this bill. 

Competitive Bidding and Public Notice Regarding District Purchases 

Any contract for goods, supplies, or materials that exceeds $195,00065 is subject to competitive bidding 
through notice of bids published once in a newspaper of general circulation in Brevard and Volusia 
Counties. In addition, if the Board seeks to construct or improve a public building, structure or other 
public works it must comply with the bidding procedures ins. 255.20, F.S., and other applicable general 
law. The Board must accept the bid of the lowest responsive and responsible bidder unless all bids 
have been rejected. The provisions of the Consultants Competitive Negotiation Act ins. 287.055, F.S., 
apply to contracts for engineering, architecture, landscape architecture, or registered surveying and 
mapping services. 

Contracts for maintenance services that exceed $195,00066 are subject to competitive bidding. All 
contracts for other services are not subject to competitive bidding unless the District adopts a rule, 
policy, or procedure to apply competitive bidding procedures to those contracts. The Board may require 
bidders to supply a bond. 

Waiver of Sovereign Immunity 

Any suits against the District for damages arising out of tort are subject to the limitations provided in s. 
768.28, F.S. 

Termination, Contraction, or Expansion of the District 

The bill requires the Board of the District to obtain a resolution or official statement of support from both 
the respective Boards of County Commissioners for Brevard County and Volusia County and the City of 
Edgewater City Council before asking the Legislature to expand or contract the District. The bill states 
that the District exists until dissolved by the Legislature or declared inactive by the Department of 
Economic Opportunity.67 

Notice to Purchasers of Property 

After the creation of the District, each contract for initial sale of a residential unit within the District must 
include a disclosure statement informing the purchaser of the existence of the District and that the 
purchase will be liable for taxes, assessments, and fees imposed by the District. 

65 See s. 287.017(1 )( d), F.S. ( creating purchasing categories for procurement of personal property and services). 
66 See Id. 
67 S. 189.062, F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 12 



Public Access 

Any facility, service, works, improvement, project, or other infrastructure owned by the District, or 
funded by federal tax exempt bonding issued by the District, is public. The District may establish rules 
regulating the use of the property and imposing reasonable charges or fees for such use. 

Merger with Community Development Districts 

The bill provides that the District may merge with one or more community development districts 
situated wholly within its boundaries. Any community development district within the boundaries of the 
District may initiate the merger process by filing a written request for merger with the District, Brevard 
and Volusia Counties, and the City of Edgewater. 

The District, with Board approval, may enter into a merger agreement with the CDD to provide for the 
allocation and retirement of debt, transition of the CDD board, and the transfer of all financial 
obligations and operating and maintenance responsibilities to the District. The bill provides execution of 
the merger agreement between the District and the CDD shall constitute consent by the landowners 
within each district. 

The District and each CDD requesting merger is required to hold a public hearing within their respective 
boundaries to provide information and take public comment. The hearing must be held within 45 days 
after the execution of the merger agreement and must be noticed in a newspaper of general circulation 
in Brevard County and Volusia County at least 14 days before the hearing. At the conclusion of the 
hearing, the respective districts are required to adopt a resolution approving or disapproving of the 
proposed merger. If the merger is approved, the resolutions and merger agreement must be filed with 
Brevard County, Volusia County and the City of Edgewater. Upon receipt of the resolutions and merger 
agreement, the county or city which originally established the CCD is required to adopt an ordinance 
dissolving each CDD pursuant to s. 190.046(10), F.S. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Provides short title. 

Section 2: Provides legislative findings and intent; definitions. 

Section 3: 

Section 4: 

Creates the Deering Park Stewardship District and provides a charter for the District 

Provides the legal description of the District. 

Section 5: Provides membership, meetings, and organization of Board of Supervisors; provides 
powers, duties, terms of office of Board. 

Section 6: 

Section 7: 

Provides general duties of Board. 

Provides for severability of the act. 

Section 8: Provides that the bill is effective upon becoming a law, except that the provisions 
authorizing the levy of ad valorem taxation take effect only upon approval by a majority vote of qualified 
voters in a referendum to be held after such time when all members of the Board are qualified electors 
of the district. 

STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

II. NOTICE/REFERENDUM AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
PAGE: 13 



A. NOTICE PUBLISHED? Yes [X] No 0 

IF YES, WHEN? November 26 and 27, 2019. 

WHERE? The News-Journal, a daily newspaper of general circulation in Volusia County (Nov. 26, 
2019), and Florida Today, a daily newspaper of general circulation in Brevard County (Nov. 27, 2019). 

B. REFERENDUM(S) REQUIRED? Yes [X] No[] 

IF YES, WHEN? A referendum must be held when all members of the board are qualified electors, 
elected by qualified electors, if the board seeks to levy ad valorem taxes. 

C. LOCAL BILL CERTIFICATION FILED? Yes [X] No[] 

D. ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT FILED? Yes [X] No[] 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The bill requires rules and orders adopted by the District pertaining to the powers, duties, and functions 
of the officers of the district, the conduct of the business of the District, the maintenance of records, the 
form of certificates evidencing tax liens and all other documents and records of the District, and the 
operation of guardhouses by the District or any other unit of local government to serve security 
purposes, to be adopted and enforced pursuant to ch. 120, F.S., the Administrative Procedure Act. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

Exceptions to General Law 

Sections 5(2) and 5(3) of Section 5 of the bill provides for the composition of the Board of the District, 
including the process for transitioning from a Board elected on a one-acre/one-vote basis to an election 
by the qualified electors of the District. The transition process provided by the bill is in lieu of the 
process provided in s.189.041, F.S. 

Pursuant to House Rule 5.5(b ), a local bill providing an exemption from general law may not be placed 
on the Special Order Calendar for expedited consideration. The provisions of House Rule 5.5(b) appear 
to apply to this bill. 

Powers of Community Development Districts 

Although the District is created pursuant to ch. 189, F.S., the bill proposes to give the district 
future powers that may be included in ch. 190, F.S., relating to CDDs as follows: 

Any amendments to chapter 190, Florida Statutes, after January 1, 2020, granting 
additional general powers, special powers, authorities, or projects to a community 
development district by amendment to its uniform charter contained in ss. 190.006-
190.041, Florida Statutes, which are not inconsistent with this act, shall constitute a 
general power, special power, authority, or function of the District. 

STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 14 



Therefore, if the Legislature amends ch. 190, F.S., to grant CDDs additional authority at any time in the 
future, the bill provides that such additional authority will be granted to the District without further 
Legislative review or enactment. 

STORAGE NAME: h1303b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

PAGE: 15 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1303 2020 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to Brevard and Volusia Counties; 

3 creating the Deering Park Stewardship District; 

4 providing a short title; providing legislative 

5 findings and intent; providing definitions; stating 

6 legislative policy regarding creation of the District; 

7 establishing compliance with minimum requirements in 

8 s. 189.031(3), F.S., for creation of an independent 

9 special district; providing for creation and 

10 establishment of the District; providing District 

11 boundaries; providing for the jurisdiction and charter 

12 of the District; providing for a governing board and 

13 establishing membership criteria and election 

14 procedures; providing for board members' terms of 

15 office; providing for board meetings; providing for 

16 administrative duties of the board; providing a method 

17 for election of the board; providing for a District 

18 manager and District personnel; providing for a 

19 District treasurer, selection of a public depository, 

20 and District budgets and financial reports; providing 

21 for the general powers of the District; providing for 

22 the special powers of the District to plan, finance, 

23 and provide community infrastructure and services 

24 within the District; providing for bonds; providing 

25 for future ad valorem taxation; providing for special 

Page 1 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1303 2020 

26 assessments; providing for authority to borrow money; 

27 providing for tax liens; providing for competitive 

28 procurement; providing for fees and charges; providing 

29 for amendment to the charter; providing for required 

30 notices to purchasers of units within the District; 

31 defining District public property; providing for 

32 construction; providing severability; providing for a 

33 referendum; providing effective dates. 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

41 

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

Section 1. This act may be cited as the "Deering Park 

Stewardship District Act." 

Section 2. Legislative findings and intent; definitions; 

policy.-

(1) LEGISLATIVE INTENT AND PURPOSE OF THE DISTRICT.-

(a) The extensive lands located wholly within Brevard and 

Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater and covered by this 

act contain many opportunities for thoughtful, comprehensive, 

responsible, and consistent development over a long period. 

(b) There is a need to use a special and limited purpose 

independent special district unit of local government for the 

Deering Park Stewardship District (District) lands located 

within Brevard and Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater 

and covered by this act to provide for a more comprehensive 

Page 2 of 124 

CODING: Words striokeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

65 

66 

67 

68 

69 

70 

71 

72 

73 

74 

75 

HB 1303 

conservation and conununity development approach, which will 

facilitate an integral relationship between conservation, 

regional transportation, land use, and urban design to provide 

for a diverse mix of housing and regional employment and 

economic development opportunities, rather than fragmented 

development with underutilized infrastructure generally 

associated with urban sprawl. 

2020 

(c) There is a considerably long period of time during 

which there is a significant burden to provide various systems, 

facilities, and services on the initial landowners of the 

District lands, such that there is a need for flexible 

management, sequencing, timing, and financing of the various 

systems, facilities, and services to be provided to these lands, 

taking into consideration absorption rates, conunercial 

viability, and related factors. 

(d) While chapter 190, Florida Statutes, provides an 

opportunity for previous conununity development services and 

facilities to be provided by the continued use of conununity 

development districts in a manner that furthers the public 

interest, given the size of District lands and the duration of 

development, continuing to utilize multiple conununity 

development districts over these lands would result in an 

inefficient, duplicative, and needless proliferation of local 

special purpose governments, contrary to the public interest and 

the Legislature's findings in chapter 190, Florida Statutes. 

Page 3 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

76 

77 

78 

79 

80 

81 

82 

83 

84 

85 

86 

87 

88 

89 

90 

91 

92 

93 

94 

95 

96 

97 

98 

99 

100 

HB 1303 2020 

Instead, it is in the public interest that the long-range 

provision for, and management, financing, and long-term 

maintenance, upkeep, and operation of, services and facilities 

to be provided for ultimate development and conservation of the 

lands covered by this act be under one coordinated entity. The 

creation of a single District will assist in integrating the 

management of state resources and allow for greater and more 

coordinated stewardship of natural resources. 

(e) Longer involvement of the initial landowner with 

regard to the provision of systems, facilities, and services for 

the District lands, coupled with the special and limited purpose 

of the District, is in the public interest. 

(f) The existence and use of such a special and limited 

purpose local government for the District lands, subject to 

Brevard County, Volusia County, and the City of Edgewater 

comprehensive plans, will provide for a comprehensive and 

complete community development approach to promote a sustainable 

and efficient land use pattern for the District lands with long

term planning for green infrastructure and conservation areas 

which require perpetual protection and stewardship as well as 

sustainably planned development; provide opportunities for the 

mitigation of impacts and development of infrastructure in an 

orderly and timely manner; prevent the overburdening of the 

general-purpose local government and the taxpayers; and provide 

an enhanced tax base and regional employment and economic 

Page 4 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

101 

102 

103 

104 

105 

106 

107 

108 

109 

110 

111 

112 

113 

114 

115 

116 

117 

118 

119 

120 

121 

122 

123 

124 

125 

HB 1303 2020 

development opportunities. 

(g) The creation and establishment of the District will 

encourage local government financial self-sufficiency in 

providing public facilities and in identifying and implementing 

fiscally sound, innovative, and cost-effective techniques to 

provide and finance public facilities while encouraging 

sustainable development, use, and coordination of capital 

improvement plans by all levels of government, in accordance 

with the goals of chapter 187, Florida Statutes. 

(h) The creation and establishment of the District is a 

legitimate supplemental and alternative method available to 

manage, own, operate, construct, and finance both green and 

capital infrastructure systems, facilities, and services. 

(i) In order to be responsive to the critical timing 

required through the exercise of its special management 

functions, the District requires financing of those functions, 

including bondable, lienable, and nonlienable revenue, with full 

and continuing public disclosure and accountability, funded by 

landowners, both present and future, and funded also by users of 

the systems, facilities, and services provided to the land area 

by the District, without unduly burdening the taxpayers, 

citizens, and ratepayers of the state or Brevard County, Volusia 

County, or the City of Edgewater. 

(j) The District created and established by this act shall 

not have or exercise any comprehensive planning, zoning, or 

Page 5 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

126 

127 

128 

129 

130 

131 

132 

133 

134 

135 

136 

137 

138 

139 

140 

141 

142 

143 

144 

145 

146 

147 

148 

149 

150 

HB 1303 2020 

development permitting power; the establishment of the District 

shall not be considered a development order within the meaning 

of chapter 380, Florida Statutes; and all applicable planning 

and permitting laws, rules, regulations, and policies of Brevard 

and Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater continue to 

control the conservation and development of the land to be 

serviced by the District. 

(k) The creation by this act of the District is not 

inconsistent with Brevard County, Volusia County, or the City of 

Edgewater comprehensive plans. 

(1) The creation by this act of the District does not 

affect any of the existing conservation easements that have been 

recorded on portions of the property. 

(m) It is the legislative intent and purpose that no debt 

or obligation of the District constitute a burden on Brevard 

County, Volusia County, or the City of Edgewater. 

(2) DEFINITIONS.-As used in this act: 

(a) "Ad valorem bonds" means bonds that are payable from 

the proceeds of ad valorem taxes levied on real and tangible 

personal property and that are generally referred to as general 

obligation bonds. 

(b) "Assessable improvements'• means, without limitation, 

any and all public improvements and community facilities that 

the District is empowered to provide in accordance with this act 

that provide a special benefit to property within the District. 

Page 6 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

151 

152 

153 

154 

155 

156 

157 

158 

159 

160 

161 

162 

163 

164 

165 

166 

167 

168 

169 

170 

171 

172 

173 

174 

175 

HB 1303 2020 

(c) "Assessment bonds" means special obligations of the 

District which are payable solely from proceeds of the special 

assessments or benefit special assessments levied for assessable 

improvements, provided that, in lieu of issuing assessment bonds 

to fund the costs of assessable improvements, the District may 

issue revenue bonds for such purposes payable from assessments. 

(d) "Assessments" means those nonmillage District 

assessments which include special assessments, benefit special 

assessments, and maintenance special assessments and a 

nonmillage, non-ad valorem maintenance tax if authorized by 

general law. 

(e) "Benefit special assessments" means District 

assessments imposed, levied, and collected pursuant to the 

provisions of paragraph ( 12) (b) of section 6. 

( f) "Board of supervisors" or "board" means the governing 

body of the District or, if such board has been abolished, the 

board, body, or commission assuming the principal functions 

thereof or to whom the powers given to the board by this act 

have been given by law. 

(g) "Bond" includes "certificate," and the provisions that 

are applicable to bonds are equally applicable to certificates. 

The term also includes any general obligation bond, assessment 

bond, refunding bond, revenue bond, bond anticipation note, and 

other such obligation in the nature of a bond as is provided for 

in this act. 

Page 7 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

176 

177 

178 

179 

180 

181 

182 

183 

184 

185 

186 

187 

188 

189 

190 

191 

192 

193 

194 

195 

196 

197 

198 

199 

200 

HB 1303 2020 

(h) "Cost" or "costs," when used in reference to any 

project, includes, but is not limited to: 

1. The expenses of determining the feasibility or 

practicability of acquisition, construction, or reconstruction. 

2. The cost of surveys, estimates, plans, and 

specifications. 

3. The cost of improvements. 

4. Engineering, architectural, fiscal, and legal expenses 

and charges. 

5. The cost of all labor, materials, machinery, and 

equipment. 

6. The cost of all lands, properties, rights, easements, 

and franchises acquired. 

7. Financing charges. 

8. The creation of initial reserve and debt service funds. 

9. Working capital. 

10. Interest charges incurred or estimated to be incurred 

on money borrowed prior to and during construction and 

acquisition and for such reasonable period of time after 

completion of construction or acquisition as the board may 

determine. 

11. The cost of issuance of bonds pursuant to this act, 

including advertisements and printing. 

12. The cost of any bond or tax referendum held pursuant 

to this act and all other expenses of issuance of bonds. 

Page 8 of 124 

CODING: Words strisken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

201 

202 

203 

204 

205 

206 

207 

208 

209 

210 

211 

212 

213 

214 

215 

216 

217 

218 

219 

220 

221 

222 

223 

224 

225 

HB 1303 

13. The discount, if any, on the sale or exchange of 

bonds. 

14. Administrative expenses. 

2020 

15. Such other expenses as may be necessary or incidental 

to the acquisition, construction, or reconstruction of any 

project, or to the financing thereof, or to the development of 

any lands within the District. 

16. Payments, contributions, dedications, and any other 

exactions required as a condition of receiving any governmental 

approval or permit necessary to accomplish any District purpose. 

17. Any other expense or payment permitted by this act or 

allowable by law. 

(i) "Deering Park Stewardship District" means the unit of 

special and limited purpose local government and political 

subdivision created and chartered by this act, and limited to 

the performance of those general and special powers authorized 

by its charter under this act, the boundaries of which are set 

forth by the act, the governing board of which is created and 

authorized to operate with legal existence by this act, and the 

purpose of which is as set forth in this act. 

( j) "District" means the Deering Park Stewardship 

District. 

(k) "District manager" means the manager of the District. 

( l) "District roads" means highways, streets, roads, 

alleys, intersection improvements, sidewalks, crossings, 

Page 9 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

226 

227 

228 

229 

230 

231 

232 

233 

234 

235 

236 

237 

238 

239 

240 

241 

242 

243 

244 

245 

246 

247 

248 

249 

250 

HB 1303 

landscaping, irrigation, signage, signalization, storm drains, 

bridges, multi-use trails, lighting, and thoroughfares of all 

kinds. 

(m) "General obligation bonds" means bonds which are 

secured by, or provide for their payment by, the pledge of the 

full faith and credit and taxing power of the District. 

2020 

(n) "Governing board member" means any member of the board 

of supervisors. 

(o) "Land development regulations" means those regulations 

of the general-purpose local government, adopted under the 

Community Planning Act, codified as part II of chapter 163, 

Florida Statutes, to which the District is subject and as to 

which the District may not do anything that is inconsistent 

therewith. Land development regulations shall not mean specific 

management, engineering, operations, or capital improvement 

planning, needed in the daily management, implementation, and 

supplying by the District of systems, facilities, services, 

works, improvements, projects, or infrastructure, so long as 

they remain subject to and are not inconsistent with the 

applicable county or city codes. 

(p) "Landowner" means the owner of a freehold estate as it 

appears on the deed record, including a trustee, a private 

corporation, and an owner of a condominium unit. "Landowner" 

does not include a reversioner, remainderman, mortgagee, or any 

governmental entity which shall not be counted and need not be 

Page 10 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

251 

252 

253 

254 

255 

256 

257 

258 

259 

260 

261 

262 

263 

264 

265 

266 

267 

268 

269 

270 

271 

272 

273 

274 

275 

HB 1303 

notified of proceedings under this act. "Landowner" also means 

the owner of a ground lease from a governmental entity, which 

leasehold interest has a remaining term, excluding all renewal 

options, in excess of 50 years. 

(q) "General-purpose local government" means a county, 

municipality, or consolidated city-county government. 

( r) "Maintenance special assessments" are assessments 

imposed, levied, and collected pursuant to the provisions of 

paragraph ( 12) ( d) of section 6. 

(s) "Non-ad valorem assessment" means only those 

assessments which are not based upon millage and which can 

become a lien against a homestead as permitted ins. 4, Art. X 

of the State Constitution. 

2020 

(t) "Powers" means powers used and exercised by the board 

of supervisors to accomplish the special and limited purpose of 

the District, including: 

1. "General powers," which means those organizational and 

administrative powers of the District as provided in its charter 

in order to carry out its special and limited purpose as a local 

government public body corporate and politic. 

2. "Special powers," which means those powers enumerated 

by the District charter to implement its specialized systems, 

facilities, services, projects, improvements, and infrastructure 

and related functions in order to carry out its special and 

limited purposes. 

Page 11 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

276 

277 

278 

279 

280 

281 

282 

283 

284 

285 

286 

287 

288 

289 

290 

291 

292 

293 

294 

295 

296 

297 

298 

299 

300 

HB 1303 2020 

3. Any other powers, authority, or functions set forth in 

this act. 

(u) "Project" means any development, improvement, 

property, power, utility, facility, enterprise, service, system, 

works, or infrastructure now existing or hereafter undertaken or 

established under the provisions of this act. 

(v) "Qualified elector" means any person at least 18 years 

of age who is a citizen of the United States and a legal 

resident of the state and of the District and who registers to 

vote with either of the Supervisors of Elections in Brevard 

County or Volusia County and resides in Brevard County or 

Volusia County. 

(w) "Reclaimed water" means water, including from wells or 

stormwater management facilities, that has received at least 

secondary treatment and basic disinfection and is reused after 

flowing out of a domestic wastewater treatment facility, or 

otherwise as an approved use of surface water or groundwater by 

the water management district. 

(x) "Reclaimed water system" means any plant, well, 

system, facility, or property, and any addition, extension, or 

improvement thereto at any future time constructed or acquired 

as part thereof, useful, necessary, or having the present 

capacity for future use in connection with the development of 

sources, treatment, purification, or distribution of reclaimed 

water. The term includes franchises of any nature relating to 

Page 12 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

301 

302 

303 

304 

305 

306 

307 

308 

309 

310 

311 

312 

313 

314 

315 

316 

317 

318 

319 

320 

321 

322 

323 

324 

325 

HB 1303 

any such system and necessary or convenient for the operation 

thereof including for the District's own use or resale. 

2020 

(y) "Refunding bonds" means bonds issued to refinance 

outstanding bonds of any type and the interest and redemption 

premium thereon. Refunding bonds may be issuable and payable in 

the same manner as refinanced bonds, except that no approval by 

the electorate shall be required unless required by the State 

Constitution. 

( z) "Revenue bonds" means obligations of the District that 

are payable from revenues, including, but not limited to, 

special assessments and benefit special assessments, derived 

from sources other than ad valorem taxes on real or tangible 

personal property and that do not pledge the property, credit, 

or general tax revenue of the District. 

(aa) "Sewer system" means any plant, system, facility, or 

property, and additions, extensions, and improvements thereto at 

any future time constructed or acquired as part thereof, useful 

or necessary or having the present capacity for future use in 

connection with the collection, treatment, purification, or 

disposal of sewage, including, but not limited to, industrial 

wastes resulting from any process of industry, manufacture, 

trade, or business or from the development of any natural 

resource. The term also includes treatment plants, pumping 

stations, lift stations, valves, force mains, intercepting 

sewers, laterals, pressure lines, mains, and all necessary 

Page 13 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

326 

327 

328 

329 

330 

331 

332 

333 

334 

335 

336 

337 

338 

339 

340 

341 

342 

343 

344 

345 

346 

347 

348 

349 

350 

HB 1303 2020 

appurtenances and equipment; all sewer mains, laterals, and 

other devices for the reception and collection of sewage from 

premises connected therewith; and all real and personal property 

and any interest therein, and rights, easements, and franchises 

of any nature relating to any such system and necessary or 

convenient for operation thereof. 

(bb) "Special assessments" means assessments as imposed, 

levied, and collected by the District for the costs of 

assessable improvements pursuant to the provisions of this act, 

chapter 170, Florida Statutes, and the additional authority 

under s. 197.3631, Florida Statutes, or other provisions of 

general law, now or hereinafter enacted, which provide or 

authorize a supplemental means to impose, levy, or collect 

special assessments. 

(cc) "Taxes" or "tax" means those levies and impositions 

of the board of supervisors that support and pay for government 

and the administration of law and that may be: 

1. Ad valorem or property taxes based upon both the 

appraised value of property and millage, at a rate uniform 

within the jurisdiction; or 

2. If and when authorized by general law, non-ad valorem 

maintenance taxes not based on millage that are used to maintain 

District systems, facilities, and services. 

(dd) "Water system" means any plant, system, facility, or 

property, and any addition, extension, or improvement thereto at 

Page 14 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

351 

352 

353 

354 

355 

356 

357 

358 

359 

360 

361 

362 

363 

364 

365 

366 

367 

368 

369 

370 

371 

372 

373 

374 

375 

HB 1303 2020 

any future time constructed or acquired as a part thereof, 

useful, necessary, or having the present capacity for future use 

in connection with the development of sources, treatment, 

purification, or distribution of water. The term also includes 

dams, reservoirs, treatment systems, storage tanks, mains, 

lines, valves, pumping stations, laterals, and pipes for the 

purpose of carrying water to the premises connected with such 

system, and all rights, easements, and franchises of any nature 

relating to any such system and necessary or convenient for the 

operation thereof. 

(3) POLICY.-Based upon its findings, ascertainments, 

determinations, intent, purpose, and definitions, the 

Legislature states its policy expressly: 

(a) The District and the District charter, with its 

general and special powers, as created in this act, are 

essential and the best alternative for the residential, 

commercial, office, hotel, healthcare, and other similar 

community uses, projects, or functions in the included portion 

of property consistent with the effective local comprehensive 

plans, and designed to serve a lawful public purpose. 

(b) The District, which is a local government and a 

statutory political subdivision, is limited to its special 

purpose as expressed in this act, with the power to provide, 

plan, implement, construct, maintain, and finance as a local 

government management entity systems, facilities, services, 

Page 15 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

376 

377 

378 

379 

380 

381 

382 

383 

384 

385 

386 

387 

388 

389 

390 

391 

392 

393 

394 

395 

396 

397 

398 

399 

400 

HB 1303 2020 

improvements, infrastructure, and projects, and possessing 

financing powers to fund its management power over the long term 

and with sustained levels of high quality. 

(c) The creation of the District by and pursuant to this 

act, and its exercise of its management and related financing 

powers to implement its limited, single, and special purpose, is 

not a development order and does not trigger or invoke any 

provision within the meaning of chapter 380, Florida Statutes, 

and all applicable governmental planning, environmental, and 

land development laws, regulations, rules, policies, and 

ordinances apply to all development of the land within the 

jurisdiction of the District as created by this act. 

(d) The District shall operate and function subject to, 

and not inconsistent with, the applicable comprehensive plan of 

Brevard and Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater and any 

applicable development orders, zoning regulations, and other 

land development regulations. 

(e) The special and single purpose District shall not have 

the power of a general-purpose local government to adopt a 

comprehensive plan or related land development regulation as 

those terms are defined in the Community Planning Act. 

(f) This act may be a~~nded, in whole or in part, only by 

special act of the Legislature. The board of supervisors of the 

District shall not ask the Legislature to amend this act without 

first obtaining a resolution or official statement from the 

Page 16 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

401 

402 

403 

404 

405 

406 

407 

408 

409 

410 

411 

412 

413 

414 

415 

416 

417 

418 

419 

420 

421 

422 

423 

424 

425 

HB 1303 

District and Brevard and Volusia Counties and the City of 

Edgewater as required by s. 18 9. 031 ( 2) ( e) 4., Florida Statutes, 

for creation of an independent special district. 

Section 3. Minimum charter requirements; creation and 

establishment; jurisdiction; construction; charter.-

(1) Pursuant to s. 189.031(3), Florida Statutes, the 

Legislature sets forth that the minimum requirements in 

paragraphs (a) through (o) have been met in the identified 

provisions of this act as follows: 

2020 

(a) The purpose of the District is set forth in sections 2 

and 3 of this act. 

(b) The powers, functions, and duties of the District 

regarding ad valorem taxation, bond issuance, other revenue

raising capabilities, budget preparation and approval, liens and 

foreclosure of liens, use of tax deeds and tax certificates as 

appropriate for non-ad valorem assessments, and contractual 

agreements are in section 6. 

(c) The methods for establishing the District are in this 

section. 

(d) The methods for amending the charter of the District 

are in section 2. 

(e) The membership and organization of the governing body 

and the establishment of a quorum are in section 5. 

(f) The maximum compensation of each board member is in 

section 5. 

Page 17 of 124 

CODING: Words strioken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

426 

427 

428 

429 

430 

431 

432 

433 

434 

435 

436 

437 

438 

439 

440 

441 

442 

443 

444 

445 

446 

447 

448 

449 

450 

HB 1303 2020 

(g) The administrative duties of the governing body are in 

sections 5 and 6. 

(h) The financial disclosure, noticing, and reporting 

requirements are in sections 5 and 6. 

(i) The procedures and requirements for issuing bonds are 

in section 6. 

(j) The procedures and requirements for elections and 

referenda and the qualifications of an elector of the District 

are in sections 2 and 5. 

(k) The methods for financing the District are in section 

6. 

(1) Other than taxes levied for the payment of bonds and 

taxes levied for periods not longer than 2 years when authorized 

by a vote of the electors of the District, the authority to levy 

ad valorem taxes and the authorized millage rate are in section 

6. 

(m) The methods of collecting non-ad valorem assessments, 

fees, or service charges are in section 6. 

(n) The planning requirements are in this section and 

section 6. 

(o) The geographic boundary limitations of the District 

are in sections 4 and 6. 

(2) The District is created and incorporated as a public 

body corporate and politic, an independent special and limited 

purpose local government, an independent special district, under 

Page 18 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

451 

452 

453 

454 

455 

456 

457 

458 

459 

460 

461 

4 62 

4 63 

4 64 

465 

466 

467 

4 68 

469 

470 

471 

472 

473 

474 

475 

HB 1303 2020 

s. 189.031, Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, and 

as defined in this act and ins. 189.012(3), Florida Statutes, 

as amended from time to time, in and for portions of Brevard and 

Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater. Any amendments to 

chapter 190, Florida Statutes, after January 1, 2020, granting 

additional general powers, special powers, authorities, or 

projects to a community development district by amendment to its 

uniform charter, ss. 190.006-190.041, Florida Statutes, which 

are not inconsistent with the provisions of this act, shall 

constitute a general power, special power, authority, or 

function of the District. All notices for the enactment by the 

Legislature of this special act have been provided pursuant to 

the State Constitution, the Laws of Florida, and the Rules of 

the Florida House of Representatives and of the Florida Senate. 

No referendum subsequent to the effective date of this act is 

required as a condition of establishing the District. Therefore, 

the District, as created by this act, is established on the 

property described in this act. 

(3) The territorial boundary of the District shall embrace 

and include all of that certain real property described in 

section 4. 

(4) The jurisdiction of the District, in the exercise of 

its general and special powers, and in the carrying out of its 

special and limited purposes, is both within the external 

boundaries of the legal description of the District and 

Page 19 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

476 

477 

478 

479 

480 

481 

482 

483 

484 

485 

486 

487 

488 

489 

490 

491 

492 

493 

494 

495 

496 

497 

498 

499 

500 

HB 1303 2020 

extraterritorially when limited to, and as authorized expressly 

elsewhere in, the charter of the District as created in this act 

or applicable general law. This special and limited purpose 

District is created as a public body corporate and politic, and 

local government authority and power is limited by its charter, 

this act, and subject to the provisions of other general laws, 

including chapter 189, Florida Statutes, except that an 

inconsistent provision in this act shall control and the 

District has jurisdiction to perform such acts and exercise such 

authorities, functions, and powers as shall be necessary, 

convenient, incidental, proper, or reasonable for the 

implementation of its special and limited purpose regarding the 

sound planning, provision, acquisition, development, operation, 

maintenance, and related financing of those public systems, 

facilities, services, improvements, projects, and infrastructure 

works as authorized herein, including those necessary and 

incidental thereto. The District shall only exercise any of its 

powers extraterritorially within Brevard and Volusia Counties 

and the City of Edgewater after execution of an interlocal 

agreement between the District and Brevard and Volusia Counties 

and the City of Edgewater consenting to the District's exercise 

of any of such powers within Brevard or Volusia Counties or the 

City of Edgewater as applicable or an applicable development 

order or as part of other land development regulations issued by 

Brevard County, Volusia County, or the City of Edgewater. 

Page 20 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

501 (5) The exclusive charter of the District is this act and, 

502 except as otherwise provided in subsection (2), may be amended 

503 only by special act of the Legislature. 

504 (6) The District shall not avail itself of any provision 

505 in general law that would allow for municipal conversion of any 

506 area within the District boundary that is not currently within a 

507 municipal boundary. 

508 Section 4. Legal description of the District.-The metes 

509 and bounds legal description of the District, within which there 

510 are no parcels of property owned by those who do not wish their 

511 property to be included within the District, is as follows: 

512 

513 

514 

515 

516 

517 

518 

519 

520 

521 

522 

523 

524 

525 

LAND IN VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

A PART OF SECTIONS 32, 33, 34 AND 35, TOWNSHIP 17 

SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

TOGETHER WITH 

SECTIONS 1, 2, A PART OF SECTION 3, SECTIONS 10, 11, 

12, 13, 14, A PART OF SECTION 15, A PART OF SECTION 

22, SECTIONS 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, A PART OF SECTION 

31, SECTIONS 32, 33, 34, 35 AND 36, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, 

RANGE 33 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

TOGETHER WITH 

A PART OF SECTION 6, A PART OF SECTION 7, A PART OF 

SECTION 8, A PART OF SECTION 17, SECTIONS 18, 19, A 

PART OF SECTION 20, SECTIONS 29, 30, 31 AND 32, 

Page 21 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1303 2020 

526 TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, 

527 FLORIDA. 

528 TOGETHER WITH 

529 PART OF LOTS 13B, 14B, 15B, 150, 62 AND 167, 

530 ASSESSOR'S SUBDIVISION OF THE CHARLES SIBBALD GRANT, 

531 AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 3, PAGE 151 OF THE PUBLIC 

532 RECORDS OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

533 TOGETHER WITH 

534 SECTIONS 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, A PART OF SECTION 6, A PART OF 

535 SECTION 7, A PART OF SECTION 8, SECTIONS 9, 10, 11, 

536 12, 13, 14, 15, A PART OF SECTION 16, SECTION 17, A 

537 PART OF SECTION 18, A PART OF SECTION 19, SECTION 20, 

538 A PART OF SECTION 21, SECTION 22, A PART OF SECTION 

539 23, SECTION 24, SECTIONS 25, 26, 27, 28, A PART OF 

540 SECTIONS 29, 32, 33, 34, 35, AND SECTION 36, TOWNSHIP 

541 19 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

542 TOGETHER WITH 

5 4 3 SECT IONS 5 , 6 , 7 , 8 , 1 7 , 1 8 , 1 9 , 2 0 , 2 1 , 2 8 , 2 9 , PART 

544 OF SECTION 30, SECTIONS 31, 32 AND 33, TOWNSHIP 19 

545 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

546 TOGETHER WITH 

547 SECTIONS 1, 12, 13 AND 24, TOWNSHIP 20 SOUTH, RANGE 33 

548 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

549 TOGETHER WITH 

550 SECTION 37, TOWNSHIP 21 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, VOLUSIA 

Page 22 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1303 2020 

551 COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

552 MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

553 FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 

554 18 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, AS THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 

555 RUN N.00°24'00"W. ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 

556 3, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 

557 9268.10 FEET; THENCE S.88°53'11"W., ALONG THE SOUTH 

558 LINE OF SAID SECTION 32, TOWNSHIP 17 SOUTH, RANGE 33 

559 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1121.77 FEET; THENCE 

560 N.01°45'19"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 32, 

561 A DISTANCE OF 1317.75 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST 

562 LINE, RUN ALONG THE NORTH BOUNDARY OF THE CITY OF 

563 EDGEWATER, FLORIDA THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND 

564 DISTANCES: N.88°48'33"E., A DISTANCE OF 5316.14 FEET; 

565 

566 

567 

568 

569 

570 

571 

572 

573 

574 

575 

THENCE N.88°44'53"E., A DISTANCE OF 3973.41 FEET; 

THENCE N.01°45'48"W., A DISTANCE OF 663.33 FEET; 

THENCE N.88°44'07"E., A DISTANCE OF 661. 32 FEET; 

THENCE N. 01 °50 I 32"W.' A DISTANCE OF 1990.46 FEET; 

THENCE N.88°41'49"E., A DISTANCE OF 658.58 FEET; 

THENCE N.88°35'30"E., A DISTANCE OF 5293.35 FEET; 

THENCE N.88°07'12"E., A DISTANCE OF 884.36 FEET TO THE 

WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF INTERSTATE NO. 95 (STATE 

ROAD NO. 9), A 350 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY; THENCE RUN ALONG 

SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND 

DISTANCES; S.29°53'30"E., A DISTANCE OF 452.54 FEET; 

Page 23 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

576 THENCE S.29°52'50"E., A DISTANCE OF 1053.25 FEET; 

577 THENCE S.29°53'2l"E., A DISTANCE OF 1127.04 FEET; 

578 THENCE S.29°53'17"E., A DISTANCE OF 1141.37 FEET; 

579 THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN 

580 S.02°12'11"E., A DISTANCE OF 700.28 FEET; THENCE 

581 N.88°44'42"E., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 

582 35, TOWNSHIP 17 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 

583 370.66 FEET TO THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID 

584 INTERSTATE NO. 95; THENCE RUN ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF 

585 WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: 

586 S.29°52'48"E., A DISTANCE OF 1270.66 FEET; THENCE 

587 S.29°53'49"E., A DISTANCE OF 1005.54 FEET; THENCE 

588 S.29°52'11"E., A DISTANCE OF 825.17 FEET TO A POINT ON 

589 THE ARC OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 

590 8419.42 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 06°23'25", A CHORD 

591 BEARING OF S.26°40'28"E., AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 

592 938.54 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTHERLY ALONG THE ARC OF 

593 SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 939.03 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING 

594 SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN S.00°15'18"W., A 

595 DISTANCE OF 5705.31 FEET TO THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY 

596 LINE OF OPOSSUM CAMP ROAD, AS DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL 

597 RECORDS BOOK 7406, PAGE 1820, OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 

598 7183, PAGE 1323 AND OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 7423, PAGE 

599 614 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA; 

600 THENCE RUN ALONG SAID NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE 

Page 24 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

601 FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: S.89°44'56"E., A 

602 

603 

604 

605 

606 

607 

608 

609 

610 

611 

612 

613 

614 

615 

616 

617 

618 

619 

620 

621 

622 

623 

624 

625 

DISTANCE OF 581.57 FEET; THENCE S.84°27'37"E., A 

DISTANCE OF 969.80 FEET; ,THENCE N.89°39'54"E., A 

DISTANCE OF 333.04 FEET; THENCE N.77°47'22"E., A 

DISTANCE OF 102.66 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID NORTH 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN ALONG THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY 

LINE OF SAID INTERSTATE NO. 95 THE FOLLOWING COURSES 

AND DISTANCES; S.00°18'05"E., A DISTANCE OF 247.60 

FEET; THENCE S.76°02'36"E., A DISTANCE OF 163.17 FEET; 

THENCE S.62°03'45"E., A DISTANCE OF 149.14 FEET; 

THENCE S.31°55'20"E., A DISTANCE OF 1420.66 FEET; 

THENCE S.22°11'56"E., A DISTANCE OF 5150.31 FEET; 

THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN 

S.79°26'18"W, A DISTANCE OF 2782.81 FEET; THENCE 

S.00°19'17"W., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 18, 

TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 

1245.74 FEET; THENCE S.00°54'04"E., ALONG SAID EAST 

LINE, A DISTANCE OF 2650.17 FEET; THENCE 

S.00°17'16"E., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 19, 

TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 

3067.20 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID EAST LINE, RUN 

N.89°29'08"E., A DISTANCE OF 3245.10 FEET; THENCE 

N.79°00'40"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 62 OF 

THE ASSESSOR'S SUBDIVISION OF THE CHARLES SIBBALD 

GRANT, A DISTANCE OF 1808.41 FEET TO THE WEST RIGHT OF 

Page 25 of 124 

CODING: Words strickeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

626 WAY LINE OF SAID INTERSTATE NO 95; THENCE RUN ALONG 

627 SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND 

628 DISTANCES: S.15°00'53"E., A DISTANCE OF 3903.63 FEET 

629 TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, 

630 HAVING A RADIUS OF 17353.97 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 

631 04°06'04", A CHORD BEARING OF S.17°03'55"E., AND A 

632 CHORD DISTANCE OF 1241.90 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTHERLY 

633 ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 1242.16 

634 FEET; THENCE S.19°06'57"E., A DISTANCE OF 3763.61 FEET 

635 TO THE BOUNDARY OF A FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF 

636 TRANSPORTATION BORROW PIT, AS DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL 

637 RECORDS BOOK 1790, PAGE 1340, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF 

638 VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA; THENCE RUN ALONG SAID 

639 BOUNDARY THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: 

640 

641 

642 

643 

644 

645 

646 

647 

648 

649 

650 

S.70°53'03"W., A DISTANCE OF 300.00 FEET; THENCE 

N.19°06'57"W., A DISTANCE OF 650.00 FEET; THENCE 

S.70°53'03"W., A DISTANCE OF 600.00 FEET; THENCE 

S.19°06'57"E., A DISTANCE OF 700.00 FEET; THENCE 

N.70°53'03"E., A DISTANCE OF 900.00 FEET TO THE WEST 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID INTERSTATE NO. 95; THENCE 

S.19°06'57"E., ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A 

DISTANCE OF 61:'.71 FEET; THENCE S.19°07'16"E., ALONG 

SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 900.08 

FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, 

RUN S.78°29'44"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 

Page 26 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

651 13B OF THE ASSESSOR'S SUBDIVISION OF THE CHARLES 

652 SIBBALD GRANT, A DISTANCE OF 2859.22 FEET; THENCE 

653 S.78°16'18"W., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE JOHN LOW 

654 GRANT, SECTION 47, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, 

655 VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, A DISTANCE OF 4177.75 FEET; 

656 THENCE S.12°08'20"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID JOHN 

657 LOW GRANT, A DISTANCE OF 1797.26 FEET; THENCE 

658 S.11°41'37"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE JOHN LOW 

659 GRANT, SECTION 39, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, 

660 VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, A DISTANCE OF 18905.04 FEET; 

661 THENCE N.77°58'53"E., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 

662 JOHN LOW GRANT, A DISTANCE OF 1740.16 FEET; THENCE 

663 S.11°14'40"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE JOHN 

664 MCINTOSH GRANT, SECTION 44, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 

665 34 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, A DISTANCE OF 

666 8790.60 FEET; THENCE S.78°26'58"W., ALONG THE NORTH 

667 LINE OF THE HEIRS OF JOSEPH DELESPINE GRANT, SECTION 

668 45, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, 

669 FLORIDA, A DISTANCE OF 817.69 FEET; THENCE 

670 S.11°14'16"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID HEIRS OF 

671 JOSEPH DELESPINE GRANT, A DISTANCE OF 4842.20 FEET; 

672 THENCE S.89°03'20"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 

673 SECTION 33, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, A 

674 DISTANCE OF 3099.33 FEET; THENCE S.89°03'20"W., ALONG 

675 THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 32, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, 

Page 27 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

676 RANGE 34 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 5412.49 FEET; THENCE 

677 S.89°01'51"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 

678 31, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 

679 5623.75 FEET; THENCE S.00°47'08"E., ALONG THE EAST 

680 LINE OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 20 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A 

681 DISTANCE OF 5460.91 FEET; THENCE S.01°03'19"E., ALONG 

682 THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 20 SOUTH, 

683 RANGE 33 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 5293.89 FEET; THENCE 

684 S.01°16'36"E., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 13, 

685 TOWNSHIP 20 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 

686 5294.30 FEET; THENCE S.01°13'54"E., ALONG THE EAST 

687 LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 20 SOUTH, RANGE 33 

688 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 2646.95 FEET; THENCE 

68 9 S. 00 ° 53' 4 6 "E., ALONG SAID EAST LINE, A DISTANCE OF 

690 239.56 FEET; THENCE S.78°21'43"W., ALONG THE SOUTH 

691 LINE OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 5363.68 FEET; 

692 THENCE N.01°25'09"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

693 SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 3855.27 FEET; THENCE 

694 N.01°24'38"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 13, 

695 A DISTANCE OF 2677.98 FEET; THENCE N.01°24'50"W., 

696 ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 13, A DISTANCE OF 

697 2678.13 FEET; THENCE N.01°19'06"W., A DISTANCE OF 

698 5291.20 FEET; THENCE N.00°16'57"E., ALONG THE WEST 

699 LINE OF SAID SECTION 1, A DISTANCE OF 5428.92 FEET; 

700 THENCE S.89°02'45"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 

Page 28 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

701 SECTION 36, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A 

702 DISTANCE OF 66.00 FEET; THENCE N.01°41'37"W., ALONG 

703 THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 36, A DISTANCE OF 

704 4329.42 FEET; THENCE S.61°42'29"W., ALONG THE NORTH 

705 LINE OF THE ABANDONED FLORIDA EAST COAST RAILROAD, 

706 OKEECHOBEE BRANCH, A DISTANCE OF 1028.89 FEET TO THE 

707 POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A 

708 RADIUS OF 2815.48 FEET; A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 24°56'00", 

709 A CHORD BEARING OF S.74°10'29"W., AND A CHORD DISTANCE 

710 OF 1215.56 FEET; THENCE RUN WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF 

711 SAID CURVE AND SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1225.21 

712 FEET; THENCE S.86°38'29"W., ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, A 

713 DISTANCE OF 4556.64 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID NORTH 

714 LINE, RUN N.02°44'27"W., A DISTANCE OF 598.14 FEET; 

715 THENCE S.88°45'51"W., A DISTANCE OF 1310.92 FEET; 

716 THENCE S.02°11'09"E., A DISTANCE OF 646.80 FEET TO THE 

717 NORTH LINE OF SAID ABANDONED FLORIDA EAST COAST 

718 RAILROAD; THENCE RUN ALONG SAID NORTH LINE THE 

719 FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: S.86°38'29"W., A 

720 DISTANCE OF 6813.36 FEET; THENCE N.01°01'04"W., A 

721 DISTANCE OF 50.04 FEET; THENCE S.86°38'29"W., A 

722 DISTANCE OF 1544.36 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID NORTH 

723 LINE, RUN N.64°20'17"W., A DISTANCE OF 4659.70 FEET; 

724 THENCE N.15°15'27"W., A DISTANCE OF 7492.89 FEET; 

725 THENCE N.15°51'2l"W., A DISTANCE OF 829.94 FEET; 

Page 29 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

726 

727 

728 

729 

730 

731 

732 

733 

734 

735 

736 

737 

738 

739 

740 

741 

742 

743 

744 

745 

746 

747 

748 

749 

750 

HB 1303 

THENCE N.18°46'59"W., A DISTANCE OF 814.16 FEET; 

THENCE N.18°53'10"W., A DISTANCE OF 697.30 FEET; 

THENCE N.70°10'39"W., A DISTANCE OF 1587.18 FEET; 

THENCE N.14°08'03"W., A DISTANCE OF 3697.19 FEET; 

THENCE N.40°29'10"W., A DISTANCE OF 935.94 FEET; 

THENCE N.66°49'47"W., A DISTANCE OF 617.13 FEET; 

THENCE N.84°07'40"W., A DISTANCE OF 143.78 FEET; 

THENCE N.00°51'37"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A 

DISTANCE OF 1269.62 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 

SAID SECTION 18; THENCE N.45°02'00"E., A DISTANCE OF 

28.62 FEET TO THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF PELL ROAD, 

AS SHOWN ON THE PLAT OF THE FLORIDA HOMELAND COMPANY 

SUBDIVISION, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 4, PAGES 107 AND 

108 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA; 

THENCE N.00°42'24"E., ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT OF WAY 

LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1326.20 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING 

SAID EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN N.89°24'02"E., ALONG 

THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 8, BLOCK 3, SAID THE FLORIDA 

HOMELAND COMPANY SUBDIVISION, A DISTANCE OF 625.17 

FEET; THENCE S.00°25'0l"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF LOT 

11, SAID BLOCK 3, A DISTANCE OF 1308.11 FEET; THENCE 

N.89°41'36"E., ALONG THE MAINTAINED NORTH RIGHT OF WAY 

LINE OF MAYTOWN ROAD, A DISTANCE OF 325.88 FEET; 

THENCE N.00°16'19"E., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 

Page 30 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

751 11, A DISTANCE OF 1309.72 FEET; THENCE S.89°24'02"W., 

752 ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 11, A DISTANCE OF 

753 322.59 FEET; THENCE N.00°25'01"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE 

754 OF LOT 6, SAID BLOCK 3, A DISTANCE OF 1330.61 FEET; 

755 THENCE N.89°26'32"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 4, 

756 5 AND 6, SAID BLOCK 3, A DISTANCE OF 957.64 FEET; 

757 THENCE S.00°01'06"E., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF LOT 3, 

758 SAID BLOCK 3, A DISTANCE OF 1329.77 FEET; THENCE 

759 N.89°03'10"E., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3, A 

760 DISTANCE OF 322.60 FEET; THENCE N.00°09'47"W., ALONG 

761 THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 3, A DISTANCE OF 671.28 

762 FEET; THENCE N.89°23'32"E., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF 

763 LOT 1, SAID BLOCK 3, A DISTANCE OF 626.76 FEET; THENCE 

764 S.00°27'15"E., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF LOTS 2, 15 AND 

765 16, SAID BLOCK 3, A DISTANCE OF 1986.79 FEET; THENCE 

766 N.89°00'34"E., ALONG THE MAINTAINED NORTH RIGHT OF WAY 

767 LINE OF SAID MAYTOWN ROAD, A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET; 

768 THENCE N.00°27'15"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF LOTS 9 

769 AND 10, BLOCK 4, SAID THE FLORIDA HOMELAND COMPANY 

770 SUBDIVISION, A DISTANCE OF 1313.30 FEET; THENCE 

771 N.89°06'34"E., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 8, SAID 

772 BLOCK 4, A DISTANCE OF 636.07 FEET; THENCE 

773 N.00°34'02"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF LOT 6, SAID 

774 BLOCK 4, A DISTANCE OF 1325.28 FEET; THENCE 

775 N.89°26'32"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 5 AND 6, 

Page 31 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1303 2020 

776 SAID BLOCK 4, A DISTANCE OF 648.45 FEET; THENCE 

777 S.00°40'49"E., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 5, A 

778 DISTANCE OF 1325.46 FEET; THENCE N.89°17'09"E., ALONG 

779 THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 4, SAID BLOCK 4, A DISTANCE OF 

780 325.53 FEET; THENCE N.00°44'14"W., ALONG THE EAST LINE 

781 OF SAID LOT 4, A DISTANCE OF 1108.58 FEET; THENCE 

782 DEPARTING SAID EAST LINE, RUN S.89°26'32"W., A 

783 DISTANCE OF 159.50 FEET; THENCE N.00°44'25"W., A 

784 DISTANCE OF 72.00 FEET; THENCE N.89°26'32"E., A 

785 DISTANCE OF 159.50 FEET; THENCE N.00°44'14"W., ALONG 

786 THE EAST LINE OF LOT 4, SAID BLOCK 4 AND LOT 13, BLOCK 

787 1, SAID THE FLORIDA HOMELAND COMPANY SUBDIVISION, A 

788 DISTANCE OF 1121.41 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID EAST 

789 LINE, RUN S.89°28'17"W., A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; 

790 THENCE N.00°44'14"W., A DISTANCE OF 144.00 FEET; 

791 THENCE N.89°28'17"E., A DISTANCE OF 150.00 FEET; 

792 THENCE N.00°44'14"W., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 

793 13, A DISTANCE OF 231.00 FEET; THENCE S.89°28'17"W., 

794 ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 13, A DISTANCE OF 

795 163.88 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID NORTH LINE, RUN 

796 S.00°40'51"E., A DISTANCE OF 144.00 FEET; THENCE 

797 S.89°28'18"W., A DISTANCE OF 159.00 FEET; THENCE 

798 S.00°40'51"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 13, A 

799 DISTANCE OF 159.00 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST 

800 LINE, RUN S.89°28'18"W., A DISTANCE OF 161.59 FEET; 

Page 32 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

801 THENCE N.00°39'09"W., A DISTANCE OF 72.00 FEET; THENCE 

802 S.89°28'18"W., A DISTANCE OF 161.56 FEET; THENCE 

803 S.00°37'27"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF LOT 12, SAID 

804 BLOCK 1, A DISTANCE OF 288.00 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING 

805 SAID WEST LINE, RUN S.89°28'18"W., A DISTANCE OF 

806 323.39 FEET; THENCE S.00°34'01"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE 

807 OF LOT 11, SAID BLOCK 1, A DISTANCE OF 443.90 FEET; 

808 THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST LINE, RUN N.89°26'32"E., A 

809 DISTANCE OF 161.92 FEET; THENCE S.00°35'44"E., A 

810 DISTANCE OF 360.00 FEET; THENCE S.89°26'32"W., ALONG 

811 THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 11, AND THE WESTERLY 

812 EXTENSION THEREOF, A DISTANCE OF 3344.00 FEET; THENCE 

813 N00°51'35"W., ALONG THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID 

814 PELL ROAD, A DISTANCE OF 2664.12 FEET; THENCE 

815 N.00°35'21"W., ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A 

816 DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID EAST 

817 RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN N.89°30'05"E., ALONG THE SOUTH 

818 LINE OF LOT 10, BLOCK 3, SAID THE FLORIDA HOMELAND 

819 COMPANY SUBDIVISION, A DISTANCE OF 623.13 FEET; THENCE 

820 N.00°32'27"W., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 10, A 

821 DISTANCE OF 679.03 FEET; THENCE S.89°32'56"W., ALONG 

822 THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 10, A DISTANCE OF 623 .. !1 

823 FEET; THENCE N.00°35'21"W., ALONG THE EAST RIGHT OF 

824 WAY LINE OF SAID PELL ROAD, A DISTANCE OF 4896.87 

825 FEET; THENCE N.00°16'47"W., ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT OF 

Page 33 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1303 2020 

826 WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 2635.06 FEET; THENCE 

827 N.00°27'14"W., ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A 

828 DISTANCE OF 2664.46 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID EAST 

829 RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN N.89°31'48"E., ON A LINE 20.00 

830 FEET SOUTH OF AND PARALLEL WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 

831 SECTION 31, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A 

832 DISTANCE OF 2506.48 FEET; THENCE N.89°14'45"E., ALONG 

833 SAID OFFSET LINE, A DISTANCE OF 2639.57 FEET; THENCE 

834 N.00°32'50"W., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 31, 

835 A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET; THENCE N.89°20'42"E., ALONG 

836 THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 32, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, 

837 RANGE 33 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 2644.02 FEET; THENCE 

838 N.89°19'32"E., ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 

839 2643.63 FEET; THENCE N.00°32'48"W., ALONG THE WEST 

840 LINE OF SAID SECTION 28, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 33 

841 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 2661.94 FEET; THENCE 

842 N.01°17'00"W., ALONG SAID WEST LINE, A DISTANCE OF 

843 2653.26 FEET; THENCE N.89°25'34"E., ALONG THE NORTH 

844 LINE OF SAID SECTION 28, A DISTANCE OF 5328.95 FEET; 

845 THENCE N.88°47'55"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 

846 SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A 

847 DISTANCE OF 2625.74 FEET; THENCE N.00°07'47"W., ALONG 

848 THE WEST LINE OF THE EAST 1/2 OF SAID SECTION 22, 

849 TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 

850 5282.93 FEET; THENCE N.00°28'00"W., ALONG THE WEST 

Page 34 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

851 LINE OF THE EAST 1/2 OF SAID SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 18 

852 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 5317.13 FEET; 

853 THENCE S.88°57'39"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 

854 SECTION 10, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, A 

855 DISTANCE OF 2667.85 FEET; THENCE N.00°24'16"W., ALONG 

856 THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 10, A DISTANCE OF 

857 5338.90 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

858 TOGETHER WITH 

859 SECTION 37, TOWNSHIP 21 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, VOLUSIA 

860 COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 

861 FOLLOWS: 

862 FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 37, AS THE 

863 POINT OF BEGINNING; RUN S.00°44'05"E., ALONG THE EAST 

864 LINE OF SAID SECTION 37, A DISTANCE OF 2705.45 FEET; 

865 THENCE S.78°54'18"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 

866 SECTION 37, A DISTANCE OF 3990.70 FEET; THENCE 

867 N.08°52'58"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 37, 

868 A DISTANCE OF 3440.28 FEET; THENCE N.89°02'14"E., 

869 ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 37, A DISTANCE OF 

870 4413.26 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

871 LESS AND EXCEPT THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PARCELS 

872 EXCEPTION NO. 1 

873 A PART OF SECTION 3, TOWNSHIP 18 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, 

874 VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

875 FROM THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 3, RUN 

Page 35 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

876 N.89°01'41"E., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 3, 

877 A DISTANCE OF 4619.16 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

878 THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH LINE, RUN N.00°20'09"W., A 

879 DISTANCE OF 330.00 FEET; THENCE N.89°01'41"E., A 

880 DISTANCE OF 660.00 FEET; THENCE S.00°20'09"E., ALONG 

881 THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 3, A DISTANCE OF 330.00 

882 FEET; THENCE S.89°01'41"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF 

883 SAID SECTION 3, A DISTANCE OF 660.00 FEET TO THE POINT 

884 OF BEGINNING. 

885 EXCEPTION NO. 2 

886 A PART OF AN UN-NUMBERED LOT IN FARMTON, FLORIDA, AS 

887 RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 5, PAGE 44, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS 

888 OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE PARTICULARLY 

889 DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

890 FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 19 

891 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, RUN N. 

892 89°21'35"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 18, 

893 A DISTANCE OF 1586.56 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID 

894 NORTH LINE, RUN S.00°38'25"E., A DISTANCE OF 247.27 

895 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S.00°51'37"E., 

896 A DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET; THENCE N.89°49'16"W., A 

897 DISTANC'~ OF 50.00 FEET; THENCE N.00°51'37"W., ALONG 

898 THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY OF SEVENTH STREET, A 60 FOOT 

899 RIGHT OF WAY, A DISTANCE OF 100.0 FEET; THENCE 

900 DEPARTING SAID EAST RIGHT OF WAY, RUN S.89°49'16"E., A 

Page 36 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

901 DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

902 LOTS 16, 17 AND 18, BLOCK 6, FARMTON, FLORIDA, AS 

903 RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 5, PAGE 44, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS 

904 OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

905 LOTS 38, 39 AND 40, BLOCK 7, FARMTON, FLORIDA, AS 

906 RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 5, PAGE 44, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS 

907 OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

908 LOT 14, BLOCK 14, FARMTON, FLORIDA, AS RECORDED IN MAP 

909 BOOK 5, PAGE 44, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA 

910 COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

911 LOTS 1 AND 2, BLOCK 16, FARMTON, FLORIDA, AS RECORDED 

912 IN MAP BOOK 5, PAGE 44, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF 

913 VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

914 LOT 4, BLOCK 26, FARMTON, FLORIDA, AS RECORDED IN MAP 

915 BOOK 5, PAGE 44, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA 

916 COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

917 LOT 15, BLOCK 27, FARMTON, FLORIDA, AS RECORDED IN MAP 

918 BOOK 5, PAGE 44, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA 

919 COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

920 EXCEPTION NO. 3 

921 LOT 14, BLOCK 4, THE FLORIDA HOMELAND COMPANY 

922 SUBDIVISION, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 4, PAGE 108, OF 

923 THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, MORE 

924 PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

925 FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 8, TOWNSHIP 19 

Page 37 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

926 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, RUN 

927 N.00°31'38"W., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 8, 

928 A DISTANCE OF 1328.06 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID EAST 

929 LINE, RUN S.89°08'48"W., A DISTANCE OF 661.36 FEET TO 

930 THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S.00°34'30"E., ALONG 

931 THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 14, A DISTANCE OF 1307.17 

932 FEET; THENCE S.89°03'01"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF 

933 SAID LOT 14, A DISTANCE OF 330.14 FEET; THENCE 

934 N.00°35'56"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 14, A 

935 DISTANCE OF 1309.72 FEET; THENCE N.89°08'48"E., ALONG 

936 THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 14, A DISTANCE OF 330.68 

937 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

938 EXCEPTION NO. 4 

939 LOTS 1 THROUGH 8, BLOCK 1, THE FLORIDA HOMELAND 

940 COMPANY SUBDIVISION, AS RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 4, PAGE 

941 106 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

942 DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

943 FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 16, TOWNSHIP 19 

944 SOUTH, RANGE 33 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS THE 

945 POINT OF BEGINNING, RUN S.88°58'21"W., ALONG THE NORTH 

946 LINE OF SAID SECTION 16, A DISTANCE OF 2640.30 FEET; 

947 THENCE DEPARTING SAID NORTH LINE, RUN S.00°23'46"E., A 

948 DISTANCE OF 1322.07 FEET; THENCE N.88°49'19"E., A 

949 DISTANCE OF 2644.80 FEET; THENCE N.00°35'19"W., ALONG 

950 THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 16, A DISTANCE OF 

Page 38 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1303 2020 

951 1315.07 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

952 EXCEPTION NO. 5 

953 A PART OF SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 33 

954 EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

955 FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 21, RUN 

956 S.01°38'18"E., ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 21, 

957 A DISTANCE OF 1332.77 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

958 THENCE CONTINUE S.01°38'18"E., ALONG SAID EAST LINE, A 

959 DISTANCE OF 1332.77 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID EAST 

960 

961 

962 

963 

964 

965 

966 

967 

968 

969 

970 

971 

972 

973 

974 

975 

LINE, RUN S.89°12'21"W., A DISTANCE OF 1322.23 FEET; 

THENCE N.01°38'54"W., A DISTANCE OF 266.47 FEET; 

THENCE S.88°45'38"W., A DISTANCE OF 495.81 FEET; 

THENCE N.01°39'08"W., A DISTANCE OF 1056.03 FEET; 

THENCE N.88°45'38"E., A DISTANCE OF 1818.24 FEET TO 

THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTION NO. 6 

A PART OF SECTION 23, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 33 

EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 23, RUN 

S.88°11'09"W., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 

23, A DISTANCE OF 2780.32 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID 

NORTH LINE, RUN S.00°56'58"E., A DISTANCE OF 1085.02 

FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUE 

S.00°56'58"E., A DISTANCE OF 681.07 FEET; THENCE 

N.89°05'0l"E., A DISTANCE OF 1001.22 FEET; THENCE 

Page 39 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

976 

977 

978 

979 

980 

981 

982 

983 

984 

985 

986 

987 

988 

989 

990 

991 

992 

993 

994 

995 

996 

997 

998 

999 

1000 

HB 1303 

N. 8 9 ° 0 6 IO 9 "E. ' A DISTANCE OF 300.03 FEET; THENCE 

S.01°55'57"E., A DISTANCE OF 439.89 FEET; THENCE 

S.01°56'44"E., A DISTANCE OF 906.89 FEET; THENCE 

S.89°04'18"W., A DISTANCE OF 1113.72 FEET; THENCE 

S.88°58'55"W., A DISTANCE OF 210.24 FEET; THENCE 

S.89°03'22"W., A DISTANCE OF 1368.56 FEET; THENCE 

N.00°30'2l"W., A DISTANCE OF 1351.23 FEET; THENCE 

N.89°02'05"E., A DISTANCE OF 566.61 FEET; THENCE 

N.01°03'27"W., A DISTANCE OF 676.51 FEET; THENCE 

N.89°01'31"E., A DISTANCE OF 792.16 FEET TO THE POINT 

OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTION NO. 7 

A PART OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 34 

EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30, RUN 

N.88°38'58"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 

30, A DISTANCE OF 2325.54 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID 

NORTH LINE, RUN S.00°29'58"E., A DISTANCE OF 1326.77 

FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUE 

S.00°29'58"E., A DISTANCE OF 971.19 FEET TO THE 

APPROXIMATE NORTH LINE OF THE MAINTAINED LIMITS OF 

MAYTOWN ROAD; THENCE RUN ALONG SAID NORTH LINE THE 

FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: S.60°50'17"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 23.44 FEET; THENCE S.62°08'15"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 13.51 FEET; THENCE S.65°22'54"W., A 

Page 40 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1001 

1002 

1003 

1004 

1005 

1006 

1007 

1008 

1009 

1010 

1011 

1012 

1013 

1014 

1015 

1016 

1017 

1018 

1019 

1020 

1021 

1022 

1023 

1024 

1025 

HB 1303 

DISTANCE OF 97.90 FEET; THENCE S.65°14'29"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 100.78 FEET; THENCE S.65°10'43"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 99.18 FEET; THENCE S. 65°11' 19"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 101.03 FEET; THENCE S.64°13'44"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 100.23 FEET; THENCE S.63°37'08"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 100.05 FEET; THENCE s. 65 ° 2 5 I 4 8 "W. ' A 

DISTANCE OF 99.13 FEET; THENCE S.64°59'58"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 100.01 FEET; THENCE S.66°00'09"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 10.72 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID NORTH 

LINE, RUN N.00°38'53"W., A DISTANCE OF 1315.32 FEET; 

THENCE N.88°46'16"E., A DISTANCE OF 771.72 FEET TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTION NO. 8 

A PART OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 34 

EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30, RUN 

N.88°38'58"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 

30, A DISTANCE OF 2325.54 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID 

NORTH LINE, RUN S.00°29'58"E., A DISTANCE OF 2483.00 

FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUE 

s.00°29'58"E., 

A DISTANCE OF 170.55 FEET; THENCE S.88°53'38"W., A 

DISTANCE OF 364.92 FEET TO THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE 

OF THE FLORIDA EAST CENTRAL REGIONAL RAIL TRAIL, AS 

DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 6182, PAGE 1994 OF 

Page 41 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1026 

1027 

1028 

1029 

1030 

1031 

1032 

1033 

1034 

1035 

1036 

1037 

1038 

1039 

1040 

1041 

1042 

1043 

1044 

1045 

1046 

1047 

1048 

1049 

1050 

HB 1303 

THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA; THENCE 

RUN ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE 

FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: N.61°42'29"E., A 

DISTANCE OF 161.81 FEET TO THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A 

CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 1858.83 FEET, A 

CENTRAL ANGLE OF 07°29'26", A CHORD BEARING OF 

N.65°27'03"E., AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 242.84 FEET; 

THENCE RUN EASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A 

DISTANCE OF 243.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTION NO. 9 

A PART OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 34 

EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30, 

RUNS.89°08'28"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 

30, A DISTANCE OF 1324.16 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUE S.89°08'28"W., ALONG SAID 

SOUTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 937.17 FEET TO THE EAST 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE FLORIDA EAST CENTRAL REGIONAL 

RAIL TRAIL, AS DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 

6182, PAGE 1994 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF VOLUSIA 

COUNTY, FLORIDA; THENCE RUN ALONG SAID EAST RIGHT OF 

WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: 

N.39°55'34"W., A DISTANCE OF 607.41 FEET; THENCE 

N.00°21'04"W., A DISTANCE OF 78.48 FEET; THENCE 

N.39°55'34"W., A DISTANCE OF 471.26 FEET TO THE POINT 

Page 42 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1051 

1052 

1053 

1054 

1055 

1056 

1057 

1058 

1059 

1060 

1061 

1062 

1063 

1064 

1065 

1066 

1067 

1068 

1069 

1070 

1071 

1072 

1073 

1074 

1075 

HB 1303 

OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING A RADIUS 

OF 5829.65 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 05°25'05", A CHORD 

BEARING OF N.42°38'07"W., AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 

551.07 FEET; THENCE RUN NORTHERLY ALONG THE ARC OF 

SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 551.27 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING 

SAID EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN N.89°01'06"E., A 

DISTANCE OF 1994.48 FEET; THENCE S.00°22'59"E., A 

DISTANCE OF 1331.25 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTION NO. 10 

A PART OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 19 SOUTH, RANGE 34 

EAST, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30, 

RUNS.89°08'28"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 

30, A DISTANCE OF 2390.14 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUE S.89°08'28"W., A DISTANCE 

OF 258.18 FEET; THENCE N.00°21'04"W., A DISTANCE OF 

314.64 FEET TO THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE 

FLORIDA EAST CENTRAL REGIONAL RAIL TRAIL AS DESCRIBED 

IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 6182, PAGE 1994 OF THE PUBLIC 

RECORDS OF VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA; THENCE 

S.39°55'34"E., ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A 

DISTANCE OF 405.24 FEET TO THE POINT OF B:GINNING. 

CONTAINING 52,240.415 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

LAND IN BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA: 

SECTIONS 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, A PART OF SECTION 9, SECTIONS 

Page 43 of 124 

CODING: Words strieken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1076 

1077 

1078 

1079 

1080 

1081 

1082 

1083 

1084 

1085 

1086 

1087 

1088 

1089 

1090 

1091 

1092 

1093 

1094 

1095 

1096 

1097 

1098 

1099 

1100 

HB 1303 

15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, AND 42, TOWNSHIP 20 SOUTH, 

RANGE 34 EAST, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

TOGETHER WITH 

SECTION 37, TOWNSHIP 21 SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, BREVARD 

COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

TOGETHER WITH 

A PART OF THE WISCONSIN FLORIDA FRUIT LAND COMPANY 

SUBDIVISION AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 43, OF 

THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

TOGETHER WITH 

A PART OF LOTS 3, 5 AND 6, PABLO FONTAINE GRANT, AS 

RECORDED IN DEED BOOK D, PAGE 525 OF THE PUBLIC 

RECORDS OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 6, AS THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING, RUN N.89°01'51"E., ALONG THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID SECTION 6, A DISTANCE OF 5623.75 FEET; 

THENCE N.89°03'20"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 

SECTION 5, A DISTANCE OF 5412.49 FEET; THENCE N 

89°03'20"E., ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 4, A 

DISTANCE OF 3099.33 FEET; THENCE S.11°54'09"E., ALONG 

THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 4, A DISTANCE OF 5680.76 

FEET; THENCE S.89°32'42"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF 

SAID SECTION 4, A DISTANCE OF 3172.78 FEET TO THE WEST 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THE FLORIDA EAST CENTRAL REGIONAL 

Page 44 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1303 2020 

1101 RAIL TRAIL, AS DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 

1102 5838, PAGE 949 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF BREVARD 

1103 COUNTY, FLORIDA; THENCE RUN ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF 

1104 WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND DISTANCES: 

1105 S.39°55'34"E., A DISTANCE OF 3846.48 FEET TO THE POINT 

1106 OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING A RADIUS 

1107 OF 5779.97 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 12°13'18", A CHORD 

1108 BEARING OF S.46°02'13"E., AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 

1109 1230.57 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTHERLY ALONG THE ARC OF 

1110 SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 1232.91 FEET; THENCE 

1111 

1112 

1113 

1114 

1115 

1116 

1117 

1118 

1119 

1120 

1121 

1122 

1123 

1124 

1125 

s.52°08'52"E., A DISTANCE OF 752.99 FEET; THENCE 

s.10°15'13"E., A DISTANCE OF 74.88 FEET; THENCE 

s.52°08'52"E., A DISTANCE OF 768.74 FEET; THENCE 

DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN 

N.37°51'08"E., A DISTANCE OF 200.00 FEET TO THE EAST 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID FLORIDA EAST CENTRAL 

REGIONAL RAIL TRAIL; THENCE DEPARTING SAID EAST RIGHT 

OF WAY LINE, RUN N.78°47'48"E., A DISTANCE OF 787.00 

FEET; THENCE N.11°13'33"W., A DISTANCE OF 411.40 FEET 

TO THE SOUTH LINE OF TRACT 20, LOT 3, SAID WISCONSIN 

FLORIDA FRUIT LAND COMPANY SUBDIVISION; THENCE 

N.78°47'48"E., ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 

7.49 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH LINE, RUN 

N.11°13'33"W., A DISTANCE OF 358.60 FEET TO THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID TRACT 20; THENCE N.78°47'48"E., ALONG 

Page 45 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1126 

1127 

1128 

1129 

1130 

1131 

1132 

1133 

1134 

1135 

1136 

1137 

1138 

1139 

1140 

1141 

1142 

1143 

1144 

1145 

1146 

1147 

1148 

1149 

1150 

HB 1303 

SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 281.51 FEET; THENCE 

DEPARTING SAID NORTH LINE, RUN S.11°13'33"E., A 

DISTANCE OF 358.60 FEET; THENCE N.78°47'48"E., ALONG 

THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID TRACT 20, AND THE EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF, A DISTANCE OF 593.02 FEET; THENCE 

N.11°13'33"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF TRACT 19, LOT 4, 

SAID WISCONSIN FLORIDA FRUIT LAND COMPANY SUBDIVISION 

A DISTANCE OF 358.61 FEET; THENCE N.78°46'27"E., ALONG 

THE NORTH LINE OF SAID TRACT 19 AND THE EASTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF A DISTANCE OF 2732.89 FEET TO A 

POINT ON THE ARC OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE TO THE RIGHT, 

HAVING A RADIUS OF 2827.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 

18°15'36", A CHORD BEARING OF N.55°04'18"E., AND A 

CHORD DISTANCE OF 897.15 FEET; THENCE RUN EASTERLY 

ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 900.96 FEET; 

THENCE N.13°57'49"W., A DISTANCE OF 622.94 FEET; 

THENCE N.76°02'11"E., A DISTANCE OF 660.00 FEET; 

THENCE N.13°57'49"W., A DISTANCE OF 660.00 FEET; 

THENCE N.76°02'1l"E., A DISTANCE OF 1197.71 FEET TO 

THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF INTERSTATE NO. 95 (STATE 

ROAD NO. 9) A VARIABLE WIDTH RIGHT OF WAY; THENCE RUN 

ALONG SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING 

COURSES AND DISTANCES: S.00°56'45"E., A DISTANCE OF 

774.37 FEET; THENCE S.20°13'3l"W., A DISTANCE OF 

223.71 FEET; THENCE S.46°46'41"W., A DISTANCE OF 99.90 

Page 46 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1151 

1152 

1153 

1154 

1155 

1156 

1157 

1158 

1159 

1160 

1161 

1162 

1163 

1164 

1165 

1166 

1167 

1168 

1169 

1170 

1171 

1172 

1173 

1174 

1175 

HB 1303 

FEET; THENCE S.43°13'19"E., A DISTANCE OF 200.00 FEET; 

THENCE N.46°46'41"E., A DISTANCE OF 99.90 FEET; THENCE 

S.80°07'53"E., A DISTANCE OF 125.07 FEET; THENCE 

S.27°55'01"E., A DISTANCE OF 470.63 FEET; THENCE 

DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, RUN 

S.72°14'16"W., A DISTANCE OF 623.00 FEET TO THE POINT 

OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS 

OF 25.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 90°00'00", A CHORD 

BEARING OF N.62°45'44"W., AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 

35.36 FEET; THENCE RUN WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID 

CURVE A DISTANCE OF 39.27 FEET; THENCE N.17°45'44"W., 

ALONG THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF JABEZ ROAD, AN 80 

FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS SHOWN ON ROAD PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 

2, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, A 

DISTANCE OF 280.00 FEET; THENCE S.46°46'41"W., ALONG 

THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STUCKWAY ROAD, AS SHOWN 

ON SAID ROAD PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 2, A DISTANCE OF 88.67 

FEET; THENCE N.43°14'5l"W., ALONG THE WEST RIGHT OF 

WAY LINE OF SAID STUCKWAY ROAD, A DISTANCE OF 99.89 

FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, 

RUN S.46°46'll"W., A DISTANCE OF 225.78 FEET TO A 

POINT ON A NON-TANGENT CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 4075.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 07°32'43", 

A CHORD BEARING OF S.67°23'35"W., AND A CHORD DISTANCE 

OF 536.24 FEET; THENCE RUN WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF 

Page 47 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1176 

1177 

1178 

1179 

1180 

1181 

1182 

1183 

1184 

1185 

1186 

1187 

1188 

1189 

1190 

1191 

1192 

1193 

1194 

1195 

1196 

1197 

1198 

1199 

1200 

HB 1303 

SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 536.63 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

REVERSE CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 2552.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 35°30'01", 

A CHORD BEARING OF S.53°24'56"W., AND A CHORD DISTANCE 

OF 1556.03 FEET; THENCE RUN WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF 

SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 1581.21 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

REVERSE CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 3731.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 17°34'22", 

A CHORD BEARING OF S.44°27'06"W., AND A CHORD DISTANCE 

OF 1139.83 FEET; THENCE RUN WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF 

SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 1144.31 FEET; THENCE 

S.78°46'27"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF TRACT 24, LOT 

4, SAID WISCONSIN FLORIDA FRUIT LAND COMPANY 

SUBDIVISION, A DISTANCE OF 182.60 FEET TO A POINT ON A 

NON-TANGENT CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 

3656.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 00°48'39", A CHORD 

BEARING OF S.56°13'36"W., AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 

51.73 FEET; THENCE RUN WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID 

CURVE A DISTANCE OF 51.73 FEET; THENCE S.25°12'07"W., 

A DISTANCE OF 453.84 FEET; THENCE S.78°46'27"W., ALONG 

THE SOUTH LINE OF TRACT 26, LOT 4, SAID WISCONSIN 

FLORIDA FRUIT LAND COMPANY SUBDIVISION, A DISTANCE 

OF1095.41 FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID SOUTH LINE, RUN 

S.78°47'48"W., A DISTANCE OF 289.01 FEET; THENCE 

S.11°13'33"E., A DISTANCE OF 385.00 FEET; THENCE 

Page 48 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1201 

1202 

1203 

1204 

1205 

1206 

1207 

1208 

1209 

1210 

1211 

1212 

1213 

1214 

1215 

1216 

1217 

1218 

1219 

1220 

1221 

1222 

1223 

1224 

1225 

HB 1303 

S.78°47'48"W., A DISTANCE OF 363.42 FEET TO THE EAST 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID FLORIDA EAST CENTRAL 

REGIONAL RAIL TRAIL; THENCE DEPARTING SAID EAST RIGHT 

OF WAY LINE, RUN S.37°51'08"W., A DISTANCE OF 200.00 

FEET TO THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID FLORIDA 

EAST CENTRAL REGIONAL RAIL TRAIL; THENCE RUN ALONG 

SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING COURSES AND 

DISTANCE: S.52°08'52"E., A DISTANCE OF 2493.38 FEET TO 

THE POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING 

A RADIUS OF 2765.08 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 

27°56'49", A CHORD BEARING OF S.38°10'27"E., AND A 

CHORD DISTANCE OF 1335.38 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTHERLY 

ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE A DISTANCE OF 1348.71 

FEET; THENCE S.24°12'03"E., A DISTANCE OF 1275.04 

FEET; THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE, 

RUN S.78°50'28"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 5, 

PABLO FONTAINE GRANT AND THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 

stcTIONS 15, 16 AND 21, A DISTANCE OF 7857.48 FEET; 

THENCE S.17°07'37"E., ALONG THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE 

OF A 40 FOOT UN-NAMED ROAD ADJACENT TO THE WEST LINE 

OF SECTION 5 OF INDIAN RIVER PARK, A SUBDIVISION 

RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 2, PAGE 33, OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS 

OF BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, A DISTANCE OF 4960.58 

FEET; THENCE S.78°54'29"W., ALONG THE NORTH RIGHT OF 

WAY LINE OF A 30 FOOT UN-NAMED ROAD ADJACENT TO THE 

Page 49 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1226 

1227 

1228 

1229 

1230 

1231 

1232 

1233 

1234 

1235 

1236 

1237 

1238 

1239 

1240 

1241 

1242 

1243 

1244 

1245 

1246 

1247 

1248 

1249 

1250 

HB 1303 

NORTH LINE OF LOT 1, BLOCK 1, SECTION 13, SAID INDIAN 

RIVER PARK, A DISTANCE OF 639.82 FEET; THENCE 

S.16°49'23"E., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1, 

BLOCK 1, AND THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION THEREOF, A 

DISTANCE OF 681.19 FEET; THENCE N.78°54'29"E., ALONG 

THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1, BLOCK 1, A DISTANCE OF 

639.94 FEET; THENCE S.16°49'23"E., ALONG THE WEST 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF A 40 FOOT UN-NAMED ROAD ADJACENT 

TO THE WEST LINE OF SECTION 14 OF SAID INDIAN RIVER 

PARK, A DISTANCE OF 646.01 FEET; THENCE S.78°54'29"W., 

ALONG THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF A 30 FOOT UN

NAMED ROAD ADJACENT TO THE NORTH LINE OF LOTS 1 AND 2, 

BLOCK 4, SAID SECTION 13 OF INDIAN RIVER PARK, A 

DISTANCE OF 1299.95 FEET; THENCE S.16°49'27"E., ALONG 

THE WEST LINE OF LOTS 2 AND 7, BLOCK 4, SAID SECTION 

13, AND THE NORTHERLY AND SOUTHERLY EXTENSION THEREOF, 

A DISTANCE OF 1336.73 FEET; THENCE S.17°01'13"E., 

ALONG THE WEST LINE OF LOTS 2 AND 7, BLOCK 5, SAID 

SECTION 13, AND LOTS 2 AND 7, BLOCK 8, SAID SECTION 

13, AND THE NORTHERLY AND SOUTHERLY EXTENSION THEREOF, 

A DISTANCE OF 2638.61 FEET; THENCE S.16°54'12"E., 

ALONG THE WEST LINE OF LOTS 2 AND 7, BLOCK 1, SECTION 

24 OF SAID INDIAN RIVER PARK, LOT 2, BLOCK 4, SAID 

SECTION 24, AND THE NORTHERLY AND SOUTHERLY EXTENSION 

THEREOF, A DISTANCE OF 1978.54 FEET; THENCE 

Page 50 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1251 

1252 

1253 

1254 

1255 

1256 

1257 

1258 

1259 

1260 

1261 

1262 

1263 

1264 

1265 

1266 

1267 

1268 

1269 

1270 

1271 

1272 

1273 

1274 

1275 

HS 1303 

N.78°54'29"E., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF LOTS 1 AND 2, 

BLOCK 4, SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 1299.97 FEET; 

THENCE S. 16°54'12"E., ALONG THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY 

LINE OF A 40 FOOT UN-NAMED ROAD ADJACENT TO THE WEST 

LINE OF LOT 5, BLOCK 3, SECTION 23 OF SAID INDIAN 

RIVER PARK, A DISTANCE OF 647.24 FEET; THENCE 

S.78°54'29"W., ALONG THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF A 

30 FOOT UN-NAMED ROAD ADJACENT TO THE NORTH LINE OF 

LOTS 1 AND 2, BLOCK 5, SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 

1299.95 FEET; THENCE S.16°50'34"E., ALONG THE WEST 

LINE OF LOTS 2 AND 7, BLOCK 5, SAID SECTION 24, AND 

THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION THEREOF, A DISTANCE OF 1319.91 

FEET; THENCE S.78°54'23"W., ALONG THE NORTH RIGHT OF 

WAY LINE OF A 30 FOOT UN-NAMED ROAD ADJACENT TO THE 

NORTH LINE OF LOTS 3 AND 4, BLOCK 8, SAID SECTION 24, 

A DISTANCE OF 1319.08 FEET; THENCE S.16°53'42"E., 

ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF A VACATED 30 FOOT UN-NAMED 

ROAD ADJACENT TO THE WEST LINE OF LOT 4, BLOCK 8, SAID 

SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 675.25 FEET; THENCE 

N.78°47'52"E., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF LOTS 1, 2, 3, 

AND 4, BLOCK 8, SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 2619.74 

FEET; THENCE S.16°53'42"E., ALONG THE WEST RIGHT OF 

WAY LINE OF A 40 FOOT UN-NAMED ROAD ADJACENT TO THE 

WEST LINE OF LOT 5, BLOCK 7, SAID SECTION 23, A 

DISTANCE OF 660.04 FEET; THENCE S.78°54'23"W., ALONG 

Page 51 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1276 

1277 

1278 

1279 

1280 

1281 

1282 

1283 

1284 

1285 

1286 

1287 

1288 

1289 

1290 

1291 

1292 

1293 

1294 

1295 

1296 

1297 

1298 

1299 

1300 

HB 1303 

THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 42, TOWNSHIP 20 SOUTH, 

RANGE 34 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 2621.35 FEET; THENCE 

S.78°51'19"W., ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 

42, AND THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 37, TOWNSHIP 21 

SOUTH, RANGE 34 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 2644.18 FEET; 

THENCE S.78°54'18"W., ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, A 

DISTANCE OF 12476.74 FEET; THENCE N.00°44'05"W., ALONG 

THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 37, TOWNSHIP 21 SOUTH, 

RANGE 34 EAST, A DISTANCE OF 2705.45 FEET; THENCE 

N.01°11'54"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 42, 

A DISTANCE OF 10597.53 FEET; THENCE N.00°53'46"W., 

ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 42, A DISTANCE OF 

2407.41 FEET; THENCE N.00°53'46"W., ALONG THE WEST 

LINE OF SAID SECTION 19, A DISTANCE OF 239.56 FEET; 

THENCE N.01°13'54"W., ALONG SAID WEST LINE, A DISTANCE 

OF 2646.95 FEET; THENCE N.01°16'36"W., ALONG THE WEST 

LINE OF SAID SECTION 18, A DISTANCE OF 5294.30 FEET; 

THENCE N.01°03'19"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID 

SECTION 7, A DISTANCE OF 5293.89 FEET; THENCE 

N.00°47'08"W., ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 6, 

A DISTANCE OF 5460.91 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

CONTAINING 11,894.585 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

CONTAINING A TOTAL AREA OF 64,135.00 ACRES, PLUS OR 

MINUS. 

Page 52 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2020 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1301 

1302 

1303 

1304 

1305 

1306 

1307 

1308 

1309 

1310 

1311 

1312 

1313 

1314 

1315 

1316 

1317 

1318 

1319 

1320 

1321 

1322 

1323 

1324 

1325 

HB 1303 2020 

Being subject to any rights-of-way, restrictions, and easements 

of record. 

Section 5. Board of supervisors; members and meetings; 

organization; powers; duties; terms of office; related election 

requirements.-

(1) The board of the District shall exercise the powers 

granted to the District pursuant to this act. The board shall 

consist of five members, each of whom shall hold office for a 

term of 4 years, as provided in this section, except as 

otherwise provided herein for initial board members, and until a 

successor is chosen and qualified. The members of the board must 

be residents of the state and citizens of the United States. 

( 2) (a) Within 90 days after the effective date of this 

act, there shall be held a meeting of the landowners of the 

District for the purpose of electing five supervisors for the 

District. Notice of the landowners' meeting shall be published 

once a week for 2 consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general 

circulation in the District, the last day of such publication to 

be not fewer than 14 days nor more than 28 days before the date 

of the election. The landowners, when assembled at such meeting, 

shall organize by electing a chair, who shall conduct the 

meeting. The chair may be any person p1~sent at the meeting. If 

the chair is a landowner or proxy holder of a landowner, he or 

she may nominate candidates and make and second motions. The 

landowners present at the meeting, in person or by proxy, shall 

Page 53 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1326 

1327 

1328 

1329 

1330 

1331 

1332 

1333 

1334 

1335 

1336 

1337 

1338 

1339 

1340 

1341 

1342 

1343 

1344 

1345 

1346 

1347 

1348 

1349 

1350 

HB 1303 2020 

constitute a quorum. At any landowners' meeting, 50 percent of 

the District acreage shall not be required to constitute a 

quorum, and each governing board member elected by landowners 

shall be elected by a majority of the acreage represented either 

by owner or proxy present and voting at said meeting. 

(b) At such meeting, each landowner shall be entitled to 

cast one vote per acre of land owned by him or her and located 

within the District for each person to be elected. A landowner 

may vote in person or by proxy in writing. Each proxy must be 

signed by one of the legal owners of the property for which the 

vote is cast and must contain the typed or printed name of the 

individual who signed the proxy; the street address, legal 

description of the property, or tax parcel identification 

number; and the number of authorized votes. If the proxy 

authorizes more than one vote, each property must be listed and 

the number of acres of each property must be included. The 

signature on a proxy need not be notarized. A fraction of an 

acre shall be treated as 1 acre, entitling the landowner to one 

vote with respect thereto. The three candidates receiving the 

highest number of votes shall each be elected for terms expiring 

November 17, 2024, and the two candidates receiving the next 

highest number of votes shall each be elected for terms expiring 

November 20, 2022, with the term of office for each successful 

candidate commencing upon election. The members of the first 

board elected by landowners shall serve their respective terms; 

Page 54 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1351 

1352 

1353 

1354 

1355 

1356 

1357 

1358 

1359 

1360 

1361 

1362 

1363 

1364 

1365 

1366 

1367 

1368 

1369 

1370 

1371 

1372 

1373 

1374 

1375 

HB 1303 2020 

however, the next election of board members shall be held on the 

first Tuesday after the first Monday in November 2022. 

Thereafter, there shall be an election by landowners for the 

District every 2 years on the first Tuesday after the first 

Monday in November, which shall be noticed pursuant to paragraph 

(a). The second and subsequent landowners' election shall be 

announced at a public meeting of the board at least 90 days 

before the date of the landowners' meeting and shall also be 

noticed pursuant to paragraph (a). Instructions on how all 

landowners may participate in the election, along with sample 

proxies, shall be provided during the board meeting that 

announces the landowners' meeting. Each supervisor elected in or 

after November 2020 shall serve a 4-year term. 

( 3) (a) 1. The board may not exercise the ad valorem taxing 

power authorized by this act until such time as all members of 

the board are qualified electors who are elected by qualified 

electors of the District. 

2.a. Regardless of whether the District has proposed to 

levy ad valorem taxes, board members shall begin being elected 

by qualified electors of the District as the District becomes 

populated with qualified electors. The transition shall occur 

such that the composition of the board, after the first general 

election following a trigger of the qualified elector population 

thresholds set forth below, shall be as follows: 

(I) Once 15,022 qualified electors reside within the 

Page 55 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1376 

1377 

1378 

1379 

1380 

1381 

1382 

1383 

1384 

1385 

1386 

1387 

1388 

1389 

1390 

1391 

1392 

1393 

1394 

1395 

1396 

139·, 

1398 

1399 

1400 

HB 1303 2020 

District, one governing board member shall be a person who is a 

qualified elector of the District and who was elected by the 

qualified electors, and four governing board members shall be 

persons who were elected by the landowners. 

(II) Once 30,044 qualified electors reside within the 

District, two governing board members shall be persons who are 

qualified electors of the District and who were elected by the 

qualified electors, and three governing board members shall be 

persons who were elected by the landowners. 

(III) Once 45,066 qualified electors reside within the 

District, three governing board members shall be persons who are 

qualified electors of the District and who were elected by the 

qualified electors and two governing board members shall be 

persons who were elected by the landowners. 

(IV) Once 60,088 qualified electors reside within the 

District, four governing board members shall be persons who are 

qualified electors of the District and who were elected by the 

qualified electors and one governing board member shall be a 

person who was elected by the landowners. 

(V) Once 75,110 qualified electors reside within the 

District, all five governing board members shall be persons who 

are qualified electors of the District and who were elected by 

the qualified electors. 

Nothing in this sub-subparagraph is intended to require an 

Page 56 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1401 

1402 

1403 

1404 

1405 

1406 

1407 

1408 

1409 

1410 

1411 

1412 

1413 

1414 

1415 

1416 

1417 

1418 

1419 

1420 

1421 

1422 

1423 

1424 

1425 

HB 1303 

election prior to the expiration of an existing board member's 

term. 

2020 

b. On or before June 1 of each election year, the board 

shall determine the number of qualified electors in the District 

as of the immediately preceding April 15. The board shall use 

and rely upon the official records maintained by the supervisor 

of elections and property appraiser or tax collector in Brevard 

and Volusia Counties in making this determination. Such 

determination shall be made at a properly noticed meeting of the 

board and shall become a part of the official minutes of the 

District. 

c. All governing board members elected by qualified 

electors shall be elected at large at an election occurring as 

provided in subsection (2) and this subsection. 

d. All governing board members elected by qualified 

electors shall reside in the District. 

e. Once the District qualifies to have any of its board 

members elected by the qualified electors of the District, the 

initial and all subsequent elections by the qualified electors 

of the District shall be held at the general election in 

November. The board shall adopt a resolution, if necessary, to 

implement this requirement. The transition process described 

herein is intended to be in lieu of the process set forth ins. 

189.041, Florida Statutes. 

(b) Elections of board members by qualified electors held 

Page 57 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1426 

1427 

1428 

1429 

1430 

1431 

1432 

1433 

1434 

1435 

1436 

1437 

1438 

1439 

1440 

1441 

1442 

1443 

1444 

1445 

1446 

1447 

1448 

1449 

1450 

HB 1303 

pursuant to this subsection shall be nonpartisan and shall be 

conducted in the manner prescribed by law for holding general 

elections. Board members shall assume the office on the second 

Tuesday following their election. 

2020 

(c) Candidates seeking election to office by qualified 

electors under this subsection shall conduct their campaigns in 

accordance with the provisions of chapter 106, Florida Statutes, 

and shall file qualifying papers and qualify for individual 

seats in accordance withs. 99.061, Florida Statutes. 

(d) The supervisor of elections in the respective counties 

shall appoint the inspectors and clerks of elections, prepare 

and furnish the ballots, designate polling places, and canvass 

the returns of the election of board members by qualified 

electors. The county canvassing board shall declare and certify 

the results of the election. 

(4) Members of the board, regardless of how elected, shall 

be public officers, shall be known as supervisors, and, upon 

entering into office, shall take and subscribe to the oath of 

office as prescribed bys. 876.05, Florida Statutes. Members of 

the board shall be subject to ethics and conflict of interest 

laws of the state that apply to all local public officers. They 

shall hold office for the terms for which they were elected or 

appointed and until their successors are chosen and qualified. 

If, during the term of office, a vacancy occurs, the remaining 

members of the board shall fill each vacancy by an appointment 

Page 58 of 124 

CODING: Words strisken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1451 

1452 

1453 

1454 

1455 

1456 

1457 

1458 

1459 

1460 

1461 

1462 

1463 

1464 

1465 

1466 

1467 

1468 

1469 

1470 

1471 

1472 

1473 

1474 

1475 

HB 1303 2020 

for the remainder of the unexpired term. 

(5) Any elected member of the board of supervisors may be 

removed by the Governor for malfeasance, misfeasance, 

dishonesty, incompetency, or failure to perform the duties 

imposed upon him or her by this act, and any vacancies that may 

occur in such office for such reasons shall be filled by the 

Governor as soon as practicable. 

(6) A majority of the members of the board constitutes a 

quorum for the purposes of conducting its business and 

exercising its powers and for all other purposes. Action taken 

by the District shall be upon a vote of a majority of the 

members present unless general law or a rule of the District 

requires a greater number. 

(7) As soon as practicable after each election or 

appointment, the board shall organize by electing one of its 

members as chair and by electing a secretary, who need not be a 

member of the board, and such other officers as the board may 

deem necessary. 

(8) The board shall keep a permanent record book entitled 

"Record of Proceedings of Deering Park Stewardship District,'' in 

which shall be recorded minutes of all meetings, resolutions, 

proceedings, certificates, bonds given by all employees, and any 

and all corporate acts. The record book and all other District 

records shall at reasonable times be opened to inspection in the 

same manner as state, county, and municipal records pursuant to 

Page 59 of 124 

CODING: Words strickeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1476 

1477 

1478 

1479 

1480 

1481 

1482 

1483 

1484 

1485 

1486 

1487 

1488 

1489 

1490 

1491 

1492 

1493 

1494 

1495 

1496 

1497 

1498 

1499 

1500 

HB 1303 2020 

chapter 119, Florida Statutes. The record book shall be kept at 

the office or other regular place of business maintained by the 

board in a designated location in either Brevard County, Volusia 

County, or the City of Edgewater. 

(9) Each supervisor shall receive travel and per diem 

expenses as set forth ins. 112.061, Florida Statutes; however, 

a supervisor is not entitled to receive compensation for his or 

her services in excess of the limits established ins. 

190.006(8), Florida Statutes, or any successor statute. 

(10) All meetings of the board shall be open to the public 

and governed by chapter 286, Florida Statutes. 

Section 6. Board of supervisors; general duties.-

(1) DISTRICT MANAGER AND EMPLOYEES.-The board shall employ 

and fix the compensation of a District manager, who shall have 

charge and supervision of the works of the District and shall be 

responsible for preserving and maintaining any improvement or 

facility constructed or erected pursuant to the provisions of 

this act, for maintaining and operating the equipment owned by 

the District, and for performing such other duties as may be 

prescribed by the board. It shall not be a conflict of interest 

or constitute an abuse of public position under chapter 112, 

Florida Statutes, for a board member, the District manager, or 

another employee of the District to be a stockholder, officer, 

or employee of a landowner. The District manager may hire or 

otherwise employ and terminate the employment of such other 

Page 60 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1501 

1502 

1503 

1504 

1505 

1506 

1507 

1508 

1509 

1510 

1511 

1512 

1513 

1514 

1515 

1516 

1517 

1518 

1519 

1520 

1521 

1522 

1523 

1524 

1525 

HB 1303 

persons, including, without limitation, professional, 

supervisory, and clerical employees, as may be necessary and 

authorized by the board. The compensation and other conditions 

of employment of the officers and employees of the District 

shall be as provided by the board. 

2020 

(2) TREASURER.-The board shall designate a person who is a 

resident of the state as treasurer of the District, who shall 

have charge of the funds of the District. Such funds shall be 

disbursed only upon the order of or pursuant to a resolution of 

the board by warrant or check countersigned by the treasurer and 

by such other person as may be authorized by the board. The 

board may give the treasurer such other or additional powers and 

duties as the board may deem appropriate and may fix his or her 

compensation. The board may require the treasurer to give a bond 

in such amount, on such terms, and with such sureties as may be 

deemed satisfactory to the board to secure the performance by 

the treasurer of his or her powers and duties. The financial 

records of the board shall be audited by an independent 

certified public accountant in accordance with the requirements 

of general law. 

(3) PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.-The board is authorized to select 

as a depository for its funds any qualified public depository as 

defined ins. 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the 

requirements of chapter 280, Florida Statutes, and has been 

designated by the treasurer as a qualified public depository 

Page 61 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1526 

1527 

1528 

1529 

1530 

1531 

1532 

1533 

1534 

1535 

1536 

1537 

1538 

1539 

1540 

1541 

1542 

1543 

1544 

1545 

1546 

1547 

1548 

1549 

1550 

HB 1303 2020 

upon such terms and conditions as to the payment of interest by 

such depository upon the funds so deposited as the board may 

deem just and reasonable. 

(4) BUDGET; REPORTS AND REVIEWS.-

(a) The District shall provide financial reports in such 

form and such manner as prescribed pursuant to this act and 

chapter 218, Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time. 

(b) On or before July 15 of each year, the District 

manager shall prepare a proposed budget for the ensuing fiscal 

year to be submitted to the board for board approval. The 

proposed budget shall include at the direction of the board an 

estimate of all necessary expenditures of the District for the 

ensuing fiscal year and an estimate of income to the District 

from the taxes and assessments provided in this act. The board 

shall consider the proposed budget item by item and may either 

approve the budget as proposed by the District manager or modify 

the same in part or in whole. The board shall indicate its 

approval of the budget by resolution, which resolution shall 

provide for a hearing on the budget as approved. Notice of the 

hearing on the budget shall be published once a week for 2 

consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

District, except that the first publication shall be no fewer 

than 15 days prior to the date of the hearing. The notice shall 

further contain a designation of the day, time, and place of the 

public hearing. At the time and place designated in the notice, 

Page 62 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1551 

1552 

1553 

1554 

1555 

1556 

1557 

1558 

1559 

1560 

1561 

1562 

1563 

1564 

1565 

1566 

1567 

1568 

1569 

1570 

1571 

1572 

1573 

1574 

1575 

HB 1303 

the board shall hear all objections to the budget as proposed 

and may make such changes as the board deems necessary. At the 

conclusion of the budget hearing, the board shall, by 

resolution, adopt the budget as finally approved by the board. 

The budget shall be adopted prior to October 1 of each year. 

2020 

(c) At least 60 days prior to adoption, the board of 

supervisors of the District shall submit to the Board of County 

Commissioners of Brevard County, to the County Council of 

Volusia County, and to the City Council of the City of 

Edgewater, for purposes of disclosure and information only, the 

proposed annual budget for the ensuing fiscal year, and each 

county and the city may submit written comments to the board of 

supervisors solely for the assistance and information of the 

board of supervisors of the District in adopting its annual 

District budget. 

(d) The board of supervisors of the District shall submit 

annually a public facilities report to the Board of County 

Commissioners of Brevard County, to the County Council of 

Volusia County, and to the City Council of the City of Edgewater 

pursuant to general law. Each county and the city may use and 

rely on the District's public facilities report in the 

preparation or revision of thei~- comprehensive plans. 

(5) DISCLOSURE OF PUBLIC INFORMATION; WEB-BASED PUBLIC 

ACCESS.-The District shall take affirmative steps to provide for 

the full disclosure of information relating to the public 

Page 63 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1576 

1577 

1578 

1579 

1580 

1581 

1582 

1583 

1584 

1585 

1586 

1587 

1588 

1589 

1590 

1591 

1592 

1593 

1594 

1595 

1596 

1597 

1598 

1599 

1600 

HB 1303 2020 

financing and maintenance of improvements to real property 

undertaken by the District. Such information shall be made 

available to all existing residents and all prospective 

residents of the District. The District shall furnish each 

developer of a residential development within the District with 

sufficient copies of that information to provide each 

prospective initial purchaser of property in that development 

with a copy; and any developer of a residential development 

within the District, when required by law to provide a public 

offering statement, shall include a copy of such information 

relating to the public financing and maintenance of improvements 

in the public offering statement. The District shall file the 

disclosure documents required by this subsection and any 

amendments thereto in the property records of each county in 

which the District is located. By the end of the first full 

fiscal year of the District's creation, the District shall 

maintain an official Internet website in accordance withs. 

189.069, Florida Statutes. 

(6) GENERAL POWERS.-The District shall have, and the board 

may exercise, the following general powers: 

(a) To sue and be sued in the name of the District; to 

adopt and use a seal and authorize the use of a facsimile 

thereof; to acquire, by purchase, gift, devise, or otherwise, 

and to dispose of, real and personal property, or any estate 

therein; and to make and execute contracts and other instruments 

Page 64 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1601 

1602 

1603 

1604 

1605 

1606 

1607 

1608 

1609 

1610 

1611 

1612 

1613 

1614 

1615 

1616 

1617 

1618 

1619 

1620 

1621 

1622 

1623 

1624 

1625 

HB 1303 

necessary or convenient to the exercise of its powers. 

(b) To apply for coverage of its employees under the 

Florida Retirement System in the same manner as if such 

employees were state employees. 

2020 

(c) To contract for the services of consultants to perform 

planning, engineering, legal, or other appropriate services of a 

professional nature. Such contracts shall be subject to public 

bidding or competitive negotiation requirements as set forth in 

general law applicable to independent special districts. 

(d) To borrow money and accept gifts; to apply for and use 

grants or loans of money or other property from the United 

States, the state, a unit of local government, or any person for 

any District purposes and enter into agreements required in 

connection therewith; and to hold, use, and dispose of such 

moneys or property for any District purposes in accordance with 

the terms of the gift, grant, loan, or agreement relating 

thereto. 

(e) To adopt and enforce rules and orders pursuant to the 

provisions of chapter 120, Florida Statutes, prescribing the 

powers, duties, and functions of the officers of the District; 

the conduct of the business of the District; the maintenance of 

records; and the form of certificates evidencing tax liens and 

all other documents and records of the District. The board may 

also adopt and enforce administrative rules with respect to any 

of the projects of the District and define the area to be 

Page 65 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1626 

1627 

1628 

1629 

1630 

1631 

1632 

1633 

1634 

1635 

1636 

1637 

1638 

1639 

1640 

1641 

1642 

1643 

1644 

1645 

164 6 

1647 

1648 

1649 

1650 

HB 1303 2020 

included therein. The board may also adopt resolutions which may 

be necessary for the conduct of District business. 

(f) To maintain an office at such place or places as the 

board of supervisors designates in Brevard County, Volusia 

County, or the City of Edgewater, and within the District when 

facilities are available. 

(g) To hold, control, and acquire by donation, purchase, 

or condemnation, or dispose of, any public easements, 

dedications to public use, platted reservations for public 

purposes, or any reservations for those purposes authorized by 

this act and to make use of such easements, dedications, or 

reservations for the purposes authorized by this act. 

(h) To lease as lessor or lessee to or from any person, 

firm, corporation, association, or body, public or private, any 

projects of the type that the District is authorized to 

undertake and facilities or property of any nature for the use 

of the District to carry out the purposes authorized by this 

act. 

(i) To borrow money and issue bonds, certificates, 

warrants, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness as provided 

herein; to levy such taxes and assessments as may be authorized; 

and to charge, collect, and enforce fees and other user charges. 

(j) To raise, by user charges or fees authorized by 

resolution of the board, amounts of money which are necessary 

for the conduct of District activities and services and to 

Page 66 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1651 

1652 

1653 

1654 

1655 

1656 

1657 

1658 

1659 

1660 

1661 

1662 

1663 

1664 

1665 

1666 

1667 

1668 

1669 

1670 

1671 

1672 

1673 

1674 

1675 

HB 1303 2020 

enforce their receipt and collection in the manner prescribed by 

resolution not inconsistent with law. 

(k) To exercise all powers of eminent domain now or 

hereafter conferred on counties in this state; provided, 

however, that such power of eminent domain may not be exercised 

outside the territorial limits of the District unless the 

District receives prior approval by vote of a resolution of the 

governing body of the county if the taking will occur in an 

unincorporated area in that county, or the governing body of the 

city if the taking will occur in an incorporated area. The 

District shall not have the power to exercise eminent domain 

over municipal, county, state, or federal property. The powers 

hereinabove granted to the District shall be so construed to 

enable the District to fulfill the objects and purposes of the 

District as set forth in this act. 

(1) To cooperate with, or contract with, other 

governmental agencies as may be necessary, convenient, 

incidental, or proper in connection with any of the powers, 

duties, or purposes authorized by this act. 

(m) To assess and to impose upon lands in the District ad 

valorem taxes as provided by this act. 

(n) If and when authorized by general law, to determine, 

order, levy, impose, collect, and enforce maintenance taxes. 

(o) To determine, order, levy, impose, collect, and 

enforce assessments pursuant to this act and chapter 170, 

Page 67 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1676 

1677 

1678 

1679 

1680 

1681 

1682 

1683 

1684 

1685 

1686 

1687 

1688 

1689 

1690 

1691 

1692 

1693 

1694 

1695 

1696 

1697 

1698 

1699 

1700 

HB 1303 2020 

Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, pursuant to 

authority granted ins. 197.3631, Florida Statutes, or pursuant 

to other provisions of general law now or hereinafter enacted 

which provide or authorize a supplemental means to order, levy, 

impose, or collect special assessments. Such special 

assessments, at the discretion of the District, may be collected 

and enforced pursuant to the provisions of ss. 197.3632 and 

197.3635, Florida Statutes, and chapters 170 and 173, Florida 

Statutes, as they may be amended from time to time, or as 

provided by this act, or by other means authorized by general 

law now or hereinafter enacted. The District may levy such 

special assessments for the purposes enumerated in this act and 

to pay special assessments imposed by Brevard and Volusia 

Counties and the City of Edgewater on lands within the District. 

(p) To exercise such special powers and other express 

powers as may be authorized and granted by this act in the 

charter of the District, including powers as provided in any 

interlocal agreement entered into pursuant to chapter 163, 

Florida Statutes, or which shall be required or permitted to be 

undertaken by the District pursuant to any development order, 

including any detailed specific area plan development order, or 

any interlocal service agreement with Brevard County, Volusia 

County, or the City of Edgewater for fair-share capital 

construction funding for any certain capital facilities or 

systems required of a developer pursuant to any applicable 

Page 68 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1701 

1702 

1703 

1704 

1705 

1706 

1707 

1708 

1709 

1710 

1711 

1712 

1713 

1714 

1715 

1716 

1717 

1718 

1719 

1720 

1721 

1722 

1723 

1724 

1725 

HB 1303 

development order or agreement. 

(q) To exercise all of the powers necessary, convenient, 

incidental, or proper in connection with any other powers or 

duties or the special and limited purpose of the District 

authorized by this act. 

The provisions of this subsection shall be construed liberally 

in order to carry out effectively the special and limited 

purpose of this act. 

2020 

(7) SPECIAL POWERS.-The District shall have, and the board 

may exercise, the following special powers to implement its 

lawful and special purpose and to provide, pursuant to that 

purpose, systems, facilities, services, improvements, projects, 

works, and infrastructure, each of which constitutes a lawful 

public purpose when exercised pursuant to this charter, subject 

to, and not inconsistent with, general law regarding utility 

providers' territorial and service agreements, the regulatory 

jurisdiction and permitting authority of all other applicable 

governmental bodies, agencies, and any special districts having 

authority with respect to any area included therein, and to 

plan, establish, acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or 

extend, equip, operate, finance, fund, and maintain 

improvements, systems, facilities, services, works, projects, 

and infrastructure. Any or all of the following special powers 

are granted by this act in order to implement the special and 

Page 69 of 124 

CODING: Words strickeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1726 

1727 

1728 

1729 

1730 

1731 

1732 

1733 

1734 

1735 

1736 

1737 

1738 

1739 

1740 

1741 

1742 

1743 

1744 

1745 

1746 

1747 

1748 

1749 

1750 

HB 1303 2020 

limited purpose of the District but do not constitute 

obligations to undertake such improvements, systems, facilities, 

services, works, projects, or infrastructure: 

(a) To provide water management and control for the lands 

within the District, including irrigation systems and 

facilities, and to connect some or any of such facilities with 

roads and bridges. In the event that the board assumes the 

responsibility for providing water management and control for 

the District which is to be financed by benefit special 

assessments, the board shall adopt plans and assessments 

pursuant to law or may proceed to adopt water management and 

control plans, assess for benefits, and apportion and levy 

special assessments, as follows: 

1. The board shall cause to be made by the District's 

engineer, or such other engineer or engineers as the board may 

employ for that purpose, complete and comprehensive water 

management and control plans for the lands located within the 

District that will be improved in any part or in whole by any 

system of facilities that may be outlined and adopted, and the 

engineer or engineers shall make a report in writing to the 

board with maps and profiles of said surveys and an estimate of 

the cost of carrying out and completing the plans. 

2. Upon the completion of such plans, the board shall hold 

a hearing thereon to hear objections thereto, shall give notice 

of the time and place fixed for such hearing by publication once 

Page 70 of 124 

CODING: Words striokeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1751 

1752 

1753 

1754 

1755 

1756 

1757 

1758 

1759 

1760 

1761 

1762 

1763 

1764 

1765 

1766 

1767 

1768 

1769 

1770 

1771 

1772 

1773 

1774 

1775 

HB 1303 2020 

a week for 2 consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general 

circulation in the District, and shall permit the inspection of 

the plan at the office of the District by all persons 

interested. All objections to the plan shall be filed at or 

before the time fixed in the notice for the hearing and shall be 

in writing. 

3. After the hearing, the board shall consider the 

proposed plan and any objections thereto and may modify, reject, 

or adopt the plan or continue the hearing until a day certain 

for further consideration of the proposed plan or modifications 

thereof. 

4. When the board approves a plan, a resolution shall be 

adopted and a certified copy thereof shall be filed in the 

office of the secretary and incorporated by him or her into the 

records of the District. 

5. The water management and control plan may be altered in 

detail from time to time until the engineer's report pursuant to 

s. 298.301, Florida Statutes, is filed but not in such manner as 

to affect materially the conditions of its adoption. After the 

engineer's report has been filed, no alteration of the plan 

shall be made, except as provided by this act. 

6. Within 20 days after the final adoption of the plan by 

the board, the board shall proceed pursuant to s. 298.301, 

Florida Statutes. 

(b) To provide water supply, sewer, wastewater, and 

Page 71 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1776 

1777 

1778 

1779 

1780 

1781 

1782 

1783 

1784 

1785 

1786 

1787 

1788 

1789 

1790 

1791 

1792 

1793 

1794 

1795 

1796 

1797 

1798 

1799 

1800 

HB 1303 2020 

reclaimed water management, reclamation, and reuse, or any 

combination thereof, and any irrigation systems, facilities, and 

services and to construct and operate water systems, sewer 

systems, irrigation systems, and reclaimed water systems such as 

connecting intercepting or outlet sewers and sewer mains and 

pipes and water mains, conduits, or pipelines in, along, and 

under any street, alley, highway, or other public place or ways, 

and to dispose of any water, effluent, residue, or other 

byproducts of such water system, sewer system, irrigation 

system, or reclaimed water system and to enter into interlocal 

agreements and other agreements with public or private entities 

for the same; provided, however, that nothing herein shall 

impair or alter the provision of water, sewer, and reclaimed 

water within the City of Edgewater's utility service areas. 

(c) To provide bridges, culverts, wildlife corridors, or 

road crossings that may be needed across any drain, ditch, 

canal, floodway, holding basin, excavation, public highway, 

tract, grade, fill, or cut and roadways over levees and 

embankments, and to construct any and all of such works and 

improvements across, through, or over any public right-of way, 

highway, grade, fill, or cut. 

(d) To provide District or other roads equal to or 

exceeding the specifications of the county or the City of 

Edgewater in which such District or other roads are located, and 

to provide street lights. This special power includes, but is 

Page 72 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1801 

1802 

1803 

1804 

1805 

1806 

1807 

1808 

1809 

1810 

1811 

1812 

1813 

1814 

1815 

1816 

1817 

1818 

1819 

1820 

1821 

1822 

1823 

1824 

1825 

HB 1303 2020 

not limited to, roads, parkways, intersections, interchanges, 

bridges, landscaping, hardscaping, irrigation, bicycle lanes, 

sidewalks, jogging paths, multiuse pathways and trails, street 

lighting, traffic signals, regulatory or informational signage, 

road striping, underground conduit, underground cable or fiber 

or wire installed pursuant to an agreement with or tariff of a 

provider of services, and all other customary elements of a 

functioning modern road system in general or as tied to the 

conditions of development approval for the area within and 

without the District, and parking facilities that are 

freestanding or that may be related to any innovative strategic 

intermodal system of transportation pursuant to applicable 

federal, state, and local law and ordinance. 

(e) To provide buses, trolleys, autonomous vehicles, rail 

access, mass transit facilities, transit shelters, ridesharing 

facilities and services, parking improvements, and related 

signage. 

(f) To provide investigation and remediation costs 

associated with the cleanup of actual or perceived environmental 

contamination within the District under the supervision or 

direction of a competent governmental authority unless the 

covered costs benefit ar.J person who is a landowner within the 

District and who caused or contributed to the contamination. 

(g) To provide observation areas, mitigation areas, 

wetland creation areas, and wildlife habitat, including the 

Page 73 of 124 

CODING: Words strickeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1826 

1827 

1828 

1829 

1830 

1831 

1832 

1833 

1834 

1835 

1836 

1837 

1838 

1839 

1840 

1841 

1842 

1843 

1844 

1845 

1846 

1847 

1848 

1849 

1850 

HB 1303 

maintenance of any plant or animal species, and any related 

interest in real or personal property. 

2020 

(h) Using its general and special powers as set forth in 

this act, to provide any other project within or without the 

boundaries of the District when the project is the subject of an 

agreement between the District and the Board of County 

Commissioners of Brevard County, the County Council of Volusia 

County, or the City Council of the City of Edgewater or with any 

other applicable public or private entity, and is not 

inconsistent with the effective local comprehensive plans. 

(i) To provide parks and facilities for indoor and outdoor 

recreational, cultural, and educational uses. 

(j) To provide school buildings and related structures, 

which may be leased, sold, or donated to the school district, 

for use in the educational system when authorized by the 

District school board. 

(k) To provide security, including electronic intrusion

detection systems and patrol cars, when authorized by proper 

governmental agencies, and may enter into a contract with the 

appropriate general-purpose local government agencies for an 

increased level of such services within the District boundaries. 

(1) To provide control and elimination of mosquitoes and 

other arthropods of public health importance. 

(m) To enter into impact fee, mobility fee, or other 

similar credit agreements with Brevard County, Volusia County, 

Page 74 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1851 

1852 

1853 

1854 

1855 

1856 

1857 

1858 

1859 

1860 

1861 

1862 

1863 

1864 

1865 

1866 

1867 

1868 

1869 

1870 

1871 

1872 

1873 

1874 

1875 

HS 1303 

or the City of Edgewater or other governmental bodies or a 

landowner or developer and to sell or assign such credits, on 

such terms as the District deems appropriate. 

2020 

(n) To provide buildings and structures for District 

offices, maintenance facilities, meeting facilities, town 

centers, or any other project authorized or granted by this act. 

(o) To establish and create, at noticed meetings, such 

departments of the board of supervisors of the District, as well 

as committees, task forces, boards, or commissions, or other 

agencies under the supervision and control of the District, as 

from time to time the members of the board may deem necessary or 

desirable in the performance of the acts or other things 

necessary to exercise the board's general or special powers to 

implement an innovative project to carry out the special and 

limited purpose of the District as provided in this act and to 

delegate the exercise of its powers to such departments, boards, 

task forces, committees, or other agencies, and such 

administrative duties and other powers as the board may deem 

necessary or desirable, but only if there is a set of expressed 

limitations for accountability, notice, and periodic written 

reporting to the board that shall retain the powers of the 

board. 

(p) To provide electrical, sustainable, or green 

infrastructure improvements, facilities, and services, 

including, but not limited to, recycling of natural resources, 

Page 75 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1876 

1877 

1878 

1879 

1880 

1881 

1882 

1883 

1884 

1885 

1886 

1887 

1888 

1889 

1890 

1891 

1892 

1893 

1894 

1895 

1896 

1897 

1898 

1899 

1900 

HB 1303 2020 

reduction of energy demands, development and generation of 

alternative or renewable energy sources and technologies, 

mitigation of urban heat islands, sequestration, capping or 

trading of carbon emissions or carbon emissions credits, United 

States Green Building Council LEED for Neighborhood Development 

and Energy Star or Florida Green Building Coalition Green 

Development Designation certification including other programs 

deemed comparable to the University of Florida Program for 

Resource Efficient Communities as well as the development of 

facilities and improvements for low-impact development or 

compact communities, and to enter into joint ventures, public

private partnerships, and other agreements, and to grant such 

easements as may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing. 

Nothing herein shall authorize the District to provide electric 

service to retail customers or otherwise act to impair electric 

utility franchise agreements. 

(q) To provide for any facilities or improvements that may 

otherwise be provided for by any county or municipality, 

including, but not limited to, libraries, annexes, substations, 

and other buildings to house public officials, staff, and 

employees. 

(r) To provide waste collection and disposal; provided, 

however, that nothing herein shall impair or alter the City of 

Edgewater's provision of solid waste management services within 

the city limits. 

Page 76 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

1901 

1902 

1903 

1904 

1905 

1906 

1907 

1908 

1909 

1910 

1911 

1912 

1913 

1914 

1915 

1916 

1917 

1918 

1919 

1920 

1921 

1922 

1923 

1924 

1925 

HB 1303 2020 

(s) To provide for the construction and operation of 

communications systems and related infrastructure for the 

carriage and distribution of communications services, and to 

enter into joint ventures, public-private partnerships, and 

other agreements and to grant such easements as may be necessary 

to accomplish the foregoing. "Communications systems" means all 

facilities, buildings, equipment, items, and methods necessary 

or desirable in order to provide communications services, 

including, without limitation, wires, cables, conduits, fiber, 

wireless cell sites, computers, modems, satellite antennae 

sites, transmission facilities, network facilities, and 

appurtenant devices necessary and appropriate to support the 

provision of communications services. "Communications services" 

includes, without limitation, Internet, voice telephone or 

similar services provided by voice-over-Internet protocol, cable 

television, data transmission services, electronic security 

monitoring services, and multi-channel video programming 

distribution services. Nothing herein shall authorize the 

District to provide communications services to retail customers. 

(t) To provide health care facilities and to enter into 

public-private partnerships and agreements as may be necessary 

to accomplish the foregoing. 

(u) To coordinate, work with, and, as the board deems 

appropriate, enter into interlocal agreements with any public or 

private entity for the provision of an institution or 

Page 77 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1926 

1927 

1928 

1929 

1930 

1931 

1932 

1933 

1934 

1935 

1936 

1937 

1938 

1939 

1940 

1941 

1942 

1943 

1944 

1945 

1946 

1947 

1948 

1949 

1950 

HB 1303 

institutions of higher education. 

(v) To coordinate, work with, and, as the board deems 

appropriate, enter into public-private partnerships and 

agreements as may be necessary or useful to effectuate the 

purposes of this act. 

2020 

The enumeration of special powers herein shall not be deemed 

exclusive or restrictive but shall be deemed to incorporate all 

powers express or implied necessary or incident to carrying out 

such enumerated special powers, including also the general 

powers provided by this special act charter to the District to 

implement its purposes. Further, the provisions of this 

subsection shall be construed liberally in order to carry out 

effectively the special and limited purpose of the District 

under this act. 

(8) ISSUANCE OF BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES.-In addition to 

the other powers provided for in this act, and not in limitation 

thereof, the District shall have the power, at any time and from 

time to time after the issuance of any bonds of the District are 

authorized, to borrow money for the purposes for which such 

bonds are to be issued in anticipation of the receipt of the 

proceeds of the sale of such bonds and to issue bond 

anticipation notes in a principal sum not in excess of the 

authorized maximum amount of such bond issue. Such notes shall 

be in such denomination or denominations, bear interest at such 

Page 78 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1951 

1952 

1953 

1954 

1955 

1956 

1957 

1958 

1959 

1960 

1961 

1962 

1963 

1964 

1965 

1966 

1967 

1968 

1969 

1970 

1971 

1972 

1973 

1974 

1975 

HB 1303 2020 

rate or rates as the board may determine not to exceed the 

maximum rate allowed by general law, mature at such date or 

dates not later than 5 years from the date of issuance, and be 

in such form and executed in such manner as the board shall 

prescribe. Such notes may be sold at either public or private 

sale or, if such notes are renewal notes, may be exchanged for 

notes then outstanding on such terms as the board shall 

determine. Such notes shall be paid from the proceeds of such 

bonds when issued. The board may, in its discretion, in lieu of 

retiring the notes by means of bonds, retire them by means of 

current revenues or from any taxes or assessments levied for the 

payment of such bonds, but, in such event, a like amount of the 

bonds authorized shall not be issued. 

(9) BORROWING.-The District may, at any time, obtain 

loans, in such amount and on such terms and conditions as the 

board may approve, for the purpose of paying any of the expenses 

of the District or any costs incurred or that may be incurred in 

connection with any of the projects of the District, which loans 

shall bear interest as the board determines, not to exceed the 

maximum rate allowed by general law, and may be payable from and 

secured by a pledge of such funds, revenues, taxes, and 

assessments as the board may determine; subject, however, to the 

provisions contained in any proceeding under which bonds were 

theretofore issued and are then outstanding. For the purpose of 

defraying such costs and expenses, the District may issue 

Page 79 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1976 

1977 

1978 

1979 

1980 

1981 

1982 

1983 

1984 

1985 

1986 

1987 

1988 

1989 

1990 

1991 

1992 

1993 

1994 

1995 

1996 

1997 

1998 

1999 

2000 

HB 1303 2020 

negotiable notes, warrants, or other evidences of debt to be 

payable at such date or dates and to bear such interest as the 

board may determine, not to exceed the maximum rate allowed by 

general law, and to be sold or discounted at such price or 

prices not less than 95 percent of par value and on such terms 

as the board may deem advisable. The board shall have the right 

to provide for the payment thereof by pledging the whole or any 

part of the funds, revenues, taxes, and assessments of the 

District or by covenanting to budget and appropriate from such 

funds. The approval of the electors residing in the District 

shall not be necessary except when required by the State 

Constitution. 

( 10) BONDS.-

(a) Sale of bonds.-Bonds may be sold in blocks or 

installments at different times, or an entire issue or series 

may be sold at one time. Bonds may be sold at public or private 

sale after such advertisement, if any, as the board may deem 

advisable, but not in any event at less than 90 percent of the 

par value thereof, together with accrued interest thereon. Bonds 

may be sold or exchanged for refunding bonds. Special assessment 

and revenue bonds may be delivered by the District as payment of 

the purchase price of any project or part thereof, or a 

combination of projects or parts thereof, or as the purchase 

price or exchange for any property, real, personal, or mixed, 

including franchises or services rendered by any contractor, 

Page 80 of 124 

CODING: Words strioken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2001 

2002 

2003 

2004 

2005 

2006 

2007 

2008 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

2022 

2023 

2024 

2025 

HB 1303 2020 

engineer, or other person, all at one time or in blocks from 

time to time, in such manner and upon such terms as the board at 

its discretion shall determine. The price or prices for any 

bonds sold, exchanged, or delivered may be: 

1. The money paid for the bonds. 

2. The principal amount, plus accrued interest to the date 

of redemption or exchange, or outstanding obligations exchanged 

for refunding bonds. 

3. In the case of special assessment or revenue bonds, the 

amount of any indebtedness to contractors or other persons paid 

with such bonds, or the fair value of any properties exchanged 

for the bonds, as determined by the board. 

(b) Authorization and form of bonds.-Any general 

obligation bonds, special assessment bonds, or revenue bonds may 

be authorized by resolution or resolutions of the board which 

shall be adopted by a majority of all the members thereof then 

in office. Such resolution or resolutions may be adopted at the 

same meeting at which they are introduced and need not be 

published or posted. The board may, by resolution, authorize the 

issuance of bonds and fix the aggregate amount of bonds to be 

issued; the purpose or purposes for which the moneys derived 

therefrom shall be expended, including, but not limited to, 

payment of costs as defined in paragraph (2) (i) of section 2; 

the rate or rates of interest, not to exceed the maximum rate 

allowed by general law; the denomination of the bonds; whether 

Page 81 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

2030 

2031 

2032 

2033 

2034 

2035 

2036 

2037 

2038 

2039 

2040 

2041 

2042 

2043 

2044 

2045 

2046 

2047 

2048 

2049 

2050 

HB 1303 2020 

or not the bonds are to be issued in one or more series; the 

date or dates of maturity, which shall not exceed 40 years from 

their respective dates of issuance; the medium of payment; the 

place or places within or without the state at which payment 

shall be made; registration privileges; redemption terms and 

privileges, whether with or without premium; the manner of 

execution; the form of the bonds, including any interest coupons 

to be attached thereto; the manner of execution of bonds and 

coupons; and any and all other terms, covenants, and conditions 

thereof and the establishment of revenue or other funds. Such 

authorizing resolution or resolutions may further provide for 

the contracts authorized bys. 159.825(1) (f) and (g), Florida 

Statutes, regardless of the tax treatment of such bonds being 

authorized, subject to the finding by the board of a net saving 

to the District resulting by reason thereof. Such authorizing 

resolution may further provide that such bonds may be executed 

in accordance with the Registered Public Obligations Act, except 

that bonds not issued in registered form shall be valid if 

manually countersigned by an officer designated by appropriate 

resolution of the board. The seal of the District may be 

affixed, lithographed, engraved, or otherwise reproduced in 

facsimile on such bonds. In case any officer whose signature 

shall appear on any bonds or coupons shall cease to be such 

officer before the delivery of such bonds, such signature or 

facsimile shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all 

Page 82 of 124 

CODING: Words strickeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2051 

2052 

2053 

2054 

2055 

2056 

2057 

2058 

2059 

2060 

2061 

2062 

2063 

2064 

2065 

2066 

2067 

2068 

2069 

2070 

2071 

2072 

2073 

2074 

2075 

HB 1303 

purposes the same as if he or she had remained in office until 

such delivery. 

2020 

(c) Interim certificates; replacement certificates.

Pending the preparation of definitive bonds, the board may issue 

interim certificates or receipts or temporary bonds, in such 

form and with such provisions as the board may determine, 

exchangeable for definitive bonds when such bonds have been 

executed and are available for delivery. The board may also 

provide for the replacement of any bonds which become mutilated, 

lost, or destroyed. 

(d) Negotiability of bonds.-Any bond issued under this act 

or any temporary bond, in the absence of an express recital on 

the face thereof that it is nonnegotiable, shall be fully 

negotiable and shall be and constitute a negotiable instrument 

within the meaning and for all purposes of the law merchant and 

the laws of the state. 

(e) Defeasance.-The board may make such provision with 

respect to the defeasance of the right, title, and interest of 

the holders of any of the bonds and obligations of the District 

in any revenues, funds, or other properties by which such bonds 

are secured as the board deems appropriate and, without 

limitation on th' foregoing, may provide that when such bonds or 

obligations become due and payable or shall have been called for 

redemption and the whole amount of the principal and interest 

and premium, if any, due and payable upon the bonds or 

Page 83 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2076 

2077 

2078 

2079 

2080 

2081 

2082 

2083 

2084 

2085 

2086 

2087 

2088 

2089 

2090 

2091 

2092 

2093 

2094 

2095 

2096 

2097 

2098 

2099 

2100 

HB 1303 2020 

obligations then outstanding shall be held in trust for such 

purpose, and provision shall also be made for paying all other 

sums payable in connection with such bonds or other obligations, 

then and in such event the right, title, and interest of the 

holders of the bonds in any revenues, funds, or other properties 

by which such bonds are secured shall thereupon cease, 

terminate, and become void; and the board may apply any surplus 

in any sinking fund established in connection with such bonds or 

obligations and all balances remaining in all other funds or 

accounts other than moneys held for the redemption or payment of 

the bonds or other obligations to any lawful purpose of the 

District as the board shall determine. 

(f) Issuance of additional bonds.-If the proceeds of any 

bonds are less than the cost of completing the project in 

connection with which such bonds were issued, the board may 

authorize the issuance of additional bonds, upon such terms and 

conditions as the board may provide in the resolution 

authorizing the issuance thereof, but only in compliance with 

the resolution or other proceedings authorizing the issuance of 

the original bonds. 

(g) Refunding bonds.-The District shall have the power to 

issue bonds to provide for the retirement or refunding of any 

bonds or obligations of the District that at the time of such 

issuance are or subsequent thereto become due and payable, or 

that at the time of issuance have been called or are, or will 

Page 84 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2101 

2102 

2103 

2104 

2105 

2106 

2107 

2108 

2109 

2110 

2111 

2112 

2113 

2114 

2115 

2116 

2117 

2118 

2119 

2120 

2121 

2122 

2123 

2124 

2125 

HB 1303 2020 

be, subject to call for redemption within 10 years thereafter, 

or the surrender of which can be procured from the holders 

thereof at prices satisfactory to the board. Refunding bonds may 

be issued at any time that in the judgment of the board such 

issuance will be advantageous to the District. No approval of 

the qualified electors residing in the District shall be 

required for the issuance of refunding bonds except in cases in 

which such approval is required by the State Constitution. The 

board may by resolution confer upon the holders of such 

refunding bonds all rights, powers, and remedies to which the 

holders would be entitled if they continued to be the owners and 

had possession of the bonds for the refinancing of which such 

refunding bonds are issued, including, but not limited to, the 

preservation of the lien of such bonds on the revenues of any 

project or on pledged funds, without extinguishment, impairment, 

or diminution thereof. The provisions of this act pertaining to 

bonds of the District shall, unless the context otherwise 

requires, govern the issuance of refunding bonds, the form and 

other details thereof, the rights of the holders thereof, and 

the duties of the board with respect thereto. 

(h) Revenue bonds.-

1. The District shall have the power to issue revenue 

bonds from time to time without limitation as to amount. Such 

revenue bonds may be secured by, or payable from, the gross or 

net pledge of the revenues to be derived from any project or 

Page 85 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2126 

2127 

2128 

2129 

2130 

2131 

2132 

2133 

2134 

2135 

2136 

2137 

2138 

2139 

2140 

2141 

2142 

2143 

2144 

2145 

2146 

2147 

2148 

2149 

2150 

HB 1303 2020 

combination of projects; from the rates, fees, or other charges 

to be collected from the users of any project or combination of 

projects; from any revenue-producing undertaking or activity of 

the District; from special assessments; or from benefit special 

assessments; or from any other source or pledged security. Such 

bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness of the District, and 

the approval of the qualified electors shall not be required 

unless such bonds are additionally secured by the full faith and 

credit and taxing power of the District. 

2. Any two or more projects may be combined and 

consolidated into a single project and may hereafter be operated 

and maintained as a single project. The revenue bonds authorized 

herein may be issued to finance any one or more of such 

projects, regardless of whether such projects have been combined 

and consolidated into a single project. If the board deems it 

advisable, the proceedings authorizing such revenue bonds may 

provide that the District may thereafter combine the projects 

then being financed or theretofore financed with other projects 

to be subsequently financed by the District and that revenue 

bonds to be thereafter issued by the District shall be on parity 

with the revenue bonds then being issued, all on such terms, 

conditions, and limitations as shall have been provided in the 

proceeding which authorized the original bonds. 

(i) General obligation bonds.-

1. Subject to the limitations of this charter, the 

Page 86 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2151 

2152 

2153 

2154 

2155 

2156 

2157 

2158 

2159 

2160 

2161 

2162 

2163 

2164 

2165 

2166 

2167 

2168 

2169 

2170 

2171 

2172 

2173 

2174 

2175 

HB 1303 2020 

District shall have the power from time to time to issue general 

obligation bonds to finance or refinance capital projects or to 

refund outstanding bonds in an aggregate principal amount of 

bonds outstanding at any one time not in excess of 35 percent of 

the assessed value of the taxable property within the District 

as shown on the pertinent tax records at the time of the 

authorization of the general obligation bonds for which the full 

faith and credit of the District is pledged. Except for 

refunding bonds, no general obligation bonds shall be issued 

unless the bonds are issued to finance or refinance a capital 

project and the issuance has been approved at an election held 

in accordance with the requirements for such election as 

prescribed by the State Constitution. Such elections shall be 

called to be held in the District by the Board of County 

Commissioners of Brevard County and the County Council of 

Volusia County upon the request of the board of the District. 

The expenses of calling and holding an election shall be at the 

expense of the District and the District shall reimburse the 

counties for any expenses incurred in calling or holding such 

election. 

2. The District may pledge its full faith and credit for 

the payment of the principal and interest on such general 

obligation bonds and for any reserve funds provided therefor and 

may unconditionally and irrevocably pledge itself to levy ad 

valorem taxes on all taxable property in the District, to the 

Page 87 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2176 

2177 

2178 

2179 

2180 

2181 

2182 

2183 

2184 

2185 

2186 

2187 

2188 

2189 

2190 

2191 

2192 

2193 

2194 

2195 

2196 

2197 

2198 

2199 

2200 

HB 1303 2020 

extent necessary for the payment thereof, without limitation as 

to rate or amount. 

3. If the board determines to issue general obligation 

bonds for more than one capital project, the approval of the 

issuance of the bonds for each and all such projects may be 

submitted to the electors on one and the same ballot. The 

failure of the electors to approve the issuance of bonds for any 

one or more capital projects shall not defeat the approval of 

bonds for any capital project which has been approved by the 

electors. 

4. In arriving at the amount of general obligation bonds 

permitted to be outstanding at any one time pursuant to 

subparagraph 1., there shall not be included any general 

obligation bonds that are additionally secured by the pledge of: 

a. Any assessments levied in an amount sufficient to pay 

the principal and interest on the general obligation bonds so 

additionally secured, which assessments have been equalized and 

confirmed by resolution of the board pursuant to this act ors. 

170.08, Florida Statutes. 

b. Water revenues, sewer revenues, or water and sewer 

revenues of the District to be derived from user fees in an 

amount sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the 

general obligation bonds so additionally secured. 

c. Any combination of assessments and revenues described 

in sub-subparagraphs a. and b. 

Page 88 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2201 

2202 

2203 

2204 

2205 

2206 

2207 

2208 

2209 

2210 

2211 

2212 

2213 

2214 

2215 

2216 

2217 

2218 

2219 

2220 

2221 

2222 

2223 

2224 

2225 

HB 1303 2020 

(j) Bonds as legal investment or security.-

1. Notwithstanding provisions of law to the contrary, all 

bonds issued under the provisions of this act shall constitute 

legal investments for savings banks, banks, trust companies, 

insurance companies, executors, administrators, trustees, 

guardians, and other fiduciaries and for any board, body, 

agency, instrumentality, county, municipality, or other 

political subdivision of the state and shall be and constitute 

security which may be deposited by banks or trust companies as 

security for deposits of state, county, municipal, or other 

public funds or by insurance companies as required or voluntary 

statutory deposits. 

2. Any bonds issued by the District shall be incontestable 

in the hands of bona fide purchasers or holders for value and 

shall not be invalid because of any irregularity or defect in 

the proceedings for the issue and sale thereof. 

(k) Covenants.-Any resolution authorizing the issuance of 

bonds may contain such covenants as the board may deem 

advisable, and all such covenants shall constitute valid and 

legally binding and enforceable contracts between the District 

and the bondholders, regardless of the time of issuance thereof. 

Such covenants may include, without limitation, covenants 

concerning the disposition of the bond proceeds; the use and 

disposition of project revenues; the pledging of revenues, 

taxes, and assessments; the obligations of the District with 

Page 89 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2226 

2227 

2228 

2229 

2230 

2231 

2232 

2233 

2234 

2235 

2236 

2237 

2238 

2239 

2240 

2241 

2242 

2243 

2244 

2245 

2246 

2247 

2248 

2249 

2250 

HB 1303 2020 

respect to the operation of the project and the maintenance of 

adequate project revenues; the issuance of additional bonds; the 

appointment, powers, and duties of trustees and receivers; the 

acquisition of outstanding bonds and obligations; restrictions 

on the establishing of competing projects or facilities; 

restrictions on the sale or disposal of the assets and property 

of the District; the priority of assessment liens; the priority 

of claims by bondholders on the taxing power of the District; 

the maintenance of deposits to ensure the payment of revenues by 

users of District facilities and services; the discontinuance of 

District services by reason of delinquent payments; acceleration 

upon default; the execution of necessary instruments; the 

procedure for amending or abrogating covenants with the 

bondholders; and such other covenants as may be deemed necessary 

or desirable for the security of the bondholders. 

(1) Validation proceedings.-The power of the District to 

issue bonds under the provisions of this act may be determined, 

and any of the bonds of the District maturing over a period of 

more than 5 years shall be validated and confirmed, by court 

decree, under the provisions of chapter 75, Florida Statutes, 

and laws amendatory thereof or supplementary thereto. 

(m) Tax exemption.-To the extent allowed by >2neral law, 

all bonds issued hereunder and interest paid thereon and all 

fees, charges, and other revenues derived by the District from 

the projects provided by this act are exempt from all taxes by 

Page 90 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA HOU S-E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2251 

2252 

2253 

2254 

2255 

2256 

2257 

2258 

2259 

2260 

2261 

2262 

2263 

2264 

2265 

2266 

2267 

2268 

2269 

2270 

2271 

2272 

2273 

2274 

2275 

HB 1303 2020 

the state or by any political subdivision, agency, or 

instrumentality thereof; however, any interest, income, or 

profits on debt obligations issued hereunder are not exempt from 

the tax imposed by chapter 220, Florida Statutes. Further, the 

District is not exempt from the provisions of chapter 212, 

Florida Statutes. 

(n) Application.-Bonds issued by the District shall meet 

the criteria set forth ins. 189.051, Florida Statutes. 

(o) Act furnishes full authority for issuance of bonds.

This act constitutes full and complete authority for the 

issuance of bonds and the exercise of the powers of the District 

provided herein. No procedures or proceedings, publications, 

notices, consents, approvals, orders, acts, or things by the 

board, or any board, officer, commission, department, agency, or 

instrumentality of the District, other than those required by 

this act, shall be required to perform anything under this act, 

except that the issuance or sale of bonds pursuant to the 

provisions of this act shall comply with the general law 

requirements applicable to the issuance or sale of bonds by the 

District. Nothing in this act shall be construed to authorize 

the District to utilize bond proceeds to fund the ongoing 

operations of the District. 

(p) Pledge by the state to the bondholders of the 

District.-The state pledges to the holders of any bonds issued 

under this act that it will not limit or alter the rights of the 

Page 91 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2276 

2277 

2278 

2279 

2280 

2281 

2282 

2283 

2284 

2285 

2286 

2287 

2288 

2289 

2290 

2291 

2292 

2293 

2294 

2295 

2296 

2297 

2298 

2299 

2300 

HB 1303 2020 

District to own, acquire, construct, reconstruct, improve, 

maintain, operate, or furnish the projects or to levy and 

collect the taxes, assessments, rentals, rates, fees, and other 

charges provided for herein and to fulfill the terms of any 

agreement made with the holders of such bonds or other 

obligations and that it will not in any way impair the rights or 

remedies of such holders. 

(q) Default.-A default on the bonds or obligations of a 

District shall not constitute a debt or obligation of the state 

or any general-purpose local government or the state. In the 

event of a default or dissolution of the District, no general

purpose local government shall be required to assume the 

property of the District, the debts of the District, or the 

District's obligations to complete any infrastructure 

improvements or provide any services to the District. The 

provisions of s. 189.076(2), Florida Statutes, shall not apply 

to the District. 

(11) TRUST AGREEMENTS.-Any issue of bonds shall be secured 

by a trust agreement or resolution by and between the District 

and a corporate trustee or trustees, which may be any trust 

company or bank having the powers of a trust company within or 

without the state. The resolution authorizing the issuance of 

the bonds or such trust agreement may pledge the revenues to be 

received from any projects of the District and may contain such 

provisions for protecting and enforcing the rights and remedies 

Page 92 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2301 

2302 

2303 

2304 

2305 

2306 

2307 

2308 

2309 

2310 

2311 

2312 

2313 

2314 

2315 

2316 

2317 

2318 

2319 

2320 

2321 

2322 

2323 

2324 

2325 

HB 1303 2020 

of the bondholders as the board may approve, including, without 

limitation, covenants setting forth the duties of the District 

in relation to: the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 

improvement, maintenance, repair, operation, and insurance of 

any projects; the fixing and revising of the rates, fees, and 

charges; and the custody, safeguarding, and application of all 

moneys and for the employment of consulting engineers in 

connection with such acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 

improvement, maintenance, repair, or operation. It shall be 

lawful for any bank or trust company within or without the state 

which may act as a depository of the proceeds of bonds or of 

revenues to furnish such indemnifying bonds or to pledge such 

securities as may be required by the District. Such resolution 

or trust agreement may set forth the rights and remedies of the 

bondholders and of the trustee, if any, and may restrict the 

individual right of action by bondholders. The board may provide 

for the payment of proceeds of the sale of the bonds and the 

revenues of any project to such officer, board, or depository as 

it may designate for the custody thereof and may provide for the 

method of disbursement thereof with such safeguards and 

restrictions as it may determine. All expenses incurred in 

carrying jut the provisions of such resolution or trust 

agreement may be treated as part of the cost of operation of the 

project to which such trust agreement pertains. 

(12) AD VALOREM TAXES; ASSESSMENTS, BENEFIT SPECIAL 

Page 93 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2326 

2327 

2328 

2329 

2330 

2331 

2332 

2333 

2334 

2335 

2336 

2337 

2338 

2339 

2340 

2341 

2342 

2343 

2344 

2345 

2346 

2347 

2348 

2349 

2350 

HB 1303 

ASSESSMENTS, MAINTENANCE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, AND SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENTS; MAINTENANCE TAXES.-

2020 

(a) Ad valorem taxes.-At such time as all members of the 

board are qualified electors who are elected by qualified 

electors of the District, the board shall have the power to levy 

and assess an ad valorem tax on all the taxable property in the 

District to construct, operate, and maintain assessable 

improvements; to pay the principal of, and interest on, any 

general obligation bonds of the District; and to provide for any 

sinking or other funds established in connection with any such 

bonds. An ad valorem tax levied by the board for operating 

purposes, exclusive of debt service on bonds, shall not exceed 3 

mills. The ad valorem tax provided for herein shall be in 

addition to county and all other ad valorem taxes provided for 

by law. Such tax shall be assessed, levied, and collected in the 

same manner and at the same time as county taxes. The levy of ad 

valorem taxes must be approved by referendum as required bys. 

9, Art. VII of the State Constitution. 

(b) Benefit special assessments.-The board annually shall 

determine, order, and levy the annual installment of the total 

benefit special assessments for bonds issued and related 

expenses to finance assessable improvements. These assessments 

may be due and collected during each year county taxes are due 

and collected, in which case such annual installment and levy 

shall be evidenced to and certified to the property appraiser by 

Page 94 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2351 

2352 

2353 

2354 

2355 

2356 

2357 

2358 

2359 

2360 

2361 

2362 

2363 

2364 

2365 

2366 

2367 

2368 

2369 

2370 

2371 

2372 

2373 

2374 

2375 

HB 1303 2020 

the board not later than August 31 of each year. Such assessment 

shall be entered by the property appraiser on the county tax 

rolls and shall be collected and enforced by the tax collector 

in the same manner and at the same time as county taxes, and the 

proceeds thereof shall be paid to the District. However, this 

subsection shall not prohibit the District in its discretion 

from using the method prescribed in either s. 197.3632, Florida 

Statutes, or chapter 173, Florida Statutes, as each may be 

amended from time to time, for collecting and enforcing these 

assessments. Each annual installment of benefit special 

assessments shall be a lien on the property against which 

assessed until paid and shall be enforceable in like manner as 

county taxes. The amount of the assessment for the exercise of 

the District's powers under subsections (6) and (7) shall be 

determined by the board based upon a report of the District's 

engineer and assessed by the board upon such lands, which may be 

part or all of the lands within the District benefited by the 

improvement, apportioned between benefited lands in proportion 

to the benefits received by each tract of land. The board may, 

if it determines it is in the best interests of the District, 

set forth in the proceedings initially levying such benefit 

special assessments or in subsequent proceedings a formula for 

the determination of an amount, which when paid by a taxpayer 

with respect to any tax parcel shall constitute a prepayment of 

all future annual installments of such benefit special 

Page 95 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2376 

2377 

2378 

2379 

2380 

2381 

2382 

2383 

2384 

2385 

2386 

2387 

2388 

2389 

2390 

2391 

2392 

2393 

2394 

2395 

2396 

2397 

2398 

2399 

2400 

HB 1303 2020 

assessments and that the payment of which amount with respect to 

such tax parcel shall relieve and discharge such tax parcel of 

the lien of such benefit special assessments and any subsequent 

annual installment thereof. The board may provide further that 

upon delinquency in the payment of any annual installment of 

benefit special assessments, the prepayment amount of all future 

annual installments of benefit special assessments shall be and 

become immediately due and payable together with such delinquent 

annual installment. 

(c) Non-ad valorem maintenance taxes.-If and when 

authorized by general law, to maintain and to preserve the 

physical facilities and services constituting the works, 

improvements, or infrastructure owned by the District pursuant 

to this act, to repair and restore any one or more of them, when 

needed, and to defray the current expenses of the District, 

including any sum which may be required to pay state and county 

ad valorem taxes on any lands which may have been purchased and 

which are held by the District under the provisions of this act, 

the board of supervisors may, upon the completion of said 

systems, facilities, services, works, improvements, or 

infrastructure, in whole or in part, as may be certified to the 

board by the engineer of the board, levy annually a non-ad 

valorem and non-millage tax upon each tract or parcel of land 

within the District, to be known as a "maintenance tax." This 

non-ad valorem maintenance tax shall be apportioned upon the 

Page 96 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2401 

2402 

2403 

2404 

2405 

2406 

2407 

2408 

2409 

2410 

2411 

2412 

2413 

2414 

2415 

2416 

2417 

2418 

2419 

2420 

2421 

2422 

2423 

2424 

2425 

HB 1303 2020 

basis of the net assessments of benefits assessed as accruing 

from the original construction and shall be evidenced to and 

certified by the board of supervisors of the District not later 

than June 1 of each year to the tax collectors for Brevard and 

Volusia Counties and shall be extended on the tax rolls and 

collected by the tax collector on the merged collection roll of 

the tax collector in the same manner and at the same time as 

county ad valorem taxes, and the proceeds therefrom shall be 

paid to the District. This non-ad valorem maintenance tax shall 

be a lien until paid on the property against which assessed and 

enforceable in like manner and of the same dignity as county ad 

valorem taxes. 

(d) Maintenance special assessments.-To maintain and 

preserve the facilities and projects of the District, the board 

may levy a maintenance special assessment. This assessment may 

be evidenced to and certified to the tax collector by the board 

of supervisors not later than August 31 of each year and shall 

be entered by the property appraiser on the county tax rolls and 

shall be collected and enforced by the tax collector in the same 

manner and at the same time as county taxes, and the proceeds 

therefrom shall be paid to the District. However, this 

subsection shall not prohibit the District in its discretion 

from using the method prescribed ins. 197.363, s. 197.3631, or 

s. 197.3632, Florida Statutes, for collecting and enforcing 

these assessments. These maintenance special assessments shall 

Page 97 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2426 

2427 

2428 

2429 

2430 

2431 

2432 

2433 

2434 

2435 

2436 

2437 

2438 

2439 

2440 

2441 

2442 

2443 

2444 

2445 

2446 

2447 

2448 

2449 

2450 

HB 1303 2020 

be a lien on the property against which assessed until paid and 

shall be enforceable in like manner as county taxes. The amount 

of the maintenance special assessment for the exercise of the 

District's powers under this section shall be determined by the 

board based upon a report of the District's engineer and 

assessed by the board upon such lands, which may be all of the 

lands within the District benefited by the maintenance thereof, 

apportioned between the benefited lands in proportion to the 

benefits received by each tract of land. 

(e) Special assessments.-The board may levy and impose any 

special assessments pursuant to this subsection. 

(f) Enforcement of taxes.-The collection and enforcement 

of all taxes levied by the District shall be at the same time 

and in like manner as county taxes, and the provisions of the 

Laws of Florida relating to the sale of lands for unpaid and 

delinquent county taxes; the issuance, sale, and delivery of tax 

certificates for such unpaid and delinquent county taxes; the 

redemption thereof; the issuance to individuals of tax deeds 

based thereon; and all other procedures in connection therewith 

shall be applicable to the District to the same extent as if 

such statutory provisions were expressly set forth herein. All 

taxes shall be subject to the same discounts as county taxes. 

(g) When unpaid tax is delinquent; penalty.-All taxes 

provided for in this act shall become delinquent and bear 

penalties on the amount of such taxes in the same manner as 

Page 98 of 124 

CODING: Words strickeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2451 

2452 

2453 

2454 

2455 

2456 

2457 

2458 

2459 

2460 

2461 

2462 

2463 

2464 

2465 

2466 

2467 

2468 

2469 

2470 

2471 

2472 

2473 

2474 

2475 

HB 1303 2020 

county taxes. 

(h) Status of assessments.-Benefit special assessments, 

maintenance special assessments, and special assessments are 

hereby found and determined to be non-ad valorem assessments as 

defined bys. 197.3632, Florida Statutes. Maintenance taxes are 

non-ad valorem taxes and are not special assessments. 

(i) Assessments constitute liens; collection.-Any and all 

assessments, including special assessments, benefit special 

assessments, and maintenance special assessments authorized by 

this section, and including special assessments as defined in 

paragraph (2) (z) of section 2 and granted and authorized by this 

subsection, and including maintenance taxes if authorized by 

general law, shall constitute a lien on the property against 

which assessed from the date of levy and imposition thereof 

until paid, coequal with the lien of state, county, municipal, 

and school board taxes. These assessments may be collected, at 

the District's discretion, under authority of s. 197.3631, 

Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, by the tax 

collector pursuant to the provisions of ss. 197.3632 and 

197.3635, Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, or in 

accordance with other collection measures provided by law. In 

addition to, and not in limitation of, any powers otherwise set 

forth herein or in general law, these assessments may also be 

enforced pursuant to the provisions of chapter 173, Florida 

Statutes, as amended from time to time. 

Page 99 of 124 

CODING: Words strisken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



F L_ 0 R I D A H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2476 

2477 

2478 

2479 

2480 

2481 

2482 

2483 

2484 

2485 

2486 

2487 

2488 

2489 

2490 

2491 

2492 

2493 

2494 

2495 

2496 

2497 

2498 

2499 

2500 

HB 1303 2020 

(j) Land owned by governmental entity.-Except as otherwise 

provided by law, no levy of ad valorem taxes or non-ad valorem 

assessments under this act or chapter 170, Florida Statutes, or 

chapter 197, Florida Statutes, as each may be amended from time 

to time, or otherwise, by a board of the District on property of 

a governmental entity that is subject to a ground lease as 

described ins. 190.003(14), Florida Statutes, shall constitute 

a lien or encumbrance on the underlying fee interest of such 

governmental entity. 

(13) SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.-

(a) As an alternative method to the levy and imposition of 

special assessments pursuant to chapter 170, Florida Statutes, 

pursuant to the authority of s. 197.3631, Florida Statutes, or 

pursuant to other provisions of general law, now or hereafter 

enacted, which provide a supplemental means or authority to 

impose, levy, and collect special assessments as otherwise 

authorized under this act, the board may levy and impose special 

assessments to finance the exercise of any of its powers 

permitted under this act using the following uniform procedures: 

1. At a noticed meeting, the board of supervisors of the 

District may consider and review an engineer's report on the 

costs of the systems, facilities, and servi·es to be provided, a 

preliminary special assessment methodology, and a preliminary 

roll based on acreage or platted lands, depending upon whether 

platting has occurred. 

Page 100 of 124 

CODING: Words strickeR are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2501 

2502 

2503 

2504 

2505 

2506 

2507 

2508 

2509 

2510 

2511 

2512 

2513 

2514 

2515 

2516 

2517 

2518 

2519 

2520 

2521 

2522 

2523 

2524 

2525 

HB 1303 2020 

a. The special assessment methodology shall address and 

discuss and the board shall consider whether the systems, 

facilities, and services being contemplated will result in 

special benefits peculiar to the property, different in kind and 

degree than general benefits, as a logical connection between 

the systems, facilities, and services themselves and the 

property, and whether the duty to pay the special assessments by 

the property owners is apportioned in a manner that is fair and 

equitable and not in excess of the special benefit received. It 

shall be fair and equitable to designate a fixed proportion of 

the annual debt service, together with interest thereon, on the 

aggregate principal amount of bonds issued to finance such 

systems, facilities, and services which give rise to unique, 

special, and peculiar benefits to property of the same or 

similar characteristics under the special assessment methodology 

so long as such fixed proportion does not exceed the unique, 

special, and peculiar benefits enjoyed by such property from 

such systems, facilities, and services. 

b. The engineer's cost report shall identify the nature of 

the proposed systems, facilities, and services, their location, 

a cost breakdown plus a total estimated cost, including cost of 

construction or reconstruction, labor, and materials, lands, 

property, rights, easements, franchises, or systems, facilities, 

and services to be acquired, cost of plans and specifications, 

surveys of estimates of costs and revenues, costs of 

Page 101 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2526 

2527 

2528 

2529 

2530 

2531 

2532 

2533 

2534 

2535 

2536 

2537 

2538 

2539 

2540 

2541 

2542 

2543 

2544 

2545 

2546 

2547 

2548 

2549 

2550 

HB 1303 2020 

engineering, legal, and other professional consultation 

services, and other expenses or costs necessary or incident to 

determining the feasibility or practicability of such 

construction, reconstruction, or acquisition, administrative 

expenses, relationship to the authority and power of the 

District in its charter, and such other expenses or costs as may 

be necessary or incident to the financing to be authorized by 

the board of supervisors. 

c. The preliminary special assessment roll shall be in 

accordance with the assessment methodology as may be adopted by 

the board of supervisors; the special assessment roll shall be 

completed as promptly as possible and shall show the acreage, 

lots, lands, or plats assessed and the amount of the fairly and 

reasonably apportioned assessment based on special and peculiar 

benefit to the property, lot, parcel, or acreage of land; and, 

if the special assessment against such lot, parcel, acreage, or 

portion of land is to be paid in installments, the number of 

annual installments in which the special assessment is divided 

shall be entered into and shown upon the special assessment 

roll. 

2. The board of supervisors of the District may determine 

and declare by an initial special assessment resolution to levy 

and assess the special assessments with respect to assessable 

improvements stating the nature of the systems, facilities, and 

services, improvements, projects, or infrastructure constituting 

Page 102 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2551 

2552 

2553 

2554 

2555 

2556 

2557 

2558 

2559 

2560 

2561 

2562 

2563 

2564 

2565 

2566 

2567 

2568 

2569 

2570 

2571 

2572 

2573 

2574 

2575 

HB 1303 2020 

such assessable improvements, the information in the engineer's 

cost report, the information in the special assessment 

methodology as determined by the board at the noticed meeting 

and referencing and incorporating as part of the resolution the 

engineer's cost report, the preliminary special assessment 

methodology, and the preliminary special assessment roll as 

referenced exhibits to the resolution by reference. If the board 

determines to declare and levy the special assessments by the 

initial special assessment resolution, the board shall also 

adopt and declare a notice resolution which shall provide and 

cause the initial special assessment resolution to be published 

once a week for 2 consecutive weeks in newspapers of general 

circulation in Brevard and Volusia Counties, and said board 

shall by the same resolution fix a time and place at which the 

owner or owners of the property to be assessed or any other 

persons interested therein may appear before said board and be 

heard as to the propriety and advisability of making such 

improvements, as to the costs thereof, as to the manner of 

payment therefor, and as to the amount thereof to be assessed 

against each property so improved. Thirty days' notice in 

writing of such time and place shall be given to such property 

o.ners. The notice shall include the amount of the special 

assessment and shall be served by mailing a copy to each 

assessed property owner at his or her last known address, the 

names and addresses of such property owners to be obtained from 

Page 103 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2576 

2577 

2578 

2579 

2580 

2581 

2582 

2583 

2584 

2585 

2586 

2587 

2588 

2589 

2590 

2591 

2592 

2593 

2594 

2595 

2596 

2597 

2598 

2599 

2600 

HB 1303 2020 

the record of the property appraiser of the county political 

subdivision in which the land is located or from such other 

sources as the District manager or engineer deems reliable, and 

proof of such mailing shall be made by the affidavit of the 

manager of the District or by the engineer, said proof to be 

filed with the District manager, provided that failure to mail 

said notice or notices shall not invalidate any of the 

proceedings hereunder. It is provided further that the last 

publication shall be at least 1 week prior to the date of the 

hearing on the final special assessment resolution. Said notice 

shall describe the general areas to be improved and advise all 

persons interested that the description of each property to be 

assessed and the amount to be assessed to each piece, parcel, 

lot, or acre of property may be ascertained at the office of the 

manager of the District. Such service by publication shall be 

verified by the affidavit of the publisher and filed with the 

manager of the District. Moreover, the initial special 

assessment resolution with its attached, referenced, and 

incorporated engineer's cost report, preliminary special 

assessment methodology, and preliminary special assessment roll, 

along with the notice resolution, shall be available for public 

inspection at the office of the manager and the office of the 

engineer or any other office designated by the board of 

supervisors in the notice resolution. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the landowners of all of the property which is 

Page 104 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2601 

2602 

2603 

2604 

2605 

2606 

2607 

2608 

2609 

2610 

2611 

2612 

2613 

2614 

2615 

2616 

2617 

2618 

2619 

2620 

2621 

2622 

2623 

2624 

2625 

HB 1303 2020 

proposed to be assessed may give the District written notice of 

waiver of any notice and publication provided for in this 

subparagraph and such notice and publication shall not be 

required; provided, however, that any meeting of the board of 

supervisors to consider such resolution shall be a publicly 

noticed meeting. 

3. At the time and place named in the noticed resolution 

as provided for in subparagraph 2., the board of supervisors of 

the District shall meet and hear testimony from affected 

property owners as to the propriety and advisability of making 

the systems, facilities, services, projects, works, 

improvements, or infrastructure and funding them with 

assessments referenced in the initial special assessment 

resolution on the property. Following the testimony and 

questions from the members of the board or any professional 

advisors to the District of the preparers of the engineer's cost 

report, the special assessment methodology, and the special 

assessment roll, the board of supervisors shall make a final 

decision on whether to levy and assess the particular special 

assessments. Thereafter, the board of supervisors shall meet as 

an equalizing board to hear and to consider any and all 

complaints as to the particular special assessments and shall 

adjust and equalize the special assessments to ensure proper 

assessment based on the benefit conferred on the property. 

4. When so equalized and approved by resolution or 

Page 105 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2626 

2627 

2628 

2629 

2630 

2631 

2632 

2633 

2634 

2635 

2636 

2637 

2638 

2639 

2640 

2641 

2642 

2643 

2644 

2645 

2646 

2647 

2648 

2649 

2650 

HB 1303 2020 

ordinance by the board of supervisors, to be called the final 

special assessment resolution, a final special assessment roll 

shall be filed with the clerk of the board and such special 

assessment shall stand confirmed and remain legal, valid, and 

binding first liens on the property against which such special 

assessments are made until paid, equal in dignity to the first 

liens of ad valorem taxation of county and municipal governments 

and school boards. However, upon completion of the systems, 

facilities, service, project, improvement, works, or 

infrastructure, the District shall credit to each of the 

assessments the difference in the special assessment as 

originally made, approved, levied, assessed, and confirmed and 

the proportionate part of the actual cost of the improvement to 

be paid by the particular special assessments as finally 

determined upon the completion of the improvement, but in no 

event shall the final special assessment exceed the amount of 

the special and peculiar benefits as apportioned fairly and 

reasonably to the property from the system, facility, or service 

being provided as originally assessed. Promptly after such 

confirmation, the special assessment shall be recorded by the 

clerk of the District in the minutes of the proceedings of the 

District, and the record of the lien in this set of minutes 

shall constitute prima facie evidence of its validity. The board 

of supervisors, in its sole discretion, may, by resolution, 

grant a discount equal to all or a part of the payee's 

Page 106 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2651 

2652 

2653 

2654 

2655 

2656 

2657 

2658 

2659 

2660 

2661 

2662 

2663 

2664 

2665 

2666 

2667 

2668 

2669 

2670 

2671 

2672 

2673 

2674 

2675 

HB 1303 2020 

proportionate share of the cost of the project consisting of 

bond financing cost, such as capitalized interest, funded 

reserves, and bond discounts included in the estimated cost of 

the project, upon payment in full of any special assessments 

during such period prior to the time such financing costs are 

incurred as may be specified by the board of supervisors in such 

resolution. 

5. District special assessments may be made payable in 

installments over no more than 40 years from the date of the 

payment of the first installment thereof and may bear interest 

at fixed or variable rates. 

(b) Notwithstanding any provision of this act or chapter 

170, Florida Statutes, that portion of s. 170.09, Florida 

Statutes, that provides that special assessments may be paid 

without interest at any time within 30 days after the 

improvement is completed and a resolution accepting the same has 

been adopted by the governing authority shall not be applicable 

to any District special assessments, whether imposed, levied, 

and collected pursuant to the provisions of this act or general 

law, including, but not limited to, chapter 170, Florida 

Statutes. 

(c) In addition, the District is authorized expressly in 

the exercise of its rulemaking power to adopt a rule or rules 

which provides or provide for notice, levy, imposition, 

equalization, and collection of assessments. 

Page 107 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2676 

2677 

2678 

2679 

2680 

2681 

2682 

2683 

2684 

2685 

2686 

2687 

2688 

2689 

2690 

2691 

2692 

2693 

2694 

2695 

2696 

2697 

2698 

2699 

2700 

HB 1303 2020 

( 14) ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATES OF INDEBTEDNESS BASED ON 

ASSESSMENTS FOR ASSESSABLE IMPROVEMENTS; ASSESSMENT BONDS.-

(a) The board may, after any special assessments or 

benefit special assessments for assessable improvements are 

made, determined, and confirmed as provided in this act, issue 

certificates of indebtedness for the amount so assessed against 

the abutting property or property otherwise benefited, as the 

case may be, and separate certificates shall be issued against 

each part or parcel of land or property assessed, which 

certificates shall state the general nature of the improvement 

for which the assessment is made. The certificates shall be 

payable in annual installments in accordance with the 

installments of the special assessment for which they are 

issued. The board may determine the interest to be borne by such 

certificates, not to exceed the maximum rate allowed by general 

law, and may sell such certificates at either private or public 

sale and determine the form, manner of execution, and other 

details of such certificates. The certificates shall recite that 

they are payable only from the special assessments levied and 

collected from the part or parcel of land or property against 

which they are issued. The proceeds of such certificates may be 

pledged for the payment of principal of and interest on any 

revenue bonds or general obligation bonds issued to finance in 

whole or in part such assessable improvement, or, if not so 

pledged, may be used to pay the cost or part of the cost of such 

Page 108 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2701 

2702 

2703 

2704 

2705 

2706 

2707 

2708 

2709 

2710 

2711 

2712 

2713 

2714 

2715 

2716 

2717 

2718 

2719 

2720 

2721 

2722 

2723 

2724 

2725 

HB 1303 2020 

assessable improvements. 

(b) The District may also issue assessment bonds, revenue 

bonds, or other obligations payable from a special fund into 

which such certificates of indebtedness referred to in paragraph 

(a) may be deposited or, if such certificates of indebtedness 

have not been issued, the District may assign to such special 

fund for the benefit of the holders of such assessment bonds or 

other obligations, or to a trustee for such bondholders, the 

assessment liens provided for in this act unless such 

certificates of indebtedness or assessment liens have been 

theretofore pledged for any bonds or other obligations 

authorized hereunder. In the event of the creation of such 

special fund and the issuance of such assessment bonds or other 

obligations, the proceeds of such certificates of indebtedness 

or assessment liens deposited therein shall be used only for the 

payment of the assessment bonds or other obligations issued as 

provided in this section. The District is authorized to covenant 

with the holders of such assessment bonds, revenue bonds, or 

other obligations that it will diligently and faithfully enforce 

and collect all the special assessments, and interest and 

penalties thereon, for which such certificates of indebtedness 

or assessment liens have been deposited in or assigned to such 

fund; to foreclose such assessment liens so assigned to such 

special fund or represented by the certificates of indebtedness 

deposited in the special fund, after such assessment liens have 

Page 109 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2726 

2727 

2728 

2729 

2730 

2731 

2732 

2733 

2734 

2735 

2736 

2737 

2738 

2739 

2740 

2741 

2742 

2743 

2744 

2745 

2746 

2747 

2748 

2749 

2750 

HB 1303 

become delinquent, and deposit the proceeds derived from such 

foreclosure, including interest and penalties, in such special 

fund; and to make any other covenants deemed necessary or 

advisable in order to properly secure the holders of such 

assessment bonds or other obligations. 

2020 

(c) The assessment bonds, revenue bonds, or other 

obligations issued pursuant to this section shall have such 

dates of issue and maturity as shall be deemed advisable by the 

board; however, the maturities of such assessment bonds or other 

obligations shall not be more than 2 years after the due date of 

the last installment which will be payable on any of the special 

assessments for which such assessment liens, or the certificates 

of indebtedness representing such assessment liens, are assigned 

to or deposited in such special fund. 

(d) Such assessment bonds, revenue bonds, or other 

obligations issued under this section shall bear such interest 

as the board may determine, not to exceed the maximum rate 

allowed by general law, and shall be executed, shall have such 

provisions for redemption prior to maturity, shall be sold in 

the manner, and shall be subject to all of the applicable 

provisions contained in this act for revenue bonds, except as 

the same may be inconsistent with t}:3 provisions of this 

section. 

(e) All assessment bonds, revenue bonds, or other 

obligations issued under the provisions of this section shall 

Page 110 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2751 

2752 

2753 

2754 

2755 

2756 

2757 

2758 

2759 

2760 

2761 

2762 

2763 

2764 

2765 

2766 

2767 

2768 

2769 

2770 

2771 

2772 

2773 

2774 

2775 

HB 1303 

be, shall constitute, and shall have all the qualities and 

incidents of negotiable instruments under the law merchant and 

the laws of the state. 

2020 

(15) TAX LIENS.-All taxes of the District provided for in 

this act, together with all penalties for default in the payment 

of the same and all costs in collecting the same, including a 

reasonable attorney fee fixed by the court and taxed as a cost 

in the action brought to enforce payment, shall, from January 1 

for each year the property is liable to assessment and until 

paid, constitute a lien of equal dignity with the liens for 

state and county taxes and other taxes of equal dignity with 

state and county taxes upon all the lands against which such 

taxes shall be levied. A sale of any of the real property within 

the District for state and county or other taxes shall not 

operate to relieve or release the property so sold from the lien 

for subsequent District taxes or installments of District taxes, 

which lien may be enforced against such property as though no 

such sale thereof had been made. For purposes of s. 197.552, 

Florida Statutes, in addition to and not in limitation of such 

sale, the lien of all special assessments levied by the District 

shall constitute a lien of record held by a municipal or county 

governmental unit. The provisions of ss. 194.171, 197.122, 

197.333, and 197.432, Florida Statutes, shall be applicable to 

District taxes with the same force and effect as if such 

provisions were expressly set forth in this act. 

Page 111 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2776 

2777 

2778 

2779 

2780 

2781 

2782 

2783 

2784 

2785 

2786 

2787 

2788 

2789 

2790 

2791 

2792 

2793 

2794 

2795 

2796 

2797 

2798 

2799 

2800 

HB 1303 2020 

( 16) PAYMENT OF TAXES AND REDEMPTION OF TAX LIENS BY THE 

DISTRICT; SHARING IN PROCEEDS OF TAX SALE.-

(a) The District shall have the power and right to: 

1. Pay any delinquent state, county, district, municipal, 

or other tax or assessment upon lands located wholly or 

partially within the boundaries of the District. 

2. Redeem or purchase any tax sales certificates issued or 

sold on account of any state, county, district, municipal, or 

other taxes or assessments upon lands located wholly or 

partially within the boundaries of the District. 

(b) Delinquent taxes paid, or tax sales certificates 

redeemed or purchased, by the District, together with all 

penalties for the default in payment of the same and all costs 

in collecting the same and a reasonable attorney fee, shall 

constitute a lien in favor of the District of equal dignity with 

the liens of state and county taxes and other taxes of equal 

dignity with state and county taxes upon all the real property 

against which the taxes were levied. The lien of the District 

may be foreclosed in the manner provided in this act. 

(c) In any sale of land pursuant to s. 197.542, Florida 

Statutes, as may be amended from time to time, the District may 

certify to the clerk of the circuit court of the county holding 

such sale the amount of taxes due to the District upon the lands 

sought to be sold, and the District shall share in the 

disbursement of the sales proceeds in accordance with the 

Page 112 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2801 

2802 

2803 

2804 

2805 

2806 

2807 

2808 

2809 

2810 

2811 

2812 

2813 

2814 

2815 

2816 

2817 

2818 

2819 

2820 

2821 

_'822 

2823 

2824 

2825 

HB 1303 2020 

provisions of this act and under the laws of the state. 

(17) FORECLOSURE OF LIENS.-Any lien in favor of the 

District ~rising under this act may be foreclosed by the 

District by foreclosure proceedings in the name of the District 

in a court of competent jurisdiction as provided by general law 

in like manner as is provided in chapter 170, Florida Statutes, 

or chapter 173, Florida Statutes, and amendments thereto and the 

provisions of those chapters shall be applicable to such 

proceedings with the same force and effect as if those 

provisions were expressly set forth in this act. Any act 

required or authorized to be done by or on behalf of a 

municipality in foreclosure proceedings under chapter 170, 

Florida Statutes, or chapter 173, Florida Statutes, may be 

performed by such officer or agent of the District as the board 

of supervisors may designate. Such foreclosure proceedings may 

be brought at any time after the expiration of 1 year from the 

date any tax, or installment thereof, becomes delinquent; 

however, no lien shall be foreclosed against any political 

subdivision or agency of the state. Other legal remedies shall 

remain available. 

(18) MANDATORY USE OF CERTAIN DISTRICT SYSTEMS, 

FACILITIES, AND SERVICES.-To the full extent permitted by law, 

the District shall require all lands, buildings, premises, 

persons, firms, and corporations within the District to use the 

facilities of the District. 

Page 113 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2826 

2827 

2828 

2829 

2830 

2831 

2832 

2833 

2834 

2835 

2836 

2837 

2838 

2839 

2840 

2841 

2842 

2843 

2844 

2845 

2846 

2847 

2848 

2849 

2850 

HB 1303 2020 

(19) COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT; BIDS; NEGOTIATIONS; RELATED 

PROVISIONS REQUIRED.-

(a) No contract shall be let by the board for any goods, 

supplies, or materials to be purchased when the amount thereof 

to be paid by the District shall exceed the amount provided in 

s. 287.017, Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, for 

category four, unless notice of bids shall be advertised once in 

newspapers of general circulation in Brevard and Volusia 

Counties. Any board seeking to construct or improve a public 

building, structure, or other public works shall comply with the 

bidding procedures of s. 255.20, Florida Statutes, as amended 

from time to time, and other applicable general law. In each 

case, the bid of the lowest responsive and responsible bidder 

shall be accepted unless all bids are rejected because the bids 

are too high or the board determines it is in the best interests 

of the District to reject all bids. The board may require the 

bidders to furnish bond with a responsible surety to be approved 

by the board. Nothing in this subsection shall prevent the board 

from undertaking and performing the construction, operation, and 

maintenance of any project or facility authorized by this act by 

the employment of labor, material, and machinery. 

(b) The provisions of the Consultants' Competitive 

Negotiation Act, s. 287.055, Florida Statutes, apply to 

contracts for engineering, architecture, landscape architecture, 

or registered surveying and mapping services let by the board. 

Page 114 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2851 

2852 

2853 

2854 

2855 

2856 

2857 

2858 

2859 

2860 

2861 

2862 

2863 

2864 

2865 

2866 

2867 

2868 

2869 

2870 

2871 

2872 

2873 

2874 

2875 

HB 1303 2020 

(c) Contracts for maintenance services for any District 

facility or project shall be subject to competitive bidding 

requirements when the amount thereof to be paid by the District 

exceeds the amount provided ins. 287.017, Florida Statutes, as 

amended from time to time, for category four. The District shall 

adopt rules, policies, or procedures establishing competitive 

bidding procedures for maintenance services. Contracts for other 

services shall not be subject to competitive bidding unless the 

District adopts a rule, policy, or procedure applying 

competitive bidding procedures to said contracts. Nothing herein 

shall preclude the use of requests for proposal instead of 

invitations to bid as determined by the District to be in its 

best interest. 

(20) FEES, RENTALS, AND CHARGES; PROCEDURE FOR ADOPTION 

AND MODIFICATIONS; MINIMUM REVENUE REQUIREMENTS.-

(a) The District is authorized to prescribe, fix, 

establish, and collect rates, fees, rentals, or other charges, 

hereinafter sometimes referred to as "revenues," and to revise 

the same from time to time, for the systems, facilities, and 

services furnished by the District, within the limits of the 

District, including, but not limited to, recreational 

facilities, water management and control facilities, and water 

and sewer systems; to recover the costs of making connection 

with any District service, facility, or system; and to provide 

for reasonable penalties against any user or property for any 

Page 115 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2876 

2877 

2878 

2879 

2880 

2881 

2882 

2883 

2884 

2885 

2886 

2887 

2888 

2889 

2890 

2891 

2892 

2893 

2894 

2895 

2896 

2897 

2898 

2899 

2900 

HB 1303 2020 

such rates, fees, rentals, or other charges that are delinquent. 

(b) No such rates, fees, rentals, or other charges for any 

of the facilities or services of the District shall be fixed 

until after a public hearing at which all the users of the 

proposed facility or services or owners, tenants, or occupants 

served or to be served thereby and all other interested persons 

shall have an opportunity to be heard concerning the proposed 

rates, fees, rentals, or other charges. Rates, fees, rentals, 

and other charges shall be adopted under the administrative 

rulemaking authority of the District, but shall not apply to 

District leases. Notice of such public hearing setting forth the 

proposed schedule or schedules of rates, fees, rentals, and 

other charges shall have been published at least once and at 

least 10 days prior to such public hearing in newspapers of 

general circulation in Brevard and Volusia Counties. The 

rulemaking hearing may be adjourned from time to time. After 

such hearing, such schedule or schedules, either as initially 

proposed or as modified or amended, may be finally adopted. A 

copy of the schedule or schedules of such rates, fees, rentals, 

or charges as finally adopted shall be kept on file in an office 

designated by the board and shall be open at all reasonable 

times to public inspection. The rates, fees, rentals, or charges 

so fixed for any class of users or property served shall be 

extended to cover any additional users or properties thereafter 

served which shall fall in the same class, without the necessity 

Page 116 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2901 

2902 

2903 

2904 

2905 

2906 

2907 

2908 

2909 

2910 

2911 

2912 

2913 

2914 

2915 

2916 

2917 

2918 

2919 

2920 

2921 

2922 

2923 

2924 

2925 

HB 1303 2020 

of any notice or hearing. 

(c) Such rates, fees, rentals, and charges shall be just 

and equitable and uniform for users of the same class, and when 

appropriate may be based or computed either upon the amount of 

service furnished, upon the average number of persons residing 

or working in or otherwise occupying the premises served, or 

upon any other factor affecting the use of the facilities 

furnished, or upon any combination of the foregoing factors, as 

may be determined by the board on an equitable basis. 

(d) The rates, fees, rentals, or other charges prescribed 

shall be such as will produce revenues, together with any other 

assessments, taxes, revenues, or funds available or pledged for 

such purpose, at least sufficient to provide for the items 

hereinafter listed, but not necessarily in the order stated: 

1. To provide for all expenses of operation and 

maintenance of such facility or service. 

2. To pay when due all bonds and interest thereon for the 

payment of which such revenues are, or shall have been, pledged 

or encumbered, including reserves for such purpose. 

3. To provide for any other funds which may be required 

under the resolution or resolutions authorizing the issuance of 

bonds pursuant to this act. 

(e) The board shall have the power to enter into contracts 

for the use of the projects of the District and with respect to 

the services, systems, and facilities furnished or to be 

Page 117 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2926 

2927 

2928 

2929 

2930 

2931 

2932 

2933 

2934 

2935 

2936 

2937 

2938 

2939 

2940 

2941 

2942 

2943 

2944 

2945 

2946 

2947 

2948 

2949 

2950 

HB 1303 2020 

furnished by the District. 

(21) RECOVERY OF DELINQUENT CHARGES.-In the event that any 

rates, fees, rentals, charges, or delinquent penalties are not 

paid as and when due and are in default for 60 days or more, the 

unpaid balance thereof and all interest accrued thereon, 

together with reasonable attorney fees and costs, may be 

recovered by the District in a civil action. 

(22) DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICE.-If any rentals, fees, or 

other charges for District services or facilities are not paid 

when due, the board shall have the power, under such reasonable 

rules and regulations as the board may adopt, to discontinue and 

shut off such services or facilities until such rentals, fees, 

or other charges, including interest, penalties, and other 

charges for the shutting off and discontinuance and the 

restoration of such services or facilities, are fully paid; and, 

for such purposes, the board may enter on any lands, waters, or 

premises of any person, firm, corporation, or body, public or 

private, within the District limits. Such delinquent rentals, 

fees, or other charges, including interest, penalties, and other 

charges for the shutting off and discontinuance and the 

restoration of such services or facilities and reasonable 

attorney fees and other expenses, may be recovered by the 

District, which may also enforce payment of such delinquent 

rentals, fees, or other charges by any other lawful method of 

enforcement. 

Page 118 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2951 

2952 

2953 

2954 

2955 

2956 

2957 

2958 

2959 

2960 

2961 

2962 

2963 

2964 

2965 

2966 

2967 

2968 

2969 

2970 

2971 

2972 

2973 

2974 

2975 

HB 1303 2020 

(23) ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES.-The board or any aggrieved 

person may have recourse to such remedies in law and at equity 

as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

this act, including injunctive relief to enjoin or restrain any 

person violating the provisions of this act or any bylaws, 

resolutions, regulations, rules, codes, or orders adopted under 

this act. In case any building or structure is erected, 

constructed, reconstructed, altered, repaired, converted, or 

maintained, or any building, structure, land, or water is used, 

in violation of this act or of any code, order, resolution, or 

other regulation made under authority conferred by this act or 

under law, the board or any citizen residing in the District may 

institute any appropriate action or proceeding to prevent such 

unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, 

repair, conversion, maintenance, or use; to restrain, correct, 

or avoid such violation; to prevent the occupancy of such 

building, structure, land, or water; and to prevent any illegal 

act, conduct, business, or use in or about such premises, land, 

or water. 

(24) SUITS AGAINST THE DISTRICT.-Any suit or action 

brought or maintained against the District for damages arising 

out of tort, including, without limitation, any claim arising 

upon account of an act causing an injury or loss of property, 

personal injury, or death, shall be subject to the limitations 

provided ins. 768.28, Florida Statutes. 

Page 119 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2976 

2977 

2978 

2979 

2980 

2981 

2982 

2983 

2984 

2985 

2986 

2987 

2988 

2989 

2990 

2991 

2992 

2993 

2994 

2995 

2996 

2997 

2998 

2999 

3000 

HB 1303 2020 

(25) EXEMPTION OF DISTRICT PROPERTY FROM EXECUTION.-All 

District property shall be exempt from levy and sale by virtue 

of an execution, and no execution or other judicial process 

shall issue against such property, nor shall any judgment 

against the District be a charge or lien on its property or 

revenues; however, nothing contained herein shall apply to or 

limit the rights of bondholders to pursue any remedy for the 

enforcement of any lien or pledge given by the District in 

connection with any of the bonds or obligations of the District. 

(26) TERMINATION, CONTRACTION, OR EXPANSION OF DISTRICT.

(a) The board of supervisors of the District shall not ask 

the Legislature to repeal or amend this act to expand or to 

contract the boundaries of the District or otherwise cause the 

merger or termination of the District without first obtaining a 

resolution or official statement from Brevard and Volusia 

Counties and the City of Edgewater as required bys. 

189.031(2) (e)4., Florida Statutes, for creation of an 

independent special district. The District's consent may be 

evidenced by a resolution or other official written statement of 

the District. 

(b) The District shall remain in existence until: 

1. The District is tertinated and dissolved pursuant to 

amendment to this act by the Legislature. 

2. The District has become inactive pursuant to s. 

189.062, Florida Statutes. 

Page 120 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

3001 

3002 

3003 

3004 

3005 

3006 

3007 

3008 

3009 

3010 

3011 

3012 

3013 

3014 

3015 

3016 

3017 

3018 

3019 

3020 

3021 

3022 

3023 

3024 

3025 

HB 1303 2020 

(27) MERGER WITH COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS.-

(a) The District may merge with one or more community 

development districts situated wholly within its boundaries. The 

District shall be the surviving entity of the merger. Any 

mergers shall commence upon each such community development 

district filing a written request for merger with the District. 

A copy of the written request shall also be filed with Brevard 

and Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater. The District, 

subject to the direction of its board, shall enter into a merger 

agreement which shall provide for: 

1. The proper allocation of debt; 

2. The manner in which such debt shall be retired; 

3. The transition of the community development district 

board; and 

4. The transfer of all financial obligations and operating 

and maintenance responsibilities to the District. 

(b) The execution of the merger agreement by the District 

and each community development district constitutes consent of 

the landowners within each District. The District and each 

community development district requesting merger shall hold a 

public hearing within its boundaries to provide information 

about and take public comment on the proposed merger in the 

merger agreement. The public hearing shall be held within 45 

days after the execution of the merger agreement by all parties 

thereto. Notice of the public hearing shall be published at 

Page 121 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

3026 

3027 

3028 

3029 

3030 

3031 

3032 

3033 

3034 

3035 

3036 

3037 

3038 

3039 

3040 

3041 

3042 

3043 

3044 

3045 

3046 

3047 

3048 

3049 

3050 

HB 1303 2020 

least 14 days before the hearing in newspapers of general 

circulation in Brevard and Volusia Counties. At the conclusion 

of the public hearing each District shall consider a resolution 

either approving or disapproving of the proposed merger. If the 

District and each community development district which is a 

party to the merger agreement adopt a resolution approving the 

proposed merger, the resolutions and the merger shall be filed 

with Brevard and Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater. 

Upon receipt of the resolutions approving the merger and the 

merger agreement, the county or city which originally 

established the community development district shall adopt a 

nonemergency ordinance dissolving such community development 

district pursuant to s. 190.046(10), Florida Statutes. 

(28) INCLUSION OF TERRITORY.-The inclusion of any or all 

territory of the District within a municipality does not change, 

alter, or affect the boundary, territory, existence, or 

jurisdiction of the District. 

(29) SALE OF REAL ESTATE WITHIN THE DISTRICT; REQUIRED 

DISCLOSURE TO PURCHASER.-Subsequent to the creation of the 

District under this act, each contract for the initial sale of a 

parcel of real property and each contract for the initial sale 

of a residential unit within the District shall include, 

immediately prior to the space reserved in the contract for the 

signature of the purchaser, the following disclosure statement 

in boldfaced and conspicuous type which is larger than the type 

Page 122 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

3051 

3052 

3053 

3054 

3055 

3056 

3057 

3058 

3059 

3060 

3061 

3062 

3063 

3064 

3065 

3066 

3067 

3068 

3069 

3070 

3071 

3072 

3073 

3074 

3075 

HB 1303 2020 

in the remaining text of the contract: "THE DEERING PARK 

STEWARDSHIP DISTRICT MAY IMPOSE AND LEVY TAXES OR ASSESSMENTS, 

OR BOTH TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS, ON THIS PROPERTY. THESE TAXES AND 

ASSESSMENTS PAY FOR THE CONSTRUCTION, OPERATION, AND MAINTENANCE 

COSTS OF CERTAIN PUBLIC SYSTEMS, FACILITIES, AND SERVICES OF THE 

DISTRICT AND ARE SET ANNUALLY BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE 

DISTRICT. THESE TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS ARE IN ADDITION TO COUNTY 

AND OTHER LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS AND ALL OTHER 

TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS PROVIDED FOR BY LAW." 

(30) NOTICE OF CREATION AND ESTABLISHMENT.-Within 30 days 

after the election of the first board of supervisors creating 

the District, the District shall cause to be recorded in the 

grantor-grantee index of the property records in Brevard and 

Volusia Counties and the City of Edgewater a "Notice of Creation 

and Establishment of the Deering Park Stewardship District." The 

notice shall, at a minimum, include the legal description of the 

property covered by this act. 

(31) DISTRICT PROPERTY PUBLIC; FEES.-Any system, facility, 

service, works, improvement, project, or other infrastructure 

owned by the District, or funded by federal tax-exempt bonding 

issued by the District, is public; and the District may by rule 

regulate, and may impose reasonable charges or fees for, the use 

thereof, but not to the extent that such regulation or 

imposition of such charges or fees constitutes denial of 

reasonable access. 

Page 123 of 124 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

3076 

3077 

3078 

3079 

3080 

3081 

3082 

3083 

3084 

3085 

3086 

3087 

HB 1303 2020 

Section 7. If any provision of this act is determined 

unconstitutional or otherwise determined invalid by a court of 

law, all the rest and remainder of the act shall remain in full 

force and effect as the law of this state. 

Section 8. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law, 

except that the provisions of this act which authorize the levy 

of ad valorem taxation shall take effect only upon approval by a 

majority vote of those qualified electors of the Deering Park 

Stewardship District voting in a referendum election held at 

such time as all members of the board are qualified electors who 

are elected by qualified electors of the District as provided in 

this act. 

Page 124 of 124 

CODING: Words strickeA are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1303-00 



:c 
ex, 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 1369 Sports Franchises and Facilities 
SPONSOR($): Pigman 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Workforce Development & Tourism Subcommittee 12 Y, 1 N 

2) Ways & Means Committee Berg· 

3) Commerce Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Langston 

Florida is home to many professional and semi-professional sports franchises. Generally, the facilities where 
these franchises play are financed through local government-issued bonds, which are repaid using a 
combination of state and local tax revenues and related incentive programs. The facilities are generally located 
on land leased or purchased from local government. 

The bill repeals the following sections of law: 
• Section 288.1162, F.S., relating to Professional Sports Franchises, 
• Section 288.11621, F.S., relating to Spring Training Baseball Franchises, 
• Section 288.11625, F.S., relating to Sports Development, 
• Section 288.11631, F.S., relating to Retention of MLB Spring Training Baseball Franchises, and 
• Section 288.1171, F.S., relating to Motorsports Entertainment Complexes. 

The bill prohibits the use of Tourist Development Tax or Convention Development Tax revenues to finance or 
construct any aspect of a facility that is or will be used by a sports franchise after July 1, 2020. 

The bill amends subsections 218.64(2) & (3), F.S., removing the authority for local governments to spend the 
half-cent sales tax on a motors port entertainment complex or for reimbursements under the sports 
development program. 

The bill creates s. 288.11633, F.S., providing for certain conditions relating to sports franchise facilities and 
public land. Specifically, the bill: 
• Prohibits a sports franchise from constructing or improving a facility on land that is leased from the state or 

local government. 
• Requires that the lease or sale of public land to a sports franchise for a sports facility must be at fair market 

value. 
• Specifies that a facility that is owned, operated or leased by a sports franchise is not tax exempt. 
• Provides that any new or amended contract include a provision requiring the sports franchise to pay off any 

outstanding governmental debt in the event that the sports franchise stops using the facility. 

The bill deletes subparagraph 125.35(1 )(b)3., F.S., relating to the lease of professional sports franchise 
facilities, including commercial property that is related to the facilities, that are financed by certain tax 
revenues. 

The bill specifies that lawful contracts entered into before July 1, 2020, will not be affected and that the 
provisions of the bill will not be construed to impair existing contracts without the consent of the parties. 

The bill may have an indeterminate fiscal impact on both the state and local governments. 

The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2020. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

State Incentives for Professional Sports Franchise Facilities 

Professional Sports Franchise Program (s. 288.1162, F.S.) 

The Professional Sports Franchise program allows professional sports franchises in Florida to receive 
state sales and use tax revenue to pay for the construction or renovation of a facility for a new or 
retained professional sports franchise. 1 Local governments, non-profit entities, and for-profit entities 
may apply to the program. Approved applicants are eligible to receive up to $2,000,004 per year for a 
period of up to 30 years. 2 No more than eight facilities can be certified under this program at one time. 3 

Currently, eight facilities receive distributions under the Professional Sports Franchise Program. Each 
facility is currently on track to receive $60 million, which is the maximum distribution allowable under 
this program ($166,667 per month or $2,000,004 per year, over 30 years), as follows: 

' 
Location, 

Certified entity, & 
Facility name Certification Date Franchise 

Hard Rock Stadium (formerly Miami, Miami 
Sun Life, Land Shark, Dolphin, S. FL. Stadium Corp., Marlins4 

Pro Player, Joe Robbie) May 1993 

TIAA Field (previously EverBank Jacksonville, Jacksonville 
Field) City of Jacksonville, Jaguars 

April 1994 

Tropicana Field St. Petersburg, Tampa Bay 
City of St. Petersburg, Rays 

May 1995 

Amelie Arena (previously Tampa, Tampa Bay 
Tampa Bay Times Forum) Tampa Bay Sports Auth., Lightning 

July 1995 

BB&T Center Sunrise, Florida 
Broward County, Panthers 

June 1996 

Raymond James Stadium Tampa, Tampa Bay 
Hillsborough County, Buccaneers 

November 1996 
American Airlines Arena Miami, Miami Heat 

BPL, LTD, 
February 1998 

Amway Center Orlando, Orlando 
City of Orlando, Magic 
November 2007 

(Information from the Department of Revenue5 and OPPAGA6) 

1 S. 288.1162, F.S. 
2 S. 212.20(6)(d)6.b., F.S. 
3 S. 288.1162(6), F.S. 
4 The Marlins franchise relocated from Sun Life Stadium to Marlins Park in 2012. 

Lease 
First Payment Expiration Total payments 
Final Payment Date as of Jan. 2020 

06/1994 99 yr, $53,166,773 
06/2023 issued 

1987 

06/1994 2030 $51,333,436 
05/2024 

07/1995 2027 $49,166,765 
06/2025 

09/1995 2025 $48,833,431 
08/2025 

08/1996 2028 $47,000,094 
07/2026 

01/1997 2028 $46,166,759 
12/2026 

03/1998 2030 $43,666,754 
03/2028 

02/2008 2036 $24,000,048 
01/2038 

TOTAL: $363,334,060 

5 Email from Lynne Moeller, Office of Legislative & Cabinet Services, Department of Revenue, Pro Sports summary by fiscal year as 
of 1-31-20 (Jan. 24, 2020). 
6 OPPAGA, Report No. 17-13, Florida Economic Development Program Evaluations-Year 5, p. 56 (Dec. 28, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



Spring Training Baseball Franchises Program (s. 288.11621, F.S.) 

The Spring Training Baseball Franchise incentive is the state's funding mechanism to attract and retain 
facilities for Major League Baseball (MLB) spring training in Florida. Qualified applicants are eligible for 
up to $500,000 annually for up to 30 years. These dollars are typically pledged with designated Tourist 
Development Tax revenue and other local government resources to secure bonds to fund the 
acquisition, construction, reconstruction or renovation of spring training facilities. 

In 1991, the law establishing incentives to attract professional franchises to the state was significantly 
revised and expanded to include an incentive for spring training baseball franchises. Certification 
criteria for the spring training franchise incentive included a commitment by the franchise to use the 
facility for fifteen years, projections for paid attendance (at least 50,000 annually), demonstration of the 
financial capability to provide more than one-half of the costs incurred or related to the improvement or 
development of the facility, proof that the facility was located within 20 miles of an interstate or other 
limited-access highway system, and a requirement that the county levy a four-percent Tourist 
Development Tax, with 87.5% of the proceeds dedicated for the construction of the complex. 7 This law 
also limited the total number of awards for both the professional sports franchises and new spring 
training franchises to six, and prohibited facilities from receiving more than one award. 

In 1999, the Legislature extended the use of the Professional Sports and Additional Professional Sports 
Tourist Development Taxes to fund debt service on spring training franchise facilities. 8 At that point, no 
local governments had applied for the incentive. In 2000, the law was amended to limit the incentive to 
"retained" rather than "new" spring training franchises; delete the requirement that the facility be located 
within 20 miles of an interstate or other limited-access highway system; establish ranking criteria for 
awards; 9 and limit the awards to publicly-owned facilities, authorized for in-state relocations. 10 

In 2006, the number of authorized awards for spring training facilities was expanded to ten, with the 
imposition of additional certification criteria. Counties were authorized to use up to $2 million of their 
local option half-cent sales tax revenues annually to fund facilities for new or retained professional 
sports franchises and facilities for retained spring training franchises. 11 Finally, the scope of the 
incentive was expanded in 2010, to include any spring training franchise rather than only "retained" 
spring training franchises, 12 and by August 2012, ten facilities were certified for the incentive. 13 

Currently, under s. 218.64(3), F.S., counties may use up to $3 million annually of the local government 
half-cent sales tax allocated to that county for a number of purposes, including, as specified ins. 
218.64(3)(a), F.S., "funding a certified applicant as a facility for a new or retained professional sports 
franchise under s. 288.1162, F.S., or a certified applicant as defined in s. 288.11621, F.S., for a facility 
for a spring training franchise." 14 

Before certifying an applicant to receive state funding for a facility for a spring training franchise, the 
Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) must verify that15: 

• The applicant is responsible for the acquisition, construction, management, or operation of the 
facility for a spring training franchise or holds title to the property on which the facility for a 
spring training franchise is located. 

7 Ch. 91-274, Laws of Fla. 
8 Ch. 99-287, Laws ofFla. 
9 EDR, Return on Investment for the Florida Sports Foundation Grants and Related Programs, p. 21. (January 2015). 
1° Ch. 2000-186, Laws of Fla. 
11 Ch. 2006-262, Laws of Fla. 
12 Ch.2010-140, Laws of Fla. (with provisions relating to the spring training incentive were transferred from s. 288.1162 to newly 
created s. 288.11621, F.S.) 
13 EDR, Return on Investment for the Florida Sports Foundation Grants and Related Programs, p. 21. 
14 S. 218.64(3), F.S. 
15 S. 288.l 1621(2)(a), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



• The applicant has a certified copy of a signed agreement with a spring training franchise for the 
use of the facility for a term of at least 20 years. The agreement also must require the franchise 
to reimburse the state for state funds expended by an applicant under this section if the 
franchise relocates before the agreement expires. The agreement may be contingent on an 
award of funds under this section and other pre-conditions. 

• The applicant has made a financial commitment to provide 50 percent or more of the funds 
required by an agreement for the acquisition, construction, or renovation of the facility for a 
spring training franchise. The commitment may be contingent upon an award of funds under this 
section and other pre-conditions. 

• The applicant demonstrates that the facility for a spring training franchise will attract a paid 
attendance of at least 50,000 annually to the spring training games. 

• The facility for a spring training franchise is located in a county that levies a tourist development 
tax under s. 125.0104, F.S. 

Each applicant certified since July 1, 2010, enters into an agreement that: 16 

• Specifies the amount of the state incentive funding to be distributed. 
• States the criteria that the certified applicant must meet in order to remain certified. 
• States that the certified applicant is subject to decertification if the certified applicant fails to 

comply with this section or the agreement. 
• States that DEO may recover state incentive funds if the certified applicant is decertified. 
• Specifies information that the certified applicant must report to DEO. 
• Includes any provision deemed prudent by DEO. 

A certified applicant may use funds provided under s. 212.20(6)(d)6.b., F.S., to:17 
• Serve the public purpose of acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, or renovating a facility for a 

spring training franchise. 
• Pay or pledge for the payment of debt service on, or to fund debt service reserve funds, 

arbitrage rebate obligations, or other amounts payable with respect thereto, bonds issued for 
the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, or renovation of such facility, or for the 
reimbursement of such costs or the refinancing of bonds issued for such purposes. 

• Assist in the relocation of a spring training franchise from one unit of local government to 
another only if the governing board of the current host local government by a majority vote 
agrees to relocation. 

Additionally, state funds awarded to a certified applicant for a facility for a spring training franchise may 
not be used to subsidize facilities that are privately owned, maintained, and used only by a spring 
training franchise. 18 The expenditure of state funds distributed to a certified applicant, must begin within 
48 months after the initial receipt of the state funds, with the additional requirement of the construction 
of, or capital improvements to, a spring training facility being completed within 24 months after the 
project's commencement. 19 

Retention of MLB Spring Training Baseball Franchises Program (s. 288.11631, F.S.) 

Section 288.11631, F.S., authorizes local governments that partner with a spring training baseball 
franchise to apply for certification from DEO to receive state distributions for the purpose of renovating 
or constructing a spring training baseball facility. 20 

Certified applicants receive a distribution from state sales tax revenue of up to $83,333 per month for 
20 years for a facility used by a single spring training baseball franchise or up to $166,667 per month 

16 S. 288.l 1621(2)(c), F.S. 
17 S. 288.11621 (3)(a), F.S. 
18 S. 288.l 1621(3)(b), F.S. 
19 S. 288.l 1621(3)(d)(3), F.S. 
20 S. 288.11631(1)-{2), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 4 



for 25 years for a facility used by more than one spring baseball training franchise. 21 The amount of 
state incentive funding per certified applicant may not exceed $20 million if the applicant's facility is 
used by one franchise or $50 million if the applicant's facility is used by more than one franchise. 22 

Section 288.11631, F.S., which became law in 2013, mostly mirrors the provisions of s. 288.11621, 
F.S. The differences between the sections include: 

• The agreement must be for a minimum of the length of the term of the bonds issued for the 
construction or renovation of the facility, or if no such bonds are issued, at least 20 years. 

• A new agreement may not be signed unless the previous agreement, if any, is within 4 years of 
expiring. 

• There is no limit to the number of applicants which may be certified. 
• The net increase in recreational areas represented by the facility is not considered in the 

evaluation process. 
• The amount of state funding provided in the agreement between the applicant and DEO may 

not exceed $20 million or, if the applicant hosts 2 or more franchises, $50 million. 
• Funds provided as a result of certification under this section may not be used to acquire or 

reconstruct a facility, or to assist a franchise in moving from one local government to another. 

Spring Training Facilities for Major League Baseball Franchises: 

Team 
Detroit Tigers 

Houston 
Astros24 

Los Angeles 
Dodgers23 

Philadelphia 
Phillies 

Toronto Blue 
Jays 

Baltimore 
Orioles 

21 S. 212.20(6)(d)(6)(e), F.S. 
22 S. 288.l 1631(2)(c), F.S. 

Facility 
Joker 

Marchant 
Stadium 

Osceola 
County 
Stadium 

Holman 
Stadium (now 
Dodgertown) 

Spectrum Field 
(formerly 

Bright House 
Field 

Florida Auto 
Exchange 
Stadium 

Ed Smith 
Stadium 

Monthly 
Location, Distribution, 

Certified Entity; # Years Bonded, 
Certification Date, Total State 

Sta.tute Funds 
Lakeland $38,889 
Lakeland 15 years 

January 2001 $7 million 
s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Kissimmee $41,667 
Osceola County 15 years 
January 2001 $7.5 million 

s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Vero Beach $41,667 
Indian River County 30 years 

January 2001 $15 million 
s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Clearwater $41,667 
Clearwater 30 years 

December 2006 $15 million 
s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Dunedin $41,667 
Dunedin 20 years 

January 2001 $10 million 
s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Sarasota $41,667 
Sarasota 30 years 

January 2006 $15 million 
s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Team's Total 
First Payment Lease Payments as 
Final Payment Expires of Jan. 2020 

March 2001 2016 $7,000,020 
February 2016 

March 2001 2016 $7,500,060 
February 2016 

March 2001 No lease $9,458,409 
February 2031 

March 2001 2023 $9,458,409 
February 2031 

March 2001 2017 $9,458,409 
February 2023 

March 2007 2039 $6,458,385 
March 2037 

23 This facility, now known as Historic Dodgertown, was previously occupied by the Los Angeles Dodgers until the Dodgers moved 
their spring training facility to Arizona in 2008. The facility hosts local sports events that bring in amateur, high school, collegiate, and 
international sports teams. There is not currently a Major League Baseball team based at the facility, and it is privately owned. 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC PAGE: 5 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



New York Mets Tradition Field Port St. Lucie $21,985 March 2007 2016 $2,660,241 
St. Lucie County 30 years March 2017 
December 2006 $7.9 million 
s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Pittsburgh McKechnie Bradenton $41,667 March 2007 2037 $6,458,385 
Pirates Field Bradenton 30 years March 2037 

December 2006 $15 million 
s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Tampa Bay Charlotte Port Charlotte $41,667 March 2007 2028 $6,458,385 
Rays Sports Park Charlotte County 30 years March 2037 

December 2006 $15 million 
s. 288.1162, F.S. 

Minnesota Hammond Ft. Myers $41,667 July 2013 2045 $3,291,693 
Twins Stadium Lee County 30 years June 2043 

August 2012 $15 million 
s. 288.11621, F.S. 

Houston Ballpark of the West Palm Beach $166,667 October 2016 2048 $6,666,680 
Astros 24 Palm Beaches Palm Beach County 25 years September 2041 

(Recertification) October 2015 $50 million 
s. 288.11631, F.S. 

Washington See above See above See above See above See above See above 
Nationals24 

Detroit Tigers Joker Lakeland $83,333 November 2016 2036 $3,249,987 
(Recertification) Marchant Lakeland 20 years October 2036 

Stadium December 2015 $20 million 
s. 288.11631, F.S. 

New York George M. Tampa $83,333 January 2017 2046 $3,083,321 
Yankees Steinbrenner Tampa Sports 20 years December 2036 

Field Authority $20 million 
December 2016 

s. 288.11631, F.S. 

New York Mets First Data Field Port St. Lucie $83,333 June 2017 2042 $2,666,656 
(Recertification) (formerly St. Lucie County 20 years May 2037 

Tradition Field) March 2017 $20 million 
s. 288.11631, F.S. 

Atlanta Braves CoolToday City of North Port $83,333 January 2018 unknown $2,083,325 
Park US Bank, as Trustee 20 years December 2037 

November 2017 $20 million 
s. 288.11631, F.S. 

Toronto Blue Florida Auto Dunedin $83,333 September 2018 unknown $1,416,661 
Jays Exchange US Bank Corp. Trust 20 years August 2038 

Stadium July 2018 $20 million 
s. 288.11631, F.S. 

(Information from the Department of Revenue25 and OPPAGA26
) TOTAL: $87,369,026 

Sports Development Program (s. 288.11625, F.S.) 

The Sports Development Program provides state funding for constructing, reconstructing, renovating, 
or improving professional sports facilities, as provided under s. 288.11625, F.S. The program is 
administered by DEO. In order to receive funding under the program, DEO must first recommend the 

24 The Houston Astros moved their spring training operations from Osceola County to Palm Beach County in 2015. They share the 
newly certified facility with the Washington Nationals. 
25 Email from Lynne Moeller, Office of Legislative & Cabinet Services, Department of Revenue, Pro Sports summary by fiscal year as 
of 1-31-20 (Jan. 24, 2020). 
26 OPPAGA, Report No. 17-13, Florida Economic Development Program Evaluations-Year 5, p. 54-55 (Dec. 28, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC PAGE: 6 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



applicant's request for funding to the Legislature and receive approval, then certify the approved 
request for funding as an annual distribution amount to the Department of Revenue. 

The Program is funded by state sales and use tax revenues. Individual facilities may receive up to $3 
million annually, and no more than $13 million can be distributed under the Program in a single year. A 
facility can receive distributions for up to 30 years and up to $90 million per certified facility. 

Eligible professional sport franchises include the National Football League, the National Hockey 
League, the National Basketball League, Major and Minor League Baseball, Major League Soccer, the 
North American Soccer League, the Professional Rodeo Cowboys Association, the promoter or host of 
a signature event administered by the Breeders' Cup Limited or the promoter of a signature event 
hosted by the National Association of Stock Car Auto Racing (NASCAR). 

The Legislature created the Sports Development Program in 2014. To date, no facilities or applicants 
have been approved to receive funding and no distributions have been made under the Program. 27 

Motorsports Entertainment Complex Certification (s. 288.1171, F.S.) 

Section 288.1171, F.S., provides the procedure by which a local government may receive certification 
for a motorsport entertainment complex in order to use $2 million of Local Government Half-cent Sales 
Tax Program funds to pay for certain costs associated with the complex. A motorsport entertainment 
complex is defined as a closed-course racing facility. As of January 2020, no local government has 
ever been certified for the motorsport entertainment complex program. 28 

DEO is responsible for screening and certifying applicants to allow them to use program funds for these 
purposes. An applicant must be a unit of local government that either owns a motorsport entertainment 
complex or owns the land on which a complex is located. 

Before certifying an applicant as a motorsport entertainment complex, the DEO must first verify that: 
• The local government holds title to the land on which the complex is located or holds title to the 

complex; and 
• The local government in which the complex is located has certified by resolution after a public 

hearing that the application for certification serves a public purpose. 

DEO determines an applicant meets eligibility requirements, it must notify the applicant and the 
Department of Revenue (DOR) of the applicant's certification through an official letter. If an applicant 
does not meet the requirements, the DEO must notify the applicant within 10 days of such 
determination. An applicant may not receive more than one certification. There are no limitations on the 
number of applicants that may be certified. 

An applicant certified as a motorsport entertainment complex may only use funds provided from the 
Local Government Half-cent Sales Tax Program for the public purposes of paying for the construction, 
reconstruction, expansion, or renovation of a motorsport entertainment complex, including related 
transportation and other infrastructure improvements; paying debt service reserve funds, arbitrage 
rebate obligations, or other amounts payable with respect to bonds issued for such activities; or 
refinancing the bonds. Additional eligible uses include paying for advertising and promotional activities 
related to the motorsport entertainment complex or the municipality or county in which the complex is 
located, if such activities are designed to increase tourism or promote economic development of the 
municipality or county. 

27 Email from Karis Lockhart, Deputy Director of Legislative Affairs, DEO, RE: Sports Development Program (Jan. 21, 2020). 
2s Id. 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC PAGE: 7 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



Effect of the Bill 

The bill repeals s. 288.1162, F.S., relating to Professional Sports Franchises, s. 288.11621, F.S., 
relating to Spring Training Baseball Franchises, s. 288.11625, F.S., relating to Sports Development, s. 
288.11631, F.S., relating to Retention of MLB Spring Training Baseball Franchises, ands. 288.1171, 
F.S., relating to Motorsports Entertainment Complexes. 

Public Financing and Sports Facilities29 

Many stadiums and sports facilities are financed with tax-exempt bonds, which are issued through state 
and local governments or other public entities such as regional sports authorities. Tax-exempt bonds 
allow issuers to take on debt at a lower interest rate relative to taxable bonds. In turn, the underwriter is 
able to get a better return on their investment because their earnings are exempt from federal income 
tax. The maturity structure for tax-exempt bonds is typically 20 to 30 years. Tax-exempt bonds are 
secured by pledged revenues which are usually generated from a tax or fee. The most commonly 
pledged revenues for sports facilities bonds are tourist development taxes, ad valorem taxes, and sales 
taxes, including local option sales taxes. Annual sales tax distributions for sports facilities financing are 
also used to secure tax-exempt bonds. In a few instances, the bonds have been issued as general 
obligation debt, which means that all revenues of the issuer, regardless of the source, may be used to 
pay debt service, if needed. Rarely, proceeds from land sales or other non-ad-valorem revenues are 
also used. 

The issuance of bonds provides a large amount of cash up-front that can be used for capital 
investment. However, most of the bonds are issued with 30-year maturity structures, which mean that a 
large portion of the state funding is actually used to pay the interest cost of the debt. For example, a 
certified professional sports facility in Florida that receives $2 million a year for 30 years pledges this 
$60 million to pay debt service on $30 million of bonds issued. So, the state's $60 million investment 
results in $30 million of up-front cash that can be used to construct or renovate a facility. The state's 
investment for spring training facilities is significantly less. In most cases, certified spring training 
facilities receive $0.5 million each year for 30 years, which typically results in about $7.5 million of cash 
available for the state's $15 million investment. In both programs, the amount of cash available varies 
up or down slightly by facility, depending on what interest rates were at the time bonds were issued. 

Sales and Use Tax 

Chapter 212, F.S., contains the state's statutory provisions authorizing the levy and collection of 
Florida's sales and use tax, as well as the exemptions and credits applicable to certain items or uses 
under specified circumstances. A 6 percent sales and use tax is levied on tangible personal property 
and a limited number of services. Additionally, s. 212.20, F.S., contains statutory direction for the 
schedule of distributions for the professional sports franchise facility incentive programs. 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill amends s. 212.20, F.S., to specify that applicants who were not certified as a sports facility 
under the spring training franchises or the new or retained professional sports franchise programs 
before July 1, 2020, may not receive monthly distributions from DOR. The bill also deletes the provision 
authorizing distributions under the sports development program. 

Tourist Development Taxes (s. 125.0104, F.S.) 

Section 125.0104, F.S., authorizes the levy of five separate local option taxes on rental charges subject 
to the transient rentals tax under s. 212.03, F.S., to be used in various ways to promote tourism within 
the county. Generally, the revenues from these levies may be used for capital construction of tourist-

29 EDR, Return on Investment for the Florida Sports Foundation Grants and Related Programs, p.28 (January I, 2018). 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 8 



related facilities, tourist promotion, and beach and shoreline maintenance; however, the authorized 
uses vary according to the particular levy. There is a prohibition against any county levying a 
convention development tax from levying tourist development taxes at a rate of more than 2 percent; 
however, this prohibition does not apply to a county's levy of the Professional Sports Franchise Facility 
Tax and Duval County's levy of the Additional Professional Sports Franchise Facility Tax. 

During the 2019-20 state fiscal year, 63 of the eligible 67 counties currently levying one or more of the 
tourist development taxes will realize an estimated $1 billion in revenue. 30 

Professional Sports Franchise Facility TOT (s. 125.0104(3)(1), F.S.) 

In addition to any other tourist development tax imposed, a county may levy up to an additional 1 
percent tax on the total consideration charged for transient rental transactions. The tax is levied 
pursuant to an ordinance adopted by a majority vote of the county's governing body. The tax proceeds 
are used to pay the debt service on bonds issued to finance professional sports franchise facilities, 
retained spring training franchise facilities, and convention centers. In addition, these proceeds can be 
used to promote tourism in the State of Florida, nationally and internationally. 

The provisions ins. 125.0104(4)(a)-(d), F.S., regarding the preparation of the county tourist 
development plan, are not applicable to this tax. In addition, the provision ins. 125.0104(3)(b), F.S., 
that prohibits any county authorized to levy a convention development tax from levying more than the 2 
percent tourist development tax is not applicable to this tax. 

During the 2019-20 state fiscal year, 44 of the eligible 67 counties currently levying this tax will realize 
an estimated $183 million in revenue. 31 

Additional Professional Sports Franchise Facility TOT (s. 125.0104(3)(n), F.S.) 

The Additional Professional Sports Franchise Facility Tax may be levied at a rate up to 1 percent by a 
majority plus one vote of the governing board of the county. The tax can only be levied in counties that 
have imposed the Professional Sports Franchise Facility Tourist Development Tax. Generally, the 
proceeds can be used to pay debt service on bonds for the construction or renovation of professional 
sports franchise facilities, spring training facilities of professional sports franchises, and to promote and 
advertise tourism. 

During the 2019-20 state fiscal year, 30 of the eligible 65 counties currently levying this tax will realize 
an estimated $147 million in revenue. 32 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill amends paragraphs 125.0104(3)(1) & (n), F.S., to disallow a county from using the additional 1-
percent taxes on certain costs related to the planning, design, or financing of a professional sports 
franchise facility or a retained spring training franchise facility. 

The bill creates paragraph 125.0104(5){f), F.S., to provide that Tourist Development Tax revenues may 
not be used to finance or construct any aspect of a facility that is or will be used by a sports franchise 
after July 1, 2020. The bill clarifies that lawful contracts entered into before this date are not affected. 

30 EDR, 2019 Local Government Financial Information Handbook, p. 256. 
31 Id. at 267. 
32 id. at 273. 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 9 



Convention Development Taxes (s. 212.0305, F.S.)33 

Certain counties or sub-parts of counties are authorized to levy convention development taxes on 
transient rental transactions. Duval County (as a county consolidated with a municipality), Miami-Dade 
County (as a charter county), and parts of Volusia County currently levy a convention development tax. 
Three of the five available levies are applicable to separate taxing districts in Volusia County. The 
levies may be authorized pursuant to an ordinance enacted by the county's governing body, and the 
tax rates are either two or three percent depending on the particular levy. Generally, the revenues may 
be used for construction of convention centers and other tourist-related facilities as well as tourist 
promotion; however, the authorized uses vary by levy. 

In fiscal year 2019-2020, the three counties levying a convention development tax will realize an 
estimated $68.5 million in revenue. 34 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill creates s. 212.0305(6), F.S., to provide that Convention Development Tax revenues may not 
be used to finance or construct any aspect of a facility that is or will be used by a sports franchise after 
July 1, 2020. The bill clarifies that lawful contracts entered into before this date are not affected. 

Local Government Half-cent Sales Tax (s. 218.64, F.S.) 

Authorized in 1982, the Local Government Half-cent Sales Tax Program generates the largest amount 
of revenue for local governments among the state-shared revenue sources currently authorized by the 
Legislature. 35 It distributes a portion of state sales tax revenue via three separate distributions to eligible 
county or municipal governments. Additionally, the program distributes a portion of communications 
services tax revenue to eligible local governments. Allocation formulas serve as the basis for these 
separate distributions. The program's primary purpose is to provide relief from ad valorem and utility 
taxes in addition to providing counties and municipalities with revenues for local programs. 36 

Municipalities are authorized to spend their portion of the local government half-cent sales tax for: 
• municipality-wide programs, 
• reimbursing the state as required by the Sports Development Program, or 
• municipality-wide property tax or municipal utility tax relief. 

Counties are authorized to spend their portion of the local government half-cent sales tax for 
countywide tax relief or countywide programs. Subject to certain conditions, counties may also use up 
to $3 million annually of the local government half-cent sales tax for the following purposes: 

• new or retained professional sports franchises under s. 288.1162, F.S. or a spring training 
franchise unders. 288.11621, F.S. 

• a certified applicant as a motorsport entertainment complex under s. 288.1171, F.S., or 
• reimbursing the state as required by the Sports Development Program. 

Additionally, counties and municipalities are authorized to pledge proceeds of the local government 
half-cent sales tax for the payment of principal and interest on any capital project. 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill amends subsections 218.64(2) & (3), F.S., removing the authority for local governments to 
spend the half-cent sales tax on a motorsport entertainment complex or for reimbursements under the 

33 Id. at 119-120. 
34 Id. at 121. 
35 Ch. 82-154, Laws of Fla. 
36 EDR, 2019 Local Government Financial Information Handbook, p. 57. 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 10 



sports development program. The bill also specifies that a county can only use the half-cent sales tax 
on a new or retained professional sports franchise or spring training franchise facility that is certified 
prior to July 1, 2020. 

Use of Government Land 

Tax-exempt Status for Certain Infrastructure 

Section 196.199, F.S., generally exempts all property of the state that is used for governmental 
purposes from ad valorem taxation. Additionally, property that is owned by the government but leased 
to a nongovernmental lessee is exempt from ad valorem taxation and the intangible tax when the 
lessee serves or performs a governmental, municipal, or public purpose or function, including: 

... The use by a lessee, licensee, or management company of real property or a portion thereof 
as a convention center, visitor center, sports facility with permanent seating, concert hall, arena, 
stadium, park, or beach is deemed a use that serves a governmental, municipal, or public 
purpose or function when access to the property is open to the general public with or without a 
charge for admission ... 37 

Local Government Authority to Sell and Lease Land 

Florida law provides broad authority to cities and counties to conduct governmental functions and 
render governmental services, except when expressly prohibited by law. 38 Such authority includes, but 
is not limited to, certain statutorily enumerated powers and all implied authority necessary to effectively 
exercise those express powers, including the authority to contract and to purchase, lease, sell, and 
exchange real or personal property. 39 

Counties and municipalities may also offer private entities below-market rate leases or deeds for real 
property for economic development purposes. 

County Authority to Lease a Professional Sports Franchise 

Section 125.35, F.S., authorizes the board of county commissioners to sell or lease real property 
belonging to the county under certain circumstances. Furthermore, counties are expressly authorized 
to: 

Lease a professional sports franchise facility financed by revenues received pursuant to s. 
125.0104 ors. 212.20 which may include commercial development that is ancillary to the sports 
facility if the ancillary development property is part of or contiguous to the professional sports 
franchise facility. The board's authority to lease the above described ancillary commercial 
development in conjunction with a professional sports franchise facility lease applies only if at 
the time the board leases the ancillary commercial development, the professional sports 
franchise facility lease has been in effect for at least 10 years and such lease has at least an 
additional 10 years remaining in the lease term. 

Alternatively, counties are authorized to adopt an ordinance prescribing the disposition standards and 
procedures for the county to use when selling or leasing property owned by the county. 40 At a 
minimum, such standards and procedures must provide for: 

• Establishment of competition and qualification standards upon which disposition will be 
determined. 

37 S. 196.012(6), F.S. 
38 See ss. 125.01 and 166.021, F.S. 
39 Ss. 125.01(3)(a) and 166.021(1), F.S. See also Art. VIII, s. 2, FLA. CONST. 
40 S. 125.35(3), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 11 



• Reasonable public notice of the intent to consider disposition of county property and the 
availability of copies of the standards. Reasonableness of the notice is to be determined by the 
efficacy and efficiency of the means of communication used. 

• Identification of the form and manner by which an interested person may acquire county 
property. 

• Types of negotiation procedures applicable to the selection of a person to whom county 
properties may be disposed. 

• The manner in which interested persons will be notified of the board's intent to consider final 
action at a regular meeting of the board on the disposition of a property and the time and 
manner for making objections. 

• Adherence in the disposition of real property to the governing comprehensive plan and zoning 
ordinances. 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill defines the following terms: 

"Facility" means a stadium, arena, or other structure used by a sports franchise to host games 
or events, or any directly related property or structure, including practice facilities, offices, restaurants, 
concessions, retail or lodging facilities, onsite and offsite parking lots, garages, and other properties. 

"Fair market value" means a negotiated price of at least the average of the values contained in 
two independent appraisals, performed by appraisers that meet certain minimum qualifications. 

"Sports franchise" means a person or persons, sole proprietorship, corporation, limited liability 
company, partnership, or association that has been granted the contractual right to own or operate a 
professional sports team, or host a professional sporting event, in a specified location. 

The bill creates s. 288.1163, F.S., providing for certain conditions relating to sports franchise facilities 
and public land. Specifically, the bill: 

• Prohibits a sports franchise from constructing or improving a facility on land that is leased from 
the state or local government. 

• Requires that the lease or sale of public land to a sports franchise for a sports facility must be at 
fair market value. 

• Specifies that a facility that is owned, operated or leased by a sports franchise is not tax 
exempt. 

• Provides that any new or amended contract include a provision requiring the sports franchise to 
pay off any outstanding governmental debt in the event that the sports franchise stops using the 
facility. 

• Specifies that these provisions will not apply retroactively to existing contracts. 

The bill deletes subparagraph 125.35(1 )(b)3., F.S., authorizing counties to lease professional sports 
franchise facilities that are financed by revenues pursuant toss. 125.0104 ors. 212.20, F.S. 

The bill provides that any applications for certification under ss. 288.1162, 288.11621, 288.11625, 
288.11631, or 288.1171, F.S., will be rescinded when the bill takes effect on July 1, 2020. Applicants 
that were certified before this date are not affected by the bill, and their contracts remain in full force 
and effect. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1 Amends s. 125.0104, F.S.; deleting provisions authorizing a county to impose a 
specified tax for debt service on bonds relating to sports franchise facilities and 

STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 12 



Section 2 

Section 3 

Section 4 

Section 5 

Section 6 

Section 7 

Section 8 

Section 9 

Section 10 

Section 11 

professional sports franchises; prohibiting revenues generated by specified county taxes 
to be used for sports franchises after a certain date. 

Amends s. 125.35, F.S.; prohibiting a county from leasing specified professional sports 
franchise facilities; prohibiting revenues generated by convention development taxes to 
be used for sports franchises after a certain date. 

Amends s. 212.0305, F.S.; prohibiting revenues collected after a specified date to be 
used for sports franchise activities. 

Amends s. 212.205, F.S.; conforming a cross-reference. 

Amends s. 212.20, F.S.; conforming provisions to changes made by the act; removing a 
provision that distributes specified sales tax revenues to certain applicants. 

Amends s. 218.64, F.S.; conforming provisions to changes made by the act. 

Amends s. 288.0001, F.S.; deleting a provision requiring the Office of Economic and 
Demographic Research and the Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government 
Accountability to provide an analysis regarding a sports development program. 

Repeals ss. 288.1162, 288.11621, 288.11625, 288.11631, and 288.1171, F.S., relating 
to professional sports franchises and their duties, spring training baseball franchises, 
sports development, and the retention of Major League Baseball spring training baseball 
franchises, respectively. 

Creates s. 288.11633, F.S.; prohibiting the lease of public lands for certain purposes 
related to sports franchises and their facilities; requiring the lease of a facility on public 
lands for certain purposes to be at fair market value; requiring a sports franchise to 
repay specified debt incurred by a local government related to construction of facilities; 
defining the terms "facility," "fair market value," and "sports franchise". 

Provides applicability. 

Provides an effective date of July 1, 2020. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

See Fiscal Comments. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

See Fiscal Comments. 

STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

PAGE: 13 



2. Expenditures: 

See Fiscal Comments. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

The bill constrains state and local government funding mechanisms for certain private sector sports 
franchises and facilities. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

There is an indeterminate impact to state and local government expenditures because the bill 
constrains state and local government funding mechanisms for certain private sector sports franchises 
and facilities which reduce such expenditures in the future. Additionally, restriction of uses of certain 
local option taxes may result in fewer future levies of those taxes. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to require counties or municipalities to spend funds or take 
action requiring the expenditure of funds; reduce the authority that counties or municipalities have to 
raise revenues in the aggregate; or reduce the percentage of state tax shared with counties or 
municipalities. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

None. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

STORAGE NAME: h1369b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

PAGE: 14 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HS 1369 2020 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to sports franchises and facilities; 

3 amending s. 125.0104, F.S.; deleting provisions 

4 authorizing a county to impose a specified tax for 

5 debt service on bonds relating to sports franchise 

6 facilities and professional sports franchises; 

7 prohibiting revenues generated by specified county 

8 taxes to be used for sports franchises after a certain 

9 date; amending s. 125.35, F.S.; prohibiting a county 

10 from leasing specified professional sports franchise 

11 facilities; prohibiting revenues generated by 

12 convention development taxes to be used for sports 

13 franchises after a certain date; s. 212.0305, F.S.; 

14 prohibiting revenues collected after a specified date 

15 to be used for sports franchise activities; amending 

16 s. 212.205, F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; 

17 amending s. 212.20, F.S.; conforming provisions to 

18 changes made by the act; removing a provision that 

19 distributes specified sales tax revenues to certain 

20 applicants; amending s. 218.64, F.S.; conforming 

21 provisions to changes made by the act; amending s. 

22 288.0001, F.S.; deleting a provision requiring the 

23 Office of Economic and Demographic Research and the 

24 Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government 

25 Accountability to provide an analysis regarding a 

Page 1 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1369 2020 

26 sports development program; repealing ss. 288.1162, 

2 7 2 8 8 . 116 21, 2 8 8 . 116 2 5, 2 8 8 . 116 31, and 2 8 8 . 11 71, F. S . , 

28 relating to professional sports franchises and their 

29 duties, spring training baseball franchises, sports 

30 development, and the retention of Major League 

31 Baseball spring training baseball franchises, 

32 respectively; creating s. 288.11633, F.S.; prohibiting 

33 the lease of public lands for certain purposes related 

34 to sports franchises and their facilities; requiring 

35 the lease of a facility on public lands for certain 

36 purposes to be at fair market value; requiring a 

37 sports franchise to repay specified debt incurred by a 

38 local government related to construction of 

3 9 facilities; defining the terms "facility," "fair 

40 market value," and "sports franchise"; providing 

41 applicability; providing an effective date. 

42 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

Section 1. Paragraphs (1) and (n) of subsection (3) of 

section 125.0104, Florida Statutes, are amended, and a new 

paragraph (f) is added to subsection (5) of that section, to 

read: 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

125.0104 Tourist development tax; procedure for levying; 

authorized uses; referendum; enforcement.-

Page 2 of 20 

CODING: Words stfiGke.R are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

65 

66 

67 

68 

69 

70 

71 

72 

73 

74 

75 

HB 1369 2020 

TAXABLE PRIVILEGES; EXEMPTIONS; LEVY; RATE.-( 3) 

(1) In addition to any other tax which is imposed pursuant 

to this section, a county may impose up to an additional 1-

percent tax on the exercise of the privilege described in 

paragraph (a) by majority vote of the governing board of the 

county in order to: 

1. Pay the debt service on bonds issued to finance the 

construction, reconstruction, or renovation of a professional 

sports franchise facility, or the acquisition, construction, 

reconstruction, or renovation of a retained spring training 

franchise facility, either publicly owned and operated, or 

publicly owned and operated by the owner of a professional 

sports franchise or other lessee with sufficient expertise or 

financial capability to operate such facility, and to pay the 

planning and design costs incurred prior to the issuance of such 

bonds. 

1.~ Pay the debt service on bonds issued to finance the 

construction, reconstruction, or renovation of a convention 

center, and to pay the planning and design costs incurred prior 

to the issuance of such bonds. 

2.-3-:- Pay the operation and maintenance costs of a 

convention center for a period of up to 10 years. Only counties 

that have elected to levy the tax for the purposes authorized in 

subparagraph 1. subparagraph 2. may use the tax for the purposes 

enumerated in this subparagraph. Any county that elects to levy 

Page 3 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

76 

77 

78 

79 

80 

81 

82 

83 

84 

85 

86 

87 

88 

89 

90 

91 

92 

93 

94 

95 

96 

97 

98 

99 

100 

HB 1369 2020 

the tax for the purposes authorized in subparagraph 1. 

subparagraph 2. after July 1, 2000, may use the proceeds of the 

tax to pay the operation and maintenance costs of a convention 

center for the life of the bonds. 

3.~ Promote and advertise tourism in the State of Florida 

and nationally and internationally; however, if tax revenues are 

expended for an activity, service, venue, or event, the 

activity, service, venue, or event shall have as one of its main 

purposes the attraction of tourists as evidenced by the 

promotion of the activity, service, venue, or event to tourists. 

The provision of paragraph (b) which prohibits any county 

authorized to levy a convention development tax pursuant to s. 

212.0305 from levying more than the 2-percent tax authorized by 

this section, and the provisions of paragraphs (4) (a)-(d), shall 

not apply to the additional tax authorized in this paragraph. 

The effective date of the levy and imposition of the tax 

authorized under this paragraph shall be the first day of the 

second month following approval of the ordinance by the 

governing board or the first day of any subsequent month as may 

be specified in the ordinance. A certified copy of such 

ordinance shall be furnished by the county to the Department of 

Revenue within 10 days after approval of such ordinance. 

(n) In addition to any other tax that is imposed under 

this section, a county that has imposed the tax under paragraph 

Page 4 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

101 

102 

103 

104 

105 

106 

107 

108 

109 

110 

111 

112 

113 

114 

115 

116 

117 

118 

119 

120 

121 

122 

123 

124 

125 

HB 1369 2020 

(1) may impose an additional tax that is no greater than 1 

percent on the exercise of the privilege described in paragraph 

(a) by a majority plus one vote of the membership of the board 

of county commissioners in order to+ 

1. Pay the debt service on bonds iooued to finance: 

a. The construction, reconstruction, or renovation of a 

facility either publicly owned and operated, or publicly owned 

and operated by the owner of a profeooional sports franchise or 

other leooee with sufficient enpertioe or financial capability 

to operate ouch facility, and to pay the planning and design 

coots incurred prior to the ioouance of ouch bonds for a new 

profeooional oporto franchise as defined in o. 288.1162. 

b. The acquisition, construction, reconstruction, or 

renovation of a facility either publicly owned and operated, or 

publicly owned and operated by the owner of a professional 

sports franchise or other lessee with sufficient enpertioe or 

financial capability to operate ouch facility, and to pay the 

planning and design coots incurred prior to the ioouance of ouch 

bonds for a retained spring training franchise. 

-2-:-- promote and advertise tourism in the State of Florida 

and nationally and internationally; however, if tax revenues are 

expended for an activity, service, venue, or event, the 

activity, service, venue, or event shall have as one of its main 

purposes the attraction of tourists as evidenced by the 

promotion of the activity, service, venue, or event to tourists. 

Page 5 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

126 

127 

128 

129 

130 

131 

132 

133 

134 

135 

136 

137 

138 

139 

140 

141 

142 

143 

144 

145 

146 

147 

148 

149 

150 

HB 1369 2020 

A county that imposes the taH authorized in this paragraph may 

not eHpend any ad valorem ta>{ revenues for the acquisition, 

construction, reconstruction, or renovation of a facility for 

which tal{ revenues are used pursuant to subparagraph 1. The 

provision of paragraph (b) which prohibits any county authorized 

to levy a convention development tax pursuant to s. 212.0305 

from levying more than the 2-percent tax authorized by this 

section shall not apply to the additional tax authorized by this 

paragraph in counties which levy convention development taxes 

pursuant to s. 212. 0305 ( 4) (a) . Subsection ( 4) does not apply to 

the adoption of the additional tax authorized in this paragraph. 

The effective date of the levy and imposition of the tax 

authorized under this paragraph is the first day of the second 

month following approval of the ordinance by the board of county 

commissioners or the first day of any subsequent month specified 

in the ordinance. A certified copy of such ordinance shall be 

furnished by the county to the Department of Revenue within 10 

days after approval of the ordinance. 

(5) AUTHORIZED USES OF REVENUE.-

(f) Beginning July 1, 2020, revenues collected pursuant to 

this section may not be used to acquire, construct, extend, 

enlarge, remodel, repair, improve, maintain, operate, finance, 

refinance, make debt service payments for, or be used as 

collateral, pledge, or capital contribution for any project or 

Page 6 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

151 

152 

153 

154 

155 

156 

157 

158 

159 

160 

161 

162 

163 

164 

165 

166 

167 

168 

169 

170 

171 

172 

173 

174 

175 

HB 1369 2020 

business arrangement involving a facility that is or will be 

used by a sports franchise as defined ins. 288.11633. Nothing 

in this paragraph impairs or affects the obligations or terms of 

any lawful contract entered into before July 1, 2020. 

Section 2. Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of section 

125.35, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 

125.35 County authorized to sell real and personal 

property and to lease real property.-

( 1) 

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a), under terms and 

conditions negotiated by the board, the board of county 

commissioners may: 

1. Negotiate the lease of an airport or seaport facility; 

or 

2. Modify or extend an existing lease of real property for 

an additional term not to exceed 25 years, where the improved 

value of the lease has an appraised value in excess of $20 

million.-:----e-r 

3. Lease a professional oporto franchise facility financed 

by revenues received pursuant too. 12§.0104 or o. 212.20 which 

may include cofflfftercial development that io ancillary to the 

oporto facility if the ancillary development property io part of 

or contiguous to the professional oporto franchise facility. The 

board's authority to lease the above described ancillary 

cofflfftercial development in conjunction with a professional oporto 

Page 7 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

176 

177 

178 

179 

180 

181 

182 

183 

184 

185 

186 

187 

188 

189 

190 

191 

192 

193 

194 

195 

196 

197 

198 

199 

200 

HB 1369 2020 

franchise facility lease applies only if at the time the board 

leases the ancillary coffiff\ercial development, the professional 

sports franchise facility lease has been in effect for at least 

10 years and ouch lease has at least an additional 10 years 

remaining in the lease term. 

Section 3. Subsection (6) is added to section 212.0305, 

Florida Statutes, to read: 

212.0305 Convention development taxes; intent; 

administration; authorization; use of proceeds.-

(6) Beginning July 1, 2020, revenues collected pursuant to 

this section may not be used to acquire, construct, extend, 

enlarge, remodel, repair, improve, maintain, operate, finance, 

refinance, make debt service payments for, or be used as 

collateral, pledge, or capital contribution for any project or 

business arrangement involving a facility that is or will be 

used by a sports franchise as defined ins. 288.11633. Nothing 

in this subsection impairs or affects the obligations or terms 

of any lawful contract entered into before July 1, 2020. 

Section 4. Section 212.205, Florida Statutes, is amended 

to read: 

212.205 Sales tax distribution reporting.-By March 15 of 

each year, each person who received a distribution pursuant to 

s. 212.20(6) (d)6.b.-e. o. 212.20(6) (d)6.b. f. in the preceding 

calendar year shall report to the Office of Economic and 

Demographic Research the following information: 

Page 8 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

201 

202 

203 

204 

205 

206 

207 

208 

209 

210 

211 

212 

213 

214 

215 

216 

21 7 

218 

219 

220 

221 

222 

223 

224 

225 

HB 1369 

(1) An itemized accounting of all expenditures of the 

funds distributed in the preceding calendar year, including 

amounts spent on debt service. 

2020 

(2) A statement indicating what portion of the distributed 

funds have been pledged for debt service. 

(3) The original principal amount and current debt service 

schedule of any bonds or other borrowing for which the 

distributed funds have been pledged for debt service. 

Section 5. Paragraph (d) of subsection (6) of section 

212.20, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 

212.20 Funds collected, disposition; additional powers of 

department; operational expense; refund of taxes adjudicated 

unconstitutionally collected.-

(6) Distribution of all proceeds under this chapter and 

ss. 202.18(1) (b) and (2) (b) and 203.01(1) (a)3. is as follows: 

(d) The proceeds of all other taxes and fees imposed 

pursuant to this chapter or remitted pursuant to s. 202.18(1) (b) 

and ( 2) (b) shall be distributed as follows: 

1. In any fiscal year, the greater of $500 million, minus 

an amount equal to 4.6 percent of the proceeds of the taxes 

collected pursuant to chapter 201, or 5.2 percent of all other 

taxes and fees imposed pursuant to this chapter or remitted 

pursuant to s. 202.18 (1) (b) and (2) (b) shall be deposited in 

monthly installments into the General Revenue Fund. 

2. After the distribution under subparagraph 1., 8.9744 

Page 9 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

226 

227 

228 

229 

230 

231 

232 

233 

234 

235 

236 

237 

238 

239 

240 

241 

242 

243 

244 

245 

246 

247 

248 

249 

250 

HS 1369 2020 

percent of the amount remitted by a sales tax dealer located 

within a participating county pursuant to s. 218.61 shall be 

transferred into the Local Government Half-cent Sales Tax 

Clearing Trust Fund. Beginning July 1, 2003, the amount to be 

transferred shall be reduced by 0.1 percent, and the department 

shall distribute this amount to the Public Employees Relations 

Commission Trust Fund less $5,000 each month, which shall be 

added to the amount calculated in subparagraph 3. and 

distributed accordingly. 

3. After the distribution under subparagraphs 1. and 2., 

0.0966 percent shall be transferred to the Local Government 

Half-cent Sales Tax Clearing Trust Fund and distributed pursuant 

to s. 218.65. 

4. After the distributions under subparagraphs 1., 2., and 

3., 2.0810 percent of the available proceeds shall be 

transferred monthly to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for 

Counties pursuant to s. 218.215. 

5. After the distributions under subparagraphs 1., 2., and 

3., 1.3653 percent of the available proceeds shall be 

transferred monthly to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for 

Municipalities pursuant to s. 218.215. If the total revenue to 

be distributed pursuant to this subparagraph is at least as 

great as the amount due from the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for 

Municipalities and the former Municipal Financial Assistance 

Trust Fund in state fiscal year 1999-2000, no municipality shall 

Page 10 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

251 

252 

253 

254 

255 

256 

257 

258 

259 

260 

2 61 

2 62 

2 63 

2 64 

265 

266 

2 67 

2 68 

2 69 

270 

271 

272 

273 

274 

275 

HB 1369 2020 

receive less than the amount due from the Revenue Sharing Trust 

Fund for Municipalities and the former Municipal Financial 

Assistance Trust Fund in state fiscal year 1999-2000. If the 

total proceeds to be distributed are less than the amount 

received in combination from the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for 

Municipalities and the former Municipal Financial Assistance 

Trust Fund in state fiscal year 1999-2000, each municipality 

shall receive an amount proportionate to the amount it was due 

in state fiscal year 1999-2000. 

6. Of the remaining proceeds: 

a. In each fiscal year, the sum of $29,915,500 shall be 

divided into as many equal parts as there are counties in the 

state, and one part shall be distributed to each county. The 

distribution among the several counties must begin each fiscal 

year on or before January 5th and continue monthly for a total 

of 4 months. If a local or special law required that any moneys 

accruing to a county in fiscal year 1999-2000 under the then

existing provisions of s. 550.135 be paid directly to the 

district school board, special district, or a municipal 

government, such payment must continue until the local or 

special law is amended or repealed. The state covenants with 

holders of bonds or other instruments of indebtedness issued by 

local governments, special districts, or district school boards 

before July 1, 2000, that it is not the intent of this 

subparagraph to adversely affect the rights of those holders or 

Page 11 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

276 

277 

278 

279 

280 

281 

282 

283 

284 

285 

286 

287 

288 

289 

290 

2 91 

292 

293 

294 

295 

296 

2 97 

298 

299 

300 

HB 1369 2020 

relieve local governments, special districts, or district school 

boards of the duty to meet their obligations as a result of 

previous pledges or assignments or trusts entered into which 

obligated funds received from the distribution to county 

governments under then-existing s. 550.135. This distribution 

specifically is in lieu of funds distributed under s. 550.135 

before July 1, 2000. 

b. The department shall distribute $166,667 monthly to 

each applicant certified before July 1, 2020, as a facility for 

a new or retained professional sports franchise pursuant to s. 

288.1162, Florida Statutes 2019. Up to $41,667 shall be 

distributed monthly by the department to each applicant that was 

certified before July 1, 2020, as a certified applicant as 

defined ins. 288.11621, Florida Statutes 2019 for a facility 

for a spring training franchise. However, not more than $416,670 

may be distributed monthly in the aggregate to all certified 

applicants for facilities for spring training franchises. 

Distributions begin 60 days after such certification and 

continue for not more than 30 years, except as otherwise 

provided ins. 288.11621, Florida Statutes 2019. A certified 

applicant identified in this sub-subparagraph may not receive 

more in distributions than expended by the applicant for the 

public purposes provided ins. 288.1162(5) ors. 288.11621(3)L 

Florida Statutes 2019. 

c. Beginning 30 days after notice by the Department of 

Page 12 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1369 2020 

301 Economic Opportunity to the Department of Revenue that an 

302 applicant has been certified as the professional golf hall of 

303 fame pursuant to s. 288.1168 and is open to the public, $166,667 

304 shall be distributed monthly, for up to 300 months, to the 

305 applicant. 

306 

307 

308 

309 

310 

311 

312 

313 

314 

315 

316 

317 

318 

319 

320 

321 

322 

323 

324 

325 

d. Beginning 30 days after notice by the Department of 

Economic Opportunity to the Department of Revenue that the 

applicant has been certified as the International Game Fish 

Association World Center facility pursuant to s. 288.1169, and 

the facility is open to the public, $83,333 shall be distributed 

monthly, for up to 168 months, to the applicant. This 

distribution is subject to reduction pursuant to s. 288.1169. A 

lump sum payment of $999,996 shall be made after certification 

and before July 1, 2000. 

e. The department shall distribute up to $83,333 monthly 

to each applicant that was certified before July 1, 2020, as a 

certified applicant as defined ins. 288.11631, Florida Statutes 

2019 for a facility used by a single spring training franchise, 

or up to $166,667 monthly to each applicant that was certified 

before July 1, 2020, as a certified applicant as defined ins. 

288.11631, Florida Statutes 2019 for a facility used by more 

than one spring training franchise. Monthly distributions begin 

60 days after such certification or July 1, 2016, whichever is 

later, and continue for not more than 20 years to each applicant 

that was certified before July 1, 2020, as a certified applicant 

Page 13 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

326 

327 

328 

329 

330 

331 

332 

333 

334 

335 

336 

337 

338 

339 

340 

341 

342 

343 

344 

345 

346 

347 

348 

349 

350 

HB 1369 2020 

as defined ins. 288.11631, Florida Statutes 2019 for a facility 

used by a single spring training franchise or not more than 25 

years to each applicant that was certified before July 1, 2020, 

as a certified applicant as defined ins. 288.11631, Florida 

Statutes 2019 for a facility used by more than one spring 

training franchise. A certified applicant identified in this 

sub-subparagraph may not receive more in distributions than 

expended by the applicant for the public purposes provided ins. 

288.11631(3), Florida Statutes 2019. 

f. Beginning 45 days after notice by the Department of 

Economic Opportunity to the Department of Revenue that an 

applicant has been approved by the Legislature and certified by 

the Department of Econoffiic Opportunity under o. 288.11625 or 

upon a date specified by the Departffient of Economic Opportunity 

as provided under o. 288 .11625 ( 6) (d), the department shall 

distribute each month an amount equal to one twelfth of the 

annual distribution amount certified by the Department of 

Econoffiic Opportunity for the applicant. The department may not 

distribute more than $7 million in the 2014 2015 fiscal year or 

more than $13 million annually thereafter under this sub 

subparagraph. 

!_:_g. Beginning December 1, 2015, and ending June 30, 2016, 

the department shall distribute $26,286 monthly to the State 

Transportation Trust Fund. Beginning July 1, 2016, the 

department shall distribute $15,333 monthly to the State 

Page 14 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

351 

352 

353 

354 

355 

356 

357 

358 

359 

360 

361 

362 

363 

364 

365 

366 

3 67 

3 68 

369 

370 

371 

372 

373 

374 

375 

HB 1369 

Transportation Trust Fund. 

7. All other proceeds must remain in the General Revenue 

Fund. 

Section 6. Subsections (2) and (3) of section 218.64, 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 

218.64 Local government half-cent sales tax; uses; 

limitations.-

2020 

(2) Municipalities shall expend their portions of the 

local government half-cent sales tax only for municipality-wide 

programs, for reimbursing the state as required pursuant too. 

288.11625, or for municipality-wide property tax or municipal 

utility tax relief. All utility tax rate reductions afforded by 

participation in the local government half-cent sales tax shall 

be applied uniformly across all types of taxed utility services. 

(3) Subject to ordinances enacted by the majority of the 

members of the county governing authority and by the majority of 

the members of the governing authorities of municipalities 

representing at least 50 percent of the municipal population of 

such county, counties may use up to $3 million annually of the 

local government half-cent sales tax allocated to that county if 

the money provides funds for any of the following purposes: 

(a) Funding an a certified applicant that was certified 

before July 1, 2020, as a facility for a new or retained 

professional sports franchise under s. 288.1162, Florida 

Statutes 2019 or an applicant that was certified before July 1, 

Page 15 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

376 

377 

378 

379 

380 

381 

382 

383 

384 

385 

386 

387 

388 

389 

390 

391 

392 

393 

394 

395 

396 

397 

398 

399 

400 

HB 1369 2020 

2020, as a certified applicant as defined ins. 288.11621L 

Florida Statutes 2019 for a facility for a spring training 

franchise. It is the Legislature's intent that the provisions of 

s. 288.1162, Florida Statutes 2019, including, but not limited 

to, the evaluation process by the Department of Economic 

Opportunity except for the limitation on the number of certified 

applicants or facilities as provided in that section and the 

restrictions set forth ins. 288.1162(8), Florida Statutes 2019, 

shall apply to an application that was submitted for a facility 

before July 1, 2020, applicant's facility to be funded by local 

government as provided in this subsection. 

(b) Funding a certified applicant as a "ffiotorsport 

entertainment coffipleJ{," as provided for in s. 288 .1171. Funding 

for each franchise or ffiotorsport coffipleJ{ shall begin 60 days 

after certification and shall continue for not ffiore than 30 

years. 

(c) Reifftburoing the state as required under o. 288.11625. 

Section 7. Paragraphs (b) and (e) of subsection (2) of 

section 288.0001, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 

288.0001 Economic Development Programs Evaluation.-The 

Office of Economic and Demographic Research and the Office of 

Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability (OPPAGA) 

shall develop and present to the Governor, the President of the 

Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the 

chairs of the legislative appropriations committees the Economic 

Page 16 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1369 2020 

401 Development Programs Evaluation. 

402 (2) The Office of Economic and Demographic Research and 

403 OPPAGA shall provide a detailed analysis of economic development 

404 programs as provided in the following schedule: 

405 (b) By January 1, 2015, and every 3 years thereafter, an 

406 analysis of the following: 

407 1. The entertainment industry financial incentive program 

408 established under s. 288.1254. 

409 2. The entertainment industry sales tax exemption program 

410 established under s. 288.1258. 

411 3. VISIT Florida and its programs established or funded 

412 under ss. 288.122, 288.1226, 288.12265, and 288.124. 

413 4. The Florida Sports Foundation and related programs 

414 established under ss. 288 .1162, 288 .11621, 288 .1166, 288 .1167, 

415 288.1168, 288.1169, and under former ss. 288.1162 and 288.11621 

4 16 and 2 8 8 . 1171 . 

417 (e) Beginning January 1, 2018, and every 3 years 

418 thereafter, an analysis of the Sports Development Program 

419 established under s. 288.11625. 

420 Section 8. Sections 288 .1162, 288 .11621, 288 .11625, 

421 288.11631, and 288.1171, Florida Statutes, are repealed. 

422 

423 

Section 9. Section 288.11633, Florida Statutes, is created 

to read: 

424 288.11633 Sports franchise facilities; lease or sale of 

425 public land.-

Page 17 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



F L O R D A H O U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

426 

427 

428 

429 

430 

431 

432 

433 

434 

435 

436 

437 

438 

439 

440 

441 

442 

443 

444 

445 

446 

447 

448 

449 

450 

HB 1369 2020 

(1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law: 

(a) A sports franchise may not construct, reconstruct, 

renovate, or improve a facility on land leased from the state or 

a political subdivision thereof. 

(b) A lease of a facility on public land owned by the 

state or a political subdivision to a sports franchise must be 

at fair market value. 

(c) A sale of public land owned by the state or a 

political subdivision for a sports franchise to construct, 

reconstruct, renovate, or improve a facility on such land must 

be at fair market value. 

(d) A facility that is owned, operated, or leased by a 

sports franchise does not serve a tax-exempt purpose and is not 

exempt from taxation. 

(2) On or after July 1, 2020, a contract or agreement, or 

a renewal of or an amendment to an existing contract or 

agreement, entered into between the state or a political 

subdivision and a sports franchise to fund the construction, 

reconstruction, renovation, or improvement of a facility must 

include a provision that requires the sports franchise to pay 

any outstanding debt incurred by the state or political 

subdivision to fund such construction, reconstruction, 

renovation, or improvement if the sports franchise permanently 

discontinues use of the facility. 

(3) For purposes of this section, the term: 

Page 18 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

451 

452 

453 

454 

455 

456 

457 

458 

459 

460 

461 

4 62 

463 

4 64 

465 

466 

4 67 

468 

469 

470 

471 

472 

473 

474 

475 

HB 1369 2020 

(a) "Facility" means a stadium, arena, or other structure 

used by a sports franchise to host games or events, or any 

directly related property or structure, including practice 

facilities, offices, restaurants, concessions, retail or lodging 

facilities, onsite and offsite parking lots, garages, and other 

properties. 

(b) "Fair market value" means a negotiated price of at 

least the average of the values contained in two independent 

appraisals, performed by appraisers approved pursuant to s. 

253.025(8). 

(c) "Sports franchise" means a person or persons, sole 

proprietorship, corporation, limited liability company, 

partnership, or association that has been granted the 

contractual right to own or operate a professional sports team, 

or host a professional sporting event, in a specified location. 

(4) Nothing in this section impairs any lawful contract 

entered into before July 1, 2020, without the consent of the 

parties. 

Section 10. All applications for certification pending 

pursuant to s. 288 .1162, s. 288 .11621, s. 288 .11625, s. 

288.11631, or 288.1171, Florida Statutes, on July 1, 2020, are 

rescinded. Applicants or projects that were certified before 

July 1, 2020, and that continue to meet the criteria in effect 

before July 1, 2020, remain in full force and effect. In 

addition, any existing contracts or agreements authorized under 

Page 19 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

476 

477 

478 

479 

480 

481 

482 

483 

HB 1369 2020 

any of these programs continue in full force and effect in 

accordance with the statutory requirements in effect when the 

contract or agreement was executed or last modified. However, no 

further modifications, extensions, or waivers may be made or 

granted relating to such contracts or agreements except 

computations by the Department of Revenue of the income 

generated by or arising out of any qualifying project. 

Section 11. This act shall take effect July 1, 2020. 

Page 20 of 20 

CODING: Words strioken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1369-00 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES LOCAL BILL STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 1463 Dunnellon Airport Authority, Marion County 
SPONSOR(S): Stone 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION 

1) Local Administration Subcommittee 9Y, 0 N 

2) Ways & Means Committee 

3) State Affairs Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST 

Moehrle 

Aldridge 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Miller 

Langston 

The Dunnellon Airport Authority (Authority) was created in 1981. The Authority is a dependent special district, 
governed by the Marion County Board of County Commissioners (BOCC). The Authority overseas the Marion 
County Airport, a 792-acre airport, which features two active lighted runways and is not controlled. Revenues 
are generated primarily through fuel sales, the rental of county-owned real property, and grants received from 
the Florida Department of Transportation (DOT). The BOCC is authorized to levy an ad valorem tax for the 
purpose of contributing funds to the Authority, though no levy has been approved as of January 2020. 

The bill repeals ch. 81-436, Laws of Fla., abolishes the Authority, and transfers all assets and liabilities to 
Marion County. 

According to the Economic Impact Statement filed for the bill, the Marion County Board of County 
Commissioners would become responsible for the Authority's expenses and liabilities. There are no financial 
impacts associated with abolishing the Authority. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h1463b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Current Situation 

Special Districts 

A "special district" is a unit of local government created for a particular purpose, with jurisdiction to 
operate within a limited geographic boundary. 1 Special districts are created by general law,2 special 
act,3 local ordinance,4 or by rule of the Governor and Cabinet.5 A special district has only those powers 
expressly provided by, or reasonably implied from, the authority provided in the district's charter. 
Special districts provide specific municipal services in addition to, or in place of, those provided by a 
municipality or county.6 

A "dependent special district" is a special district where the membership of the governing body is 
identical to the governing body of a single county or municipality, all members of the governing body 
are appointed by the governing body of a single county or municipality, members of the district's 
governing body are removable at will by the governing body of a single county or municipality, or the 
district's budget is subject to the approval of the governing body of a single county or municipality.7 

An "independent special district" is a special district that is not a dependent special district.8 

Additionally, a district that includes more than one county is an independent special district, unless that 
district lies wholly within a single municipality's boundaries.9 

Special districts do not possess "home rule" powers and may impose only those taxes, assessments, 
or fees authorized by special or general law. The special act creating an independent special district 
may provide for funding from a variety of sources while prohibiting others. For example, ad valorem tax 
authority is not mandatory for a special district.10 

Dunnellon Airport Authority 

The Dunnellon Airport Authority (Authority) was created in 1981.11 The Authority is a dependent special 
district with the Marion County Board of County Commissioners (BOCC) serving as its board.12 The 
Authority's purpose is to acquire, construct, improve, finance, operate, and maintain airport facilities in 
Marion County. 13 The Authority operates the Marion County Airport, a 792-acre airport with 2 active 
lighted runaways. 14 The Authority has the power to: 

1 S. 189.012(6), F.S. 
2 S. 189.031(3), F.S. 
3 Jd. 
4 S. 189.02(1), F.S. 
5 S. 190.005(1), F.S. See, generally, s. 189.012(6), F.S. 
6 2018-2020 Local Government Formation Manual, p. 60, 
https://myfloridahouse.gov/Sections/Committees/committeesdetail.aspx?Committeeld=3025 (last visited Jan. 24, 2020). 
7 S. 189.012(2), F.S. 
8 S. 189.012(3), F.S. 
9 Jd. 
10 Art. VII, s. 9(a), Fla. Const. 
11 Ch. 81-436, Laws of Fla. 
12 Id. 
13 Marion County, Dunnellon Airport Authority, marioncountyfl.org/departments-a-n/airport/Dunnellon-airport-authority (last visited 
Jan. 24, 2020). 
14 Marion County, Marion County Airport, marioncountyfl.org/departments-agencies/departments-a-n/airport (last visited Jan. 24, 
2020). 
STORAGE NAME: h1463b.WMC PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



• Adopt bylaws for the regulation of its affairs and to conduct its business; 
• Adopt an official seal and alter the same; 
• Maintain an office at such place as it may designate; 
• Sue and be sued in its own name, plead and be impleaded; 
• Acquire, lease as lessee or lessor, construct, reconstruct, improve, extend, equip, repair, 

maintain and operate any airport facilities; 
• Lease, sell or dispose of any land or other airport facilities which it has determined are no longer 

used or useful for airport purposes, subject to any limitations by any bonds issued by the 
Authority; 

• Issue bonds to pay the cost of acquisition, construction, reconstruction, improvement, 
extension, enlargement or equipment; 

• Issue refunding bonds; 
• Combine any airport facilities for the purpose of operation and financing; 
• Collect rates, fees and other charges for the use of or for the services furnished by any airport 

facilities; 
• Exercise the right of eminent domain in accordance with Florida law; 
• Make and enter into contracts and agreements necessary to the performance of its duties and 

powers provided under this act; 
• Accept grants of money, materials, or property for airport facilities from federal and state 

agencies; 
• Make purchase money mortgages on any additional property purchased by the Authority; 
• Borrow money and procure lines of credit; 
• Exercise all powers and prerogatives conferred upon political subdivisions 15 of the state; 
• Construct, maintain, operate, lease, and regulate motor vehicle parking facilities for the agents, 

employees, guests and business invitees of the Authority; 
• Adopt a budget prior to September 30 of each year for the ensuing fiscal year; and 
• Employ an airport manager to manage the airport. 16 

The BOCC may levy an annual ad valorem tax on all taxable property within Marion County for the 
purpose of contributing funds to the Authority.17 As of 2020, the BOCC has not levied a tax for this 
purpose and revenue for airport operations is generated primarily through fuel sales, the rental of 
county-owned property, and grants from the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT).18 In fiscal 
year 2018, the Authority's budget expenditures were $826,530, with revenues of $1,163,783. 19 

Revenues and expenditures related to the operation of the airport are accounted for in the Dunnellon 
Airport Fund, a special revenue fund. 20 

The Authority is considered an agency subject to the Administrative Procedures Act (APA).21 

Statutory Provisions Pertaining to Dissolving Dependent Special Districts 

A dependent special district may be merged or dissolved by an ordinance of the local governmental 
entity where the special district is located.22 A county may not dissolve a special district that is 

15 Ch. 333, F.S. 
16 Ch. 81-436, Laws of Fla. 
11 Id. 
18 Dunnellon Airport Authority, supra note 13; Marion County Florida, Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (Sept 30, 2018), 
https://frontrunner-mccc.s3.amazonaws.com/f27d2e8d-5096-907d-8d6e-42e5ce245096.pdf (last visited Jan. 24, 2020). 
19 Marion County Board of County Commissioners, Fiscal Year 2020 Adopted Budget, available at 
sire.marioncountyfl.org/sirepub/mtgviewer.aspx?meetid=2579&doctype=Agenda (last visited Jan. 24, 2020). FY 2018 revenues 
included $37,399 in administrative transfers and $372,285 in balances forward. 
20 Id. 
21 Ch. 81-436, Laws ofFla; see Ch. 120, F.S. 
22 S. 189.071(1), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1463b.WMC PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/30/2020 



dependent to a municipality or vice versa.23 If an active dependent special district was created and 
operating pursuant to a special act, it may only be dissolved or merged by further act of the Legislature, 
unless general law provides otherwise.24 

Since the Authority was created by special act it may only be abolished by the Legislature. 

Effect of the Bill 

The bill repeals ch. 81-436, Laws of Fla., abolishes the Dunnellon Airport Authority, and transfers all 
assets and liabilities of the Authority to the Marion County BOCC. According to the Economic Impact 
Statement filed, the bill has no financial impacts. The BOCC will no longer be required to conduct 
duplicative meetings regarding business of the airport. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Repeals ch. 81-436, Laws of Fla., relating to the Dunnellon Airport Authority. 

Section 2: Provides that the Dunnellon Airport Authority is abolished and all assets and liabilities of 
the Authority are transferred to the Board of County Commissioners of Marion County. 

Section 3: Provides an effective date of upon becoming a law. 

II. NOTICE/REFERENDUM AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS 

A NOTICE PUBLISHED? Yes [X] No 0 

December 17, 2019. IF YES, WHEN? 

WHERE? The Star-Banner, a daily newspaper of general circulation in Marion County, 
Florida. 

B. REFERENDUM(S) REQUIRED? Yes O No [X] 

IF YES, WHEN? 

C. LOCAL BILL CERTIFICATION FILED? Yes [X] No 0 

D. ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT FILED? Yes [X] No[] 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The bill neither authorizes nor requires administrative rulemaking by executive branch agencies. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

23 Id. 
24 S. 189.071(2), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1463b.WMC 
DATE: 1/30/2020 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

PAGE: 4 



FLORIDA H O U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 1463 2020 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to the Dunnellon Airport Authority, 

3 Marion County; repealing chapter 81-436, Laws of 

4 Florida; abolishing the authority; transferring all 

5 assets and liabilities of the authority to the Board 

6 of County Cormnissioners of Marion County; providing an 

7 effective date. 

8 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

Section 1. Chapter 81-436, Laws of Florida, is repealed. 

Section 2. The Dunnellon Airport Authority is abolished. 

All assets and liabilities of the authority are transferred to 

the Board of County Cormnissioners of Marion County. 

Section 3. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 

Page 1 of 1 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1463-00 


